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PART I
 
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Company Overview

References to “Dave & Buster’s,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K (the “Report”) are references to Dave &
Buster’s, Inc. and its subsidiaries and predecessor companies. All dollar amounts in this Report are presented in thousands with the exception of item prices
and compensation information included in Item 11. We are a leading owner and operator of high-volume entertainment and dining venues in North America
based on average store volume. We define high volume as those entertainment and dining venues with average store volume in excess of $5,000. In 1982, we
branded a concept that we believe combines the best attributes of the out-of-home entertainment and dining industries, allowing guests to enjoy a variety of
entertainment, food and beverage options under one roof. Each of our locations offers interactive entertainment, including skill/sports-oriented redemption
games and technologically advanced video and simulation games, combined with a full menu of high-quality food and beverages. We appeal to a diverse
customer base by providing a customizable entertainment experience in a dynamic and fun setting. While our guests are primarily a balanced mix of men and
women aged 21 to 44, we are also an attractive venue for families with children and teenagers.

As of January 31, 2010, we owned and operated 55 stores in 23 states and Canada. In addition, there is one franchised store operating in Canada. Our
stores are open seven days a week, typically from 11:30 a.m. to midnight on weekdays and 11:30 a.m. to 2:00 a.m. on weekends. Our stores average
approximately 49,000 square feet in size and range between 16,000 and 66,000 square feet.

Our History
In 1982, David “Dave” Corriveau and James “Buster” Corley founded Dave & Buster’s under the belief that there was consumer demand for a

combined experience of entertainment, food and drinks. We opened our first two stores in Dallas, Texas in 1982 and 1988. Since 1989, we expanded our
portfolio nationally from the two stores in Dallas, Texas to 55 stores across 23 states and Canada, and one franchised store in Canada. From 1997 to early
2006, we operated as a public company under the leadership of Dave and Buster. In March 2006, Dave & Buster’s was acquired by Dave & Buster’s Holdings,
Inc. (“D&B Holdings”), formerly known as WS Midway Holdings, a newly-formed holding company controlled 82 percent by affiliates of Wellspring Capital
Management LLC (“Wellspring”) and 18 percent by affiliates of HBK Investments L.P. (“HBK”).

Eat Drink Play
When our founders opened our first location in Dallas in 1982, they sought to create a unique venue providing interactive entertainment options for

adults and families, while serving high-quality food and beverage offerings. Since our establishment, we have followed the same principle for each store and
in doing so branded a concept around a customer proposition that can be summed up in three simple words: Eat Drink Play . The combination of
entertainment and dining is the central focus of our stores and the layout of each store is designed to maximize crossover between our entertainment, dining
and full-service bar areas. A large majority of our customers come to Dave & Buster’s to enjoy a combination of our food, beverage, and entertainment
offerings. The flexibility provided by our multiple offerings allows each guest the opportunity to self-tailor his or her visit to provide a highly customizable
experience, which we believe further differentiates our brand.

In addition, each store has multiple special event areas that are used for hosting private parties, business functions and other corporate sponsored
events. Our stores are supported by a Special Events Call Center, located at our Corporate Office, targeted print and online media plans, as well as
promotional incentives at appropriate times across the year. We believe our special event offerings provide a highly attractive alternative to traditional
restaurants and hotels, which generally do not offer combined entertainment and dining.

Eat Drink
Our menu places special emphasis on quality meals, including gourmet pastas, steaks, sandwiches, salads, and an outstanding selection of desserts,

with regular entrée prices typically ranging from $7.59 to $19.99. Each of our locations offers full bar service throughout the store, including an extensive
array of beers and a wide selection of wine, signature cocktails, premium spirits and non-alcoholic beverages. We believe that each location’s combination of
high-quality food and beverages with attentive and friendly service provides us with a competitive advantage compared to alternative entertainment venues.
Approximately 52 percent of total revenues were derived from food and beverage sales during fiscal 2009.
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Play
Our stores offer an extensive array of amusements and entertainment options, typically including over 150 games with approximately 250 player

positions. Amusement and other revenues accounted for approximately 48 percent of our total revenues during fiscal 2009.

Redemption Games. Redemption games represented 73 percent of our amusement revenues in fiscal 2009 and offer an opportunity for guests to win
tickets that are redeemable for prizes ranging from branded novelty items to high-end home electronics at our “Winner’s Circle.” This “opportunity to win”
creates a social experience that is an important aspect of the Dave & Buster’s in-store experience and cannot be replicated at home. These games are core to
our concept and classic in nature, and therefore do not require frequent replacement.

Video and Simulation Games. Video and simulation games represented approximately 22 percent of our amusement revenues in fiscal 2009. Our video
and simulation games can be played by one guest or by multiple guests simultaneously. These games include interactive electronic battlefield games, fantasy
games, motion simulation racing games, large screen interactive electronic games and golf simulators. We seek to maintain the most up-to-date and
technologically advanced games.

Traditional Games and Entertainment. Traditional games and entertainment represented approximately 5 percent of our amusement revenues in fiscal
2009. Our traditional amusements include billiards, bowling, and shuffleboard tables, as well as multiple televisions and high quality audio systems
providing guests with an attractive venue for watching live sports and other televised events.

Power Cards
Our games are typically activated with swipe cards, which we refer to as Power Cards . Power Cards are rechargeable with game play credits, which we

refer to as chips, and can be used to accumulate tickets won in redemption games. Power Cards enable our guests to activate games more easily and
encourages extended play and return visits by guests who have remaining credits and tickets at the end of their visit. By replacing coin-activation, Power
Cards eliminate the technical difficulties and maintenance issues associated with coin-activated equipment.

Our Power Card “buy-ins” historically ranged in value from $1 to $25. We have successfully introduced higher Power Card “buy-ins” and multiple
Power Card bundles which provide even greater value to guests in terms of chips per dollar.

The Power Card, combined with our focus on leveraging our entertainment offerings, has led to additional promotions including the Eat & Play
Combo, Super Charge up-sell and Half-Price Game Play on Wednesdays.
 

 •  The Eat & Play Combo helps drive non-peak traffic by offering customers an attractive value proposition.
 

 •  The Eat & Play Combo currently provides guests a choice of one of eight entrees and a $10 Power Card for $15.99 in most markets. These entrée
selections are regularly priced from $8.89 to $13.99, and the Eat & Play Combo therefore represents an attractive value to our customers.

 

 •  Additionally, guests may opt for an entrée and a $20 Power Card for $23.99.
 

 •  A selection of one of seven “premium” entrees and a $10 Power Card is also available for $19.99 and may be upgraded to a $20 Power Card for
$27.99 in most markets. These premium entrée selections are regularly priced from $14.19 to $19.99.

 

 
•  The Super Charge up-sell increases the number of chips on a Power Card by 25 percent, for customers who pay an additional $2 on a $10 Power Card,

an additional $3 on a $20 or $25 Power Card, an additional $4 on a $35 Power Card, or an additional $5 on a $50 Power Card. This option encourages
guests to purchase cards with higher initial values, which also helps extend the duration of their visit.

 

 
•  Our Half-Price Game Play Wednesday allows our guests to play virtually all of our games at one-half the normal price during our Wednesday operating

hours. The option encourages guests to increase the frequency and duration of visits on a day of the week that we traditionally experience lower sales
levels. We utilize this offering during targeted portions of the year as a strategy to increase guest visits.

Our Strategy
In the highly competitive restaurant and entertainment industries, we believe the ability of our guests to experience the best combination of

entertainment and dining in a fun and high-energy atmosphere differentiates the Dave & Buster’s experience. Unlike the strategy employed by many
restaurants of shortening visit times by focusing on turning tables faster, we aim to increase the length of stay in our locations to drive high-margin
incremental revenues. Specific elements of our strategy include:
 

 

•  Continue to drive top-line growth. We continue to implement a variety of initiatives to increase our comparable store sales. Following the successful
introduction of our Eat & Play Combo, we remain focused on product innovation and continue to evaluate opportunities to: (1) introduce new bundled
products and (2) to encourage higher Power Card buy-ins. We believe that continued enhancements to our media campaign will resonate strongly with
guests and help to drive incremental and new guest traffic. Additionally, we will continue to evaluate selective opportunities to increase pricing.
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We are also focused on growing our store base, as we believe the Dave & Buster’s brand has the potential for more than 150 additional stores in the
United States and Canada. We believe that our refined large format design of 35,000 square feet and our new smaller format designs will allow us to
effectively backfill existing markets as well as enter new markets. We will continue to analyze demographic and psychographic data to build a pipeline
of suitable new sites. We plan to open three new stores in fiscal 2010.

 

 
•  Continue to differentiate our strong brand. We believe that focusing on two key factors will allow us to further differentiate the Dave & Buster’s

brand from other food and entertainment alternatives: our wide array of amusement and entertainment options and the overall quality of the Dave &
Buster’s experience.

 

 

•  Entertainment: Entertainment options are the core differentiating feature of the Dave & Buster’s brand, and staying current with the latest and most
innovative offerings helps drive repeat visits. To keep our entertainment options on-trend, in fiscal 2010 we expect to spend approximately $145
annually in each of our stores on game replenishment, which we believe serves to drive comparable store sales growth. This ensures our locations
have the most sophisticated entertainment options available and decreases the need for routine large-scale re-imaging campaigns.

 

 

•  Quality of experience: We remain committed to improving Dave & Buster’s products and facilities. We will continue to implement initiatives with
respect to better quality food, more attentive service, better functioning entertainment options and cleaner facilities to improve guest satisfaction.
We believe that continued focus on improving the guest experience will help to drive incremental guest traffic, extend length of a guest’s stay and
result in incremental revenue.

 

 

•  Expand margins by continuing cost reduction initiatives and leveraging our scale. We believe that we have additional opportunities to reduce costs
and increase margins beyond our accomplishments in these areas to date. We believe that improved scheduling technology will allow us to increase
labor productivity. We believe that continued focus on operating margins at individual locations and the deployment of best practices across our brand
will yield additional margin improvements. Additionally, we will continue to leverage our existing infrastructure and fixed cost base as we grow our
revenues.

Site Selection
We believe that the location of stores is critical to our long-term success. We devote significant time and resources to strategically analyze each

prospective market, trade area and site. We continually identify, evaluate and update our database of potential locations for expansion. To refine our site
selection, we recently conducted extensive demographic and market analyses to determine the key drivers of successful new store performance. We now base
new site selection on an analytical evaluation of a set of drivers we believe increase the probability of successful, high-volume stores.

During 2009, we opened three new stores in Richmond, Virginia; Indianapolis, Indiana; and Columbus, Ohio. In 2008, we opened three new stores in
Plymouth Meeting, Pennsylvania; Arlington, Texas; and Tulsa, Oklahoma. In 2007 we opened one store in Tempe, Arizona.

At the end of fiscal 2009 we had two stores under construction. One of the stores under construction (Roseville, California) is being built in our small
format design; the store in Wauwatosa (Milwaukee), Wisconsin opened as a large format design on March 1, 2010.

Our Store Formats
We have historically operated stores varying in size from 29,000 to 66,000 square feet. After significant store-level research and analysis we have

found that incremental square footage in excess of 35,000 yields limited incremental sales volumes and lower margins. We have also experienced significant
variability among stores in volumes, individual store-level EBITDA and net investment costs. Further, we have conducted sales per square foot analyses on
individual games and improved the mix of the more profitable attractions within the stores. In order to optimize sales per square foot and further enhance our
store economics, we have reduced the target size of our future large format stores to 35,000 square feet. We may take advantage of local market and economic
conditions to open stores that are larger or smaller than this target size. To accomplish this, we have reduced the back of house space, and optimized the sales
area allocated to billiards and other traditional games in favor of space dedicated to more profitable video and redemption games. As a result, we expect to
generate significantly higher sales per square foot than the average of our current store base.
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To facilitate further growth of our brand, we have developed a small store format specifically designed to backfill existing markets and penetrate less
densely populated markets. We opened our initial store using a small store format in Tulsa, Oklahoma, in January 2009. We also opened small store formats
in Richmond, Virginia and Columbus, Ohio in April 2009 and October 2009, respectively. We believe that the small store format will maintain the unique
and dynamic guest experience that is the foundation of our brand and allow us flexibility in our site selection process. Moreover, we expect the format to
yield higher margins than our current stores by optimizing the ratio of “selling space” to back of the house square footage and improving fixed cost leverage.
Finally, we believe that the small store format will allow us to take less capital investment risk per store. As a result, we are targeting these smaller format
stores to achieve higher returns, more efficient sales per square foot and reduce pre-opening costs relative to our larger formats, and to enable us to expand
into additional markets.

Our stores generally are located on land leased by our subsidiaries. Our lease terms, including renewal options, range from 20 to 40 years. Our leases
typically provide for a minimum annual rent and contingent rent to be determined as a percentage of the applicable store’s annual gross revenues, subject to
market-based minimum annual rents. We currently pay contingent rent in only a small number of our stores. Generally, leases are “net leases” that requires us
to pay our pro rata share of taxes, insurance and maintenance costs. Typically, one of our subsidiaries is a party to the lease, and performance is guaranteed by
the Company for all or for a portion of the lease term.

In addition to our leased stores, we lease a 47,000 square foot office building and 30,000 square foot warehouse facility in Dallas, Texas, for use as our
corporate headquarters and distribution center. This lease expires in October 2021, with options to renew until October 2041. We also lease a 22,900 square
foot warehouse facility in Dallas, Texas, for use as additional warehouse space. This lease expires in January 2011.

Marketing, Advertising and Promotion
Our corporate marketing department manages brand advertising, media and promotional programs. In addition, the department is responsible for food

and beverage research and development, customer insights, in-store merchandising, digital initiatives and pricing. We work with an external advertising
agency, a media planning and buying agency, a national public relations firm as well as several other consultative/vendor partnerships in the development
and execution of programs. We spent approximately $26,588 in advertising efforts in fiscal 2009 and $26,605 in fiscal 2008.

In order to drive sales and expand our guest base, we focus marketing efforts in three key areas:
 

 •  advertising, product development and system-wide promotions;
 

 •  field marketing and local promotions; and
 

 •  special events for corporate and group guests.
Additionally, over the last three years, we have:

 

 •  performed extensive research to deepen understanding of our guest base and fine-tune the brand positioning;
 

 •  refined our marketing strategy based on its findings to better reach both young adults and families;
 

 •  created a new advertising campaign based on those insights;
 

 •  invested in menu research and development to differentiate the food from competition, create signature products, improve product quality,
consistency, value perceptions and overall guest satisfaction;

 

 •  further developed our product and promotional strategies to attract new customers and increase spending/length of stay;
 

 •  leveraged out loyalty database to engage and motivate customers;
 

 •  made significant financial and manpower commitments in advertising media and creative execution to further differentiate the brand;
 

 •  invested in digital social media to create stronger relationships with consumers; and
 

 •  defined a consistent brand identity that reflects our quality, heritage and energy.
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In addition to our national cable-advertising program, we develop marketing and media plans that are highly localized and designed to support
individual market opportunities. We continue to utilize in-store promotions, print, radio, email and customer communications to increase visit frequency and
average check size.

Our corporate and group sales programs are managed by our sales department, which provides direction, training, and support to the special events
managers and their teams within each location. The primary focus for our special events sales teams is to identify and contact corporations, associations,
organizations, and community groups within the team’s marketplace for purposes of booking group events. The special events sales teams pursue corporate
and social group bookings through a variety of sales initiatives including outside sales calls and cultivation of repeat business. They are supported by a
Special Events Call Center located at our Corporate Office, targeted print and online media plans, as well as promotional incentives at appropriate times
across the year. We have developed and continually maintain a database of corporate and group bookings. Our stores host events for many multi-national,
national and regional businesses. Many of our corporate and group guests schedule repeat events.

Operations
Management

The management of our store base is divided into seven regions, each of which is overseen by a Regional Operations Director who reports to one of the
two Vice Presidents of Operations. Our Regional Operations Directors oversee four to ten company-owned stores each, which we believe enables them to
better support the General Managers and achieve sales and profitability targets for each store within their region.

Our typical store team consists of a General Manager supported by an average of eight additional management positions. There is a defined structure of
development and progression of job responsibilities from Line Manager through various positions up to the General Manager role. This structure ensures that
an adequate succession plan exists within each store. Each Management member handles various departments within the location including responsibility for
hourly employees. A typical store employs approximately 150 hourly employees, many of whom work part time. The General Manager and the management
team is responsible for the day-to-day operation of that store, including the hiring, training and development of team members, as well as financial and
operational performances. Our stores are generally open seven days a week, from 11:30 a.m. to midnight on weekdays and 11:30 a.m. to 2:00 a.m. on
weekends.

Operational Tools and Programs
We utilize a customized food and beverage analysis program that determines the theoretical food and beverage costs for each store and provides

additional tools and reports to help us identify opportunities, including waste management. Our managers perform a weekly complete “test drive” of each
game to ensure that our amusement offerings are consistent and operational. Consolidated reporting tools for each key driver of our business exist for our
Regional Operations Directors to be able to identify and troubleshoot any systemic issues.

Management Information Systems
We utilize a number of proprietary and third party management information systems. These systems are designed to enable our games functionality,

improve operating efficiencies, provide us with timely access to financial and marketing data, and reduce store and corporate administrative time and
expense. We believe our management information systems are sufficient to support our store expansion plans.

Training
We strive to maintain quality and consistency in each of our stores through the careful training and supervision of our team members and the

establishment of, and adherence to, high standards relating to personnel performance, food and beverage preparation, game playability and maintenance of
our stores. We provide all new team members with complete orientation and one-on-one training for their positions to help ensure they are able to meet our
high standards. All of our new team members are trained by partnering with a certified trainer to assure that the training and information they receive is
complete and accurate. Team members are certified for their positions by passing a series of tests, including alcohol awareness training.

We require our new store managers to complete a 13-week training program that includes front of the house service, kitchen, amusements, and
management responsibilities. Newly trained managers are then assigned to their home store where they receive additional training with their General
Manager. We place a high priority on our continuing management development programs in order to ensure that qualified managers are available for our
future openings. We conduct semi-annual talent reviews with each manager to discuss prior performance and future performance goals. Once a year we hold a
general manager conference in which our General Managers share best practices and also receive an update on our business plan.
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When we open a new store, we provide varying levels of training to team members in each position to ensure the smooth and efficient operation of the
store from the first day it opens to the public. Prior to opening a new store, our dedicated training and opening team travels to the location to prepare for an
intensive two week training program for all team members hired for the new store opening. Part of the training teams stay on site during the first week of
operation. We believe this additional investment in our new stores is important, because it helps us provide our guests with a quality experience from day
one. After a store has been opened and is operating smoothly, the assistant managers supervise the training of new team members.

Recruiting and Retention
We seek to hire experienced General Managers and team members, and offer competitive wage and benefit programs. Our store managers all participate

in a performance based incentive program that is based on sales, profit and employee retention goals. In addition, our salaried and hourly employees are also
eligible to participate in a 401(k) plan, medical/dental/vision insurance plans and also receive vacation/paid time off based on tenure.

Food Preparation, Quality Control and Purchasing
The principal goods we purchase are games, prizes and food and beverage products, which are available from a number of suppliers.

We strive to maintain high food quality standards. To ensure our quality standards are met, we negotiate directly with independent producers of food
products. We provide detailed quality and yield specifications to suppliers for our purchases. Our systems are designed to protect the safety and quality of our
food supply throughout the procurement and preparation process. Within each store, the Kitchen Manager is primarily responsible for ensuring the timely
and correct preparation of food products, per the recipes we specify. We provide each of our stores with various tools and training to facilitate these activities.

Foreign Operations
We own and operate one store outside of the United States in Toronto, Canada. This store generated revenue of approximately $9,500 USD in fiscal

year 2009, representing approximately 1.8 percent of our consolidated revenue. As of January 31, 2010, we have less than 2 percent of our long-lived assets
located outside the United States. Additionally, a franchisee operates a Dave & Buster’s store located in Niagara Falls, Ontario, Canada which opened on
June 25, 2009.

The foreign activities are subject to various risks of doing business in a foreign country, including currency fluctuations, changes in laws and
regulations and economic and political stability. We do not believe there is any material risk associated with the Canadian operations or any dependence by
the domestic business upon the Canadian operations.

Suppliers
The principal goods used by us are games, prizes and food and beverage products, which are available from a number of suppliers. We have expanded

our contacts with amusement merchandise suppliers through the direct import program. Federal and state health care mandates and mandated increases in the
minimum wage could have the repercussion of increasing expenses, as suppliers may be adversely impacted by higher health care costs and increases in the
minimum wage.

Intellectual Property
We have registered the trademarks Dave & Buster’s , Power Card , Power Combo , and Eat Drink Play  with the United States Patent and Trademark

Office and in various foreign countries. We have also registered and/or applied for certain additional trademarks with the United States Patent and Trademark
Office and in various foreign countries. We consider our trade name and our signature “bulls-eye” logo to be important features of our operations and seek to
actively monitor and protect our interest in this property in the various jurisdictions where we operate. We also have certain trade secrets, such as our recipes
and certain software programs that we protect by requiring all of our employees to sign a code of ethics, which includes an agreement to keep trade secrets
confidential.

Employees
As of January 31, 2010, we employed 7,565 persons, 184 of whom served in administrative or executive capacities, 587 of whom served as

management personnel and the remainder of whom were hourly personnel.

None of our employees are covered by collective bargaining agreements and we have never experienced an organized work stoppage, strike or labor
dispute. We believe working conditions and compensation packages are competitive with those offered by competitors and consider our relations with our
employees to be good.
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Corporate Information
Our corporate headquarters is located at 2481 Mañana Drive, Dallas, Texas, and our telephone number is (214) 357-9588. Our website is

www.daveandbusters.com.

You may obtain, free of charge, copies of our reports filed with, or furnished to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on Forms 10-K,
10-Q, and 8-K, at our internet website. These reports will be available as soon as reasonably practicable after filing such material with, or furnishing it to, the
SEC. In addition, you may view and obtain, free of charge, at our website, copies of our corporate governance materials, including, Audit Committee Charter,
Compensation Committee Charter, Code of Business Ethics, and Whistle Blower Policy.
 
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

We wish to caution you that our business and operations are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties. The factors listed below are important
factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from our historical results and from those projected in forward-looking statements contained in this
report, and our other filings with the SEC, in our news releases, written or electronic communications, and verbal statements by our representatives.

You should be aware that forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties. These risks and uncertainties may cause our or our industry’s
actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance, or achievements contained in or implied by these
forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are generally accompanied by words like “believes,” “anticipates,” “estimates,” “predicts,”
“expects,” and other similar expressions that convey uncertainty about future events or outcomes.

Risks Related to Our Business
The global economic crisis adversely impacted our business and financial results in fiscal 2009 and a prolonged recession could materially affect us in the
future.

Our industry is dependent upon consumer discretionary spending. The global economic crisis has reduced consumer confidence to historic lows
impacting the public’s ability and/or desire to spend discretionary dollars as a result of job losses, home foreclosures, significantly reduced home values,
investment losses in the financial markets, personal bankruptcies, and reduced access to credit, resulting in lower levels of guest traffic in our stores. If this
difficult economic situation continues for a prolonged period of time and/or deepens in magnitude, our business, results of operation and ability to comply
with the covenants under our credit facility could be materially affected and may result in a deceleration of the number and timing of new store openings.
Continued deterioration in customer traffic and/or a reduction in the average amount guests spend in our stores will negatively impact our revenues. This will
result in sales de-leverage, spreading fixed costs across a lower level of sales, and will, in turn cause downward pressure on our profitability. This could result
in reductions in staff levels, asset impairment charges and potential closures. Future recessionary effects on the Company are unknown at this time and could
have a potential material adverse effect on our financial position and results of operations. There can be no assurance that the government’s plans to stimulate
the economy will restore consumer confidence, stabilize the financial markets, increase liquidity and the availability of credit, or result in lower
unemployment.

The current economic crisis could have a material adverse impact on our landlords or other tenants in shopping centers in which we are located, which in
turn could negatively affect our financial results.

If the recession continues or increases in severity, our landlords may be unable to obtain financing or remain in good standing under their existing
financing arrangements, resulting in failures to pay required construction contributions or satisfy other lease covenants to us. In addition, other tenants at
shopping centers in which we are located or have executed leases may fail to open or may cease operations. Decreases in total tenant occupancy in shopping
centers in which we are located may affect foot traffic at our stores. All of these factors could have a material adverse impact on our operations.

Our growth strategy depends on our ability to open new stores and operate them profitably.
As of January 31, 2010, there were 55 company-owned locations in the United States and Canada and one franchise location in Canada. A key element

of our growth strategy is to open additional stores in locations that we believe will provide attractive returns on investments. We have identified a number of
additional sites for potential future Dave & Buster’s stores. Our ability to open new stores on a timely and cost-effective basis is dependent on a number of
factors, many of which are beyond our control, including our ability to:
 

 •  find quality locations;
 

 •  reach acceptable agreements regarding the lease or purchase of locations;
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 •  comply with applicable zoning, land use and environmental regulations;
 

 •  raise or have available an adequate amount of money for construction and opening costs;
 

 •  timely hire, train and retain the skilled management and other employees necessary to meet staffing needs;
 

 •  obtain, for acceptable cost, required permits and approvals, including liquor licenses; and
 

 •  efficiently manage the amount of time and money used to build and open each new store.

If we succeed in opening new stores on a timely and cost-effective basis, we may nonetheless be unable to attract enough customers to new stores
because potential customers may be unfamiliar with our stores or atmosphere, or our entertainment and menu options might not appeal to them. Only a small
number of our existing stores are the size of our target 35,000 square foot format for our larger stores and as of January 31, 2010, we operate three small format
stores. We cannot provide any assurance that our new format stores will meet or exceed the performance of our existing stores or meet or exceed our
performance targets, including target sales to net investment ratios and cash-on-cash returns. New stores may even operate at a loss, which could have a
significant adverse effect on our overall operating results. Opening a new store in an existing market could reduce the revenue at our existing stores in that
market. In addition, historically, new stores experience a drop in revenues after their first year of operation. Typically, this drop has been temporary and has
been followed by increases in comparable store revenue in line with the rest of our comparable store base, but there can be no assurance that this will be the
case in the future or that a new store will succeed in the long term.

Our expansion into new markets may present increased risks due to our unfamiliarity with the area.
Some of our new stores will be located in areas where we have little or no meaningful experience. Those markets may have different competitive

conditions, consumer tastes and discretionary spending patterns than our existing markets, which may cause our new stores to be less successful than stores in
our existing markets. An additional risk of expanding into new markets is the lack of market awareness of the Dave & Buster’s brand. Stores opened in new
markets may open at lower average weekly sales volumes than stores opened in existing markets, and may have higher store-level operating expense ratios
than stores in existing markets. Sales at stores opened in new markets may take longer to reach average store volumes, if at all, thereby adversely affecting our
overall profitability.

We may not be able to compete favorably in the highly competitive out-of-home and home-based entertainment and restaurant markets, which could have
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition.

The out-of-home entertainment market is highly competitive. We compete for customers’ discretionary entertainment dollars with theme parks, as well
as with providers of out-of-home entertainment, including localized attraction facilities such as movie theatres, sporting events, bowling alleys, nightclubs
and restaurants. Many of the entities operating these businesses are larger and have significantly greater financial resources, a greater number of stores, have
been in business longer, have greater name recognition and are better established in the markets where our stores are located or are planned to be located. As a
result, they may be able to invest greater resources than we can in attracting customers and succeed in attracting customers who would otherwise come to our
stores. The legalization of casino gambling in geographic areas near any current or future store would create the possibility for entertainment alternatives,
which could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition. We also face competition from local establishments that offer
entertainment experiences similar to ours and restaurants that are highly competitive with respect to price, quality of service, location, ambience and type and
quality of food. We also face competition from increasingly sophisticated home-based forms of entertainment, such as internet and video gaming and home
movie delivery. Our failure to compete favorably in the competitive out-of-home and home-based entertainment and restaurant markets could have a material
adverse affect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our quarterly results of operations are subject to fluctuations due to the seasonality of our business and the timing of new openings and other events.
Our operating results fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter as a result of seasonal factors. Prior to fiscal year 2008 our revenues were

substantially higher in the fourth quarter driven in part by the increased number of holiday parties held during that time of year. Our revenues and
profitability have been lower during the third quarter with the first and second quarter being somewhat similar in results. We expect similar trends to continue
in the future. We expect seasonality will continue to be a factor in our results of operations. As a result, factors affecting peak seasons could have a
disproportionate effect on our results. For example, the number of days between Thanksgiving and New Year’s Day and the days of the week on which
Christmas and New Year’s Eve fall affect the volume of business we generate during the December holiday season and can affect our results for the full fiscal
year. In addition, adverse weather during the winter holiday season can have a significant impact on our fourth quarter, and therefore our results for the full
fiscal year. See “Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations—store-level variability, quarterly results of
operations and seasonality.”
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Our operating results may also fluctuate significantly because of non-seasonal factors. Due to our relatively limited number of locations, poor results of
operations at any single store could significantly affect our overall profitability. Additionally, the timing of new store openings may result in significant
fluctuations in quarterly performance. Due to the substantial up-front financial requirements to open new stores, the investment risk related to any single store
is much larger than that associated with many other restaurants or entertainment venues. We typically incur most pre-opening costs for a new store within the
two months immediately preceding, and the month of, the store’s opening. In addition, the labor and operating costs for a newly opened store during the first
three to six months of operation are materially greater than what can be expected after that time, both in aggregate dollars and as a percentage of revenues.

Our operations are susceptible to the availability and cost of food and other supplies, in most cases from a limited number of suppliers, which subject us to
possible risks of shortages, interruptions and price fluctuations.

Our profitability depends in part on our ability to anticipate and react to changes in product costs. Cost of food and beverage as a percentage of food
and beverage revenue was 24.2 percent in fiscal 2009, 24.8 percent in fiscal 2008, and 24.7 percent in fiscal 2007. Cost of amusement and other costs as a
percentage of amusement and other revenue was 15.5 percent in fiscal 2009, 13.8 percent in fiscal 2008, and 14.1 percent in fiscal 2007. If we have to pay
higher prices for food or other supplies, our operating costs may increase, and, if we are unable or unwilling to pass such cost increases on to our customers,
our operating results could be adversely affected.

We have entered into a long-term contract with U.S. Foodservice, Inc. which provides for the purchasing, warehousing and distributing of a substantial
majority of our food, non-alcoholic beverage and chemical supplies. The unplanned loss of this distributor could adversely affect our business by disrupting
our operations as we seek out and negotiate a new distribution contract. We also have multiple short-term supply contracts with a limited number of
suppliers. If any of these suppliers do not perform adequately or otherwise fail to distribute products or supplies to our stores, we may be unable to replace the
suppliers in a short period of time on acceptable terms, which could increase our costs, cause shortages of food and other items at our stores and cause us to
remove certain items from our menu. We currently do not engage in futures contracts or other financial risk management strategies with respect to potential
price fluctuations in the cost of food and other supplies.

The limited number of amusement suppliers, the availability of new amusement offerings, the cost and availability of redemption items that appeal to
guests and the market demand for new games could adversely impact the cost to acquire and operate new amusements. We may not be able to anticipate and
react to changing food, beverage and amusement costs by adjusting purchasing practices, menu and game prices, and a failure to do so could have a material
adverse effect on our operating results.

Instances of food-borne illness and outbreaks of disease, as well as negative publicity relating thereto, could result in reduced demand for our menu
offerings and reduced traffic in our stores and negatively impact our business.

Our business could be severely impacted by a widespread regional, national or global health epidemic. A widespread health epidemic (such as the
avian flu) or food-borne illness (such as aphthous fever, which is also known as hoof and mouth disease, as well as hepatitis A, lysteria, salmonella and e-
coli), whether or not traced to one of our stores, may cause customers to avoid public gathering places or otherwise change their eating behaviors. Even the
prospects of a health epidemic could change consumer perceptions of food safety, disrupt our supply chain and impact our ability to supply certain menu
items or staff our stores. Outbreaks of disease, including severe acute respiratory syndrome, which is also known as SARS, as well as influenza, could reduce
traffic in our stores. Any of these events would negatively impact our business. In addition, any negative publicity relating to these and other health-related
matters may affect consumers’ perceptions of our stores and the food that we offer, reduce guest visits to our stores and negatively impact demand for our
menu offerings.

We may not be able to obtain and maintain licenses and permits necessary to operate our stores in compliance with laws, regulations and other
requirements, which could adversely affect our business, results of operations or financial condition.

We are subject to various federal, state and local laws affecting our business. Each store is subject to licensing and regulation by a number of
governmental authorities, which may include alcoholic beverage control, amusement, health and safety and fire agencies in the state, county or municipality
in which the store is located. Each store is required to obtain a license to sell alcoholic beverages on the premises from a state authority and, in certain
locations, county and municipal authorities. Typically, licenses must be renewed annually and may be revoked or suspended for cause at any time. In some
states, the loss of a license for cause with respect to one location may lead to the loss of licenses at all locations in that state and could make it more difficult
to obtain additional licenses in that state. Alcoholic beverage control regulations relate to numerous aspects of the daily operations of each store, including
minimum age of patrons and employees, hours of operation, advertising, wholesale purchasing, inventory control and handling and storage and dispensing of
alcoholic beverages. The failure to receive or retain a liquor license, or any other required permit or license, in a particular location, or to continue to qualify
for, or renew licenses, could have a material adverse effect on operations and our ability to obtain such a license or permit in other locations.

As a result of operating certain entertainment games and attractions, including games that offer redemption prizes, we are subject to amusement
licensing and regulation by the states, counties and municipalities in which our stores are located. Certain
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entertainment attractions are heavily regulated and such regulations vary significantly between communities. Moreover, states and local communities are
tending to consider additional regulation regarding redemption games. From time-to-time, existing stores may be required to modify certain games, alter the
mix of games, or terminate the use of specific games as a result of the interpretation of regulations by state or local officials, any of which could adversely
affect our operations.

Changes in laws, regulations and other requirements could adversely affect our business, results of operations or financial condition.
We are also subject to federal, state and local environmental laws, regulations and other requirements. More stringent and varied requirements of local

and state governmental bodies with respect to zoning, land use and environmental factors could delay or prevent development of new stores in particular
locations. Environmental laws and regulations also govern, among other things, discharges of pollutants into the air and water as well as the presence,
handling, release and disposal of and exposure to hazardous substances. These laws provide for significant fines and penalties for noncompliance. Third
parties may also make personal injury, property damage or other claims against us associated with actual or alleged release of or exposure to hazardous
substances at our properties. We could also be strictly liable, without regard to fault, for certain environmental conditions at properties we formerly owned or
operated as well as at our current properties.

In addition, we are subject to the Fair Labor Standards Act, which governs such matters as minimum wages, overtime, and other working conditions,
along with the Americans with Disabilities Act and various family-leave mandates. From time-to-time, the U.S. Congress and the states consider increases in
the applicable minimum wage. Several states in which we operate have enacted increases in the minimum wage which have taken effect during the last three
years and further increases are anticipated in 2010. Although we expect increases in payroll expenses as a result of federal and state mandated increases in the
minimum wage, such increases are not expected to be material. However, we are uncertain of the repercussion, if any, of increased minimum wages on other
expenses. For example, our suppliers may be more severely impacted by higher minimum wage standards, which could result in increased costs to us. If we are
unable to offset these costs through increased costs to our customers, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be adversely affected.

Our sales and results of operations may be adversely affected by the passage of health care reform legislation and climate change and other
environmental legislation and regulations. The costs and other effects of new legal requirements cannot be determined with certainty. For example, new
legislation or regulations may result in increased costs directly for our compliance or indirectly to the extent that such requirements increase prices charged
to us by vendors because of increased compliance costs. At this point, we are unable to determine the impact that health care reform could have on our
employer-sponsored medical plans or that climate change and other environmental legislation and regulations could have on our overall business.

Customer complaints or litigation on behalf of our customers or employees may adversely affect our business, results of operations or financial condition.
Our business may be adversely affected by legal or governmental proceedings brought by or on behalf of our customers or employees. In recent years, a

number of restaurant companies, including ours, have been subject to lawsuits, including class action lawsuits, alleging violations of federal and state law
regarding workplace and employment matters, discrimination and similar matters. A number of these lawsuits have resulted in the payment of substantial
damages by the defendants. In addition, from time-to-time customers file complaints or lawsuits against us alleging that we are responsible for some illness or
injury they suffered at or after a visit to a store. We are also subject to a variety of other claims in the ordinary course of business, including personal injury,
lease and contract claims. The restaurant industry has also been subject to a growing number of claims that the menus and actions of restaurant chains have
led to the obesity of certain of their guests.

We are also subject to “dram shop” statutes in certain states in which our stores are located. These statutes generally provide a person injured by an
intoxicated person the right to recover damages from an establishment that wrongfully served alcoholic beverages to the intoxicated individual. We are
currently the subject of certain lawsuits that allege violations of these statutes. Recent litigation against restaurant chains has resulted in significant
judgments and settlements under dram shop statutes. Because these cases often seek punitive damages, which may not be covered by insurance, such
litigation could have an adverse impact on our business, results of operations or financial condition. Regardless of whether any claims against us are valid or
whether we are liable, claims may be expensive to defend and may divert time and money away from operations and hurt our financial performance. A
judgment significantly in excess of our insurance coverage or not covered by insurance could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations or financial condition. As approximately 32 percent of our food and beverage revenues were derived from the sale of alcoholic beverages during
fiscal 2009, adverse publicity resulting from these allegations may materially affect us and our stores.

We may face labor shortages that could slow our growth and adversely impact our ability to operate our stores.
The successful operation of our business depends upon our ability to attract, motivate and retain a sufficient number of qualified executives, managers

and skilled employees. From time-to-time, there may be a shortage of skilled labor in certain of the communities in which our stores are located. Shortages of
skilled labor may make it increasingly difficult and expensive to attract,
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train and retain the services of a satisfactory number of qualified employees and could delay the planned openings of new stores or adversely impact our
existing stores. Any such delays, material increases in employee turnover rates in existing stores or widespread employee dissatisfaction could have a
material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. Competition for qualified employees could require us to pay higher wages, which could
result in higher labor costs and could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

We depend on the services of key executives, the loss of whom could materially harm our business and our strategic direction if we were unable to replace
them with executives of equal experience and capabilities.

Our future success significantly depends on the continued service and performance of our key management personnel. We have employment
agreements with all members of senior management. However, we cannot prevent members of senior management from terminating their employment with us.
Losing the services of members of senior management could materially harm our business until a suitable replacement is found, and such replacement may
not have equal experience and capabilities. In addition, we have not purchased key personnel life insurance on any members of our senior management.

Local conditions, events, terrorist attacks and natural disasters could adversely affect our business.
Certain of the regions in which our stores are located have been, and may in the future be, subject to adverse local conditions, events, terrorist attacks,

or natural disasters, such as earthquakes, floods and hurricanes. In particular, six of our stores are located in California and are subject to earthquake risk, and
three of our stores in Florida, two of our stores in Houston and our one store in Honolulu are subject to hurricane risk. Depending upon its magnitude, a
natural disaster could severely damage our stores, which could adversely affect our business, results of operations or financial condition. We currently
maintain property and business interruption insurance through the aggregate property policy for each of the stores. However, such coverage may not be
sufficient if there is a major disaster. In addition, upon the expiration of our current insurance policies, adequate insurance coverage may not be available at
reasonable rates, or at all.

Unfavorable publicity relating to one or more of our stores may taint public perception of the Dave & Buster’s brand, which could reduce sales in one or
more of our stores and make our brand less valuable.

The strength of our brand is impacted by public perception of the quality of our food and facilities. Multi-store businesses, such as ours, can be
adversely affected by unfavorable publicity resulting from poor food quality, illness or health concerns, or a variety of other operating issues stemming from
one or a limited number of stores. Adverse publicity involving any of these factors could make our stores less appealing, reduce our guest traffic and/or
impose practical limits on pricing. In the future, some of our stores may be operated by franchisees. Any such franchisees will be independent third parties
that we do not control. Although our franchisees will be contractually obligated to operate the store in accordance with our standards, we would not oversee
their daily operations. If one or more of our stores were the subject of unfavorable publicity, our overall brand could be adversely affected, which could have
a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We may not be able to renew real property leases on favorable terms, or at all, which may require us to close a store or relocate, either of which could have
a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition.

Of the 55 stores operated by us as of January 31, 2010, 54 stores are operated on leased premises. The leases typically provide for a base rent plus
additional rent based on a percentage of the revenue generated by the stores on the leased premises once certain thresholds are met. A lease on one of our
stores is scheduled to expire during late fiscal 2010 and the Company is evaluating whether to seek to extend the term of the lease on this store. A decision
not to renew a lease for a store could be based on a number of factors, including an assessment of the area in which the store is located. We may choose not to
renew, or may not be able to renew, certain of such existing leases if the capital investment then required to maintain the stores at the leased locations is not
justified by the return on the required investment. If we are not able to renew the leases at rents that allow such stores to remain profitable as their terms
expire, the number of such stores may decrease, resulting in lower revenue from operations, or we may relocate a store, which could subject us to construction
and other costs and risks, and, in either case, could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition.

Fixed rental payments account for a significant portion of our operating expenses, which increases our vulnerability to general adverse economic and
industry conditions and could limit our operating and financial flexibility.

Payments under our operating leases account for a significant portion of our operating expenses. For example, total rental payments, including
additional rental payments based on sales at some of our stores, under operating leases were approximately $44,865, or 8.6 percent of our total revenues, in
fiscal 2009. In addition, as of January 31, 2010, we were a party to operating leases requiring future minimum lease payments aggregating approximately
$136,295 through fiscal 2012 and approximately $332,055 thereafter. We expect that we will lease any new stores we open under operating leases. Our
substantial operating lease obligations could have significant negative consequences, including:
 

 •  increasing our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;
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 •  limiting our ability to obtain additional financing;
 

 •  requiring a substantial portion of our available cash to be applied to pay our rental obligations, thus reducing cash available for other purposes;
 

 •  limiting our flexibility in planning for or reacting to changes in our business or the industry in which we compete; and
 

 •  placing us at a disadvantage with respect to our competitors.

We depend on cash flow from operations to pay our lease obligations and to fulfill our other cash needs. If our business does not generate sufficient
cash flow from operating activities and sufficient funds are not otherwise available to us from borrowings under bank loans or from other sources, we may not
be able to service our operating lease obligations, grow our business, respond to competitive challenges or fund our other liquidity and capital needs, which
would have a material adverse affect on us.

Our indebtedness could adversely affect our ability to raise additional capital to fund operations, limit our ability to react to changes in the economy or
our industry and prevent us from meeting our financial obligations.

As of January 31, 2010, we had $67,250 of borrowings under our existing term loan facility, no borrowings under our revolving credit facility, $7,641
in letters of credit outstanding and $160,000 aggregate principal amount of 11.25 percent senior notes outstanding. If we cannot generate sufficient cash flow
from operations to service our debt, we may need to further refinance our debt, dispose of assets or issue equity to obtain necessary funds. We do not know
whether we will be able to do any of this on a timely basis or on terms satisfactory to us or at all.

Our substantial indebtedness could have important consequences, including:
 

 •  our ability to obtain additional debt or equity financing for working capital, capital expenditures, debt service requirements, acquisitions and
general corporate or other purposes may be limited;

 

 •  a portion of our cash flows from operations will be dedicated to the payment of principal and interest on the indebtedness and will not be available
for other purposes, including operations, capital expenditures and future business opportunities;

 

 •  certain of our borrowings are at variable rates of interest, exposing us to the risk of increased interest rates;
 

 •  our ability to adjust to changing market conditions may be limited and may place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to less-leveraged
competitors; and

 

 •  we may be vulnerable in a downturn in general economic conditions or in business, or may be unable to carry on capital spending that is important
to our growth.

The terms of our senior credit facility and our 11.25 percent senior notes restrict our current and future operations, which could adversely affect our ability
to respond to changes in our business and to manage our operations.

Our senior credit facility and our 11.25 percent senior notes contain, and any future indebtedness likely will contain, a number of restrictive covenants
that impose significant operating and financial restrictions on us, including restrictions on our ability to, among other things:
 

 •  incur additional debt;
 

 •  pay dividends and make other restricted payments;
 

 •  create liens;
 

 •  make investments and acquisitions;
 

 •  engage in sales of assets and subsidiary stock;
 

 •  enter into sale-leaseback transactions;
 

 •  enter into transactions with affiliates;
 

 •  transfer all or substantially all of our assets or enter into merger or consolidation transactions;
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 •  hedge currency and interest rate risk; and
 

 •  make capital expenditures.

Our senior credit facility requires us to maintain certain financial ratios. Failure by us to comply with the covenants or financial ratios contained in the
instruments governing our indebtedness could result in an event of default under the facility which could adversely affect our ability to respond to changes
in our business and manage our operations. In the event of any default under our credit facility, the lenders will not be required to lend any additional
amounts to us. Our lenders also could elect to declare all amounts outstanding to be due and payable and require us to apply all of our available cash to repay
these amounts. If our indebtedness were to be accelerated, our assets may not be sufficient to repay this indebtedness in full.

If we are unable to adequately protect our brand, our business could be harmed significantly.
Our brand is essential to our success and competitive position. We use a combination of intellectual property rights, such as trademarks and service

marks, to protect our brand. The success of our business strategy depends, in part, on our continued ability to use our intellectual property rights to increase
brand awareness and further develop our branded products in both existing and new markets. If we fail to protect our intellectual property rights adequately,
we may lose an important advantage in the markets in which we compete. If third parties misappropriate or infringe our intellectual property, our image,
brand and the goodwill associated therewith may be harmed, our brand may fail to achieve and maintain market recognition, and our competitive position
may be harmed, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business. To protect our intellectual property, we may become involved in
litigation, which could result in substantial expenses, divert the attention of management, and adversely affect our revenue, financial condition and results of
operations.

There can be no assurance that third parties will not assert that our products and services infringe, or may infringe, their proprietary rights. Any such
claims, regardless of merit, could lead to litigation, which could result in substantial expenses, divert the attention of management, cause significant delays,
materially disrupt the conduct of our business and have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. As a consequence of
such claims, we could be required to pay a substantial damage award, take a royalty-bearing license, discontinue the use of third party products used within
our operations and/or rebrand our business and products.

Failure to establish and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results,
and senior notes.

Maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting is necessary for us to produce reliable financial reports and is important in helping to
prevent financial fraud. If we are unable to maintain adequate internal controls, our business and operating results could be harmed. Any failure to remediate
deficiencies noted by our independent registered public accounting firm or to implement required new or improved controls or difficulties encountered in
their implementation could cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations or result in material misstatements in our financial statements. If our
management or our independent registered public accounting firm were to conclude in their reports that our internal control over financial reporting was not
effective, investors could lose confidence in our reported financial information, and the trading price of our 11.25 percent senior notes could drop
significantly.

Disruptions in our information technology systems could have an adverse impact on our operations.
Our operations are dependent upon the integrity, security and consistent operation of various systems and data centers, including the point-of-sale,

kiosk and amusement operations systems in our stores, data centers that process transactions, communication systems and various other software applications
used throughout our operations. Disruptions in these systems could have an adverse impact on our operations. We could encounter difficulties in developing
new systems or maintaining and upgrading existing systems. Such difficulty could lead to significant expenses or to losses due to disruption in our business
operations. In 2007, there was an external breach of our credit card processing systems which led to fraudulent credit card activity and resulted in the
payment of fines and reimbursements for the fraudulent credit card activity. As part of a settlement with the Federal Trade Commission, we have implemented
a series of corrective measures in order to ensure that our computer systems are secure and that our customers’ personal information is protected. Despite our
considerable efforts and investment in technology to secure our computer network, security could still be compromised, confidential information could be
misappropriated or system disruptions could occur in the future. This could lead to a loss of sales or profits or cause us to incur significant costs to reimburse
third parties for damages.

Our current insurance policies may not provide adequate levels of coverage against all claims and we may incur losses that are not covered by our
insurance.

We believe we maintain insurance coverage that is customary for businesses of our size and type. However, there are types of losses we may incur that
cannot be insured against or that we believe are not commercially reasonable to insure. For example, we
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maintain business interruption insurance, but there can be no assurance that the coverage for a severe or prolonged business interruption at one or more of our
stores would be adequate. Given the limited number of stores we operate, such a loss could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations. In
addition, we do not currently carry insurance for breaches of our computer network security. Moreover, we believe that insurance covering liability for
violations of wage and hour laws is generally not available. These losses, if they occur, could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of
operations.
 
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
As of January 31, 2010, we owned or leased 55 stores and one franchise. We also have a store that opened in Wauwatosa, Wisconsin (Milwaukee) on

March 1, 2010. The following table sets forth the number of stores that are located in each state/country as January of 31, 2010. Unless otherwise indicated,
each of the stores listed below is leased.
 

State or Country   
Number of

Stores
Arizona   2
California   6
Colorado   2
Florida   3
Georgia   3
Hawaii   1
Illinois   2
Indiana   1
Kansas   1
Maryland   2
Michigan   1
Minnesota   1
Missouri   1
Nebraska   1
New York   6
North Carolina   1
Ohio   4
Oklahoma   1
Pennsylvania   4
Rhode Island   1
Tennessee   1
Texas   8
Virginia   1
Canada   2

 
One store in the state is owned.
One store is a franchise which operates in Niagara Falls, Ontario.

Our stores generally are located on land leased by our subsidiaries. Our lease terms, including renewal options, range from 20 to 40 years. Our leases
typically provide for a minimum annual rent and contingent rent to be determined as a percentage of the applicable store’s annual gross revenues, subject to
market-based minimum annual rents. We currently pay contingent rent in only a small number of our stores. Generally, leases are “net leases” that requires us
to pay our pro rata share of taxes, insurance and maintenance costs. Typically, one of our subsidiaries is a party to the lease, and performance is guaranteed by
the Company for all or a portion of the lease term.

In addition to our leased stores, we lease a 47,000 square foot office building and 30,000 square foot warehouse facility in Dallas, Texas, for use as our
corporate headquarters and distribution center. This lease expires in October 2021, with options to renew until October 2041. We also lease a 22,900 square
foot warehouse facility in Dallas, Texas, for use as additional warehouse space. This lease expires in January 2011.
 
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We have reached an agreement with the Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”) on the terms and provisions of a Complaint and Agreement Containing
Consent Order (the “Order”) that concludes and settles an investigation into our information security practices. The investigation related to a 2007 criminal
attack upon our computer system during which approximately 130,000 payment cards used at eleven of our stores were compromised. The terms of the Order
provide that we failed to provide reasonable and appropriate security for personal information on our computer networks. Specifically, we failed to
(a) employ sufficient measures to detect and prevent unauthorized access to computer networks, (b) adequately restrict third-party access to our networks,
(c) monitor and filter outbound traffic from our networks (to identify and block the unauthorized export of sensitive personal information), (d) limit access
between in-store networks, and (e) limit access to our computer networks through wireless access points.
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Under our settlement with the FTC, we are required to establish, implement, and maintain a comprehensive information security program that is
reasonably designed to protect the security, confidentiality, and integrity of personal information collected from or about consumers. This information
security program will contain administrative, technical, and physical safeguards designed to (a) identify material internal and external risks to the security,
confidentiality, and integrity of personal information that could result in the unauthorized disclosure, misuse, loss, alteration, destruction, or other
compromise of such information, (b) control the identified risks, and (c) ensure that our third-party service providers are capable of appropriately
safeguarding personal information they receive from us. As part of the development of the information security program, for a ten-year period, we must obtain
initial and biennial assessments and reports from an independent auditor that set out the safeguards implemented and maintained by us, and explain how
such safeguards meet or exceed the protections required by the terms of the Order. The Order shall be binding upon us for twenty years.

The FTC voted to approve the Order on March 25, 2010. The Order will be subject to public comment until April 26, 2010, after which the FTC will
decide whether to make it final. The Order does not require us to pay any fines or other monetary assessments and we do not believe that the terms of the
Order will have a material adverse effect on our business, operations, or financial performance.
 
ITEM 4. RESERVED

PART II
 
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

There is no established public trading market for our capital stock. One hundred percent of our outstanding capital stock is owned by D&B Holdings.
There were no repurchases of our capital stock in the fourth quarter of 2009.
 
ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data is qualified in entirety by the consolidated financial statements (and the related Notes thereto) contained in
Item 8 and should be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in Item 7. We
derived the selected financial data as of January 31, 2010, February 1, 2009, February 3, 2008, 334-day period ended February 4, 2007, 37-day period ended
March 6, 2006, and January 29, 2006, from the audited consolidated financial statements and related notes. All references to 2006 relate to the combined 53-
week period ending on February 4, 2007 while the other years presented consist of 52 weeks of operations.
 

   
Fiscal Year Ended
January  31, 2010   

Fiscal Year 
Ended

February 1,
2009   

Fiscal Year 
Ended

February 3,
2008   

334-Day Period
From  March 8, 2006
to February 4, 2007   

37-Day Period  From
January 30, 2006 to

March 7, 2006   
  

  

Fiscal Year
Ended

January 29,
2006  

   (Successor)   (Successor)   (Successor)   (Successor)   (Predecessor)     (Predecessor) 
Statement of Operations Data:            
Total revenues   $ 520,783   $533,358   $536,272   $ 459,792   $ 50,409     $ 463,452  
Operating income    21,871    27,747    21,081    6,409    1,557      12,999  
Net income (loss)    (350)   1,615    (8,841)   (12,063)   486      4,288  
Balance sheet data (as of end of

period):            

 
Cash and cash equivalents    16,682    8,534    19,046    10,372         7,582  
Working capital (deficit)    (28,019)   (35,196)   (30,666)   (31,430)        (37,206) 
Property and equipment, net    294,151    296,805    296,974    316,840         351,883  
Total assets    483,640    480,936    496,203    506,813         423,062  
Total debt    227,250    229,750    243,375    254,375         80,175  
Stockholders’ equity    92,646    92,023    90,756    96,705         205,220  
Other data:            
Capital expenditures    48,423    49,254   $ 31,355   $ 31,943   $ 10,600     $ 62,066  
Stores open at end of period    56    52    49    48    46      46  

 

 
On August 28, 2005, a subsidiary closed an acquired Jillian’s store. As a result of the closing, we recorded a pre-tax charge of approximately
$3,000 comprised of approximately $2,500 in non-cash charges for depreciation, amortization and asset impairment charges and approximately
$500 related to severance and other costs required to close the store.

 Defined as total current assets minus total current liabilities.
 The number of stores open at January 31, 2010 includes 55 company-owned and one franchise in Canada.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read together with the audited consolidated

financial statements, and related notes. Unless otherwise specified, the meanings of all defined terms in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) are consistent with the meanings of such terms as defined in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
All dollar amounts are presented in thousands.

General
Our fiscal year ends on the Sunday after the Saturday closest to January 31. All references to fiscal 2009 relate to the 52 week period ending on

January 31, 2010. All references to fiscal 2008 relate to the 52 week period ending on February 1, 2009. All references to fiscal 2007 relate to the 52 week
period ending on February 3, 2008.

We are a leading owner and operator of high-volume entertainment and dining venues in North America by average store volume. In 1982, we branded
a concept that we believe combines the best attributes of the out-of-home entertainment and dining industries, allowing guests to enjoy a variety of
entertainment, food and beverage options under one roof. Each of our locations offers interactive entertainment, including skill/sports-oriented redemption
games and technologically advanced video and simulation games, combined with a full menu of high-quality food and beverages. We appeal to a diverse
customer base by providing a customizable entertainment experience in a dynamic and fun setting. While our guests are primarily a balanced mix of men and
women aged 21 to 44, we are also an attractive venue for families with children and teenagers.

As of January 31, 2010, we owned and operated 55 stores in 23 states and Canada. In addition, there is one franchised store operating in Canada. Our
stores are open seven days a week, typically from 11:30 a.m. to midnight on weekdays and 11:30 a.m. to 2:00 a.m. on weekends. Our stores average
approximately 49,000 square feet in size and range between 16,000 and 66,000 square feet. In the 12-month period ended January 31, 2010, we had total
revenues of $520,783.

We were founded in 1982 by David “Dave” Corriveau and James “Buster” Corley under the belief that there was consumer demand for the combined
experience of entertainment, food and drinks. We opened our first two locations in Dallas, Texas in 1982 and 1988. Since 1989, we expanded our portfolio
nationally from the two stores in Dallas, Texas to 55 stores across 23 states and Canada, and one franchised store in Canada. From 1997 to early 2006, Dave &
Buster’s operated as a public company under the leadership of Dave and Buster. Dave & Buster’s was acquired in March 2006 by D&B Holdings, an affiliate
of Wellspring and HBK. Wellspring and HBK control approximately 82 percent and 18 percent, respectively, of our outstanding capital stock.

Recent events affecting our results of operations
Acquisitions and Disposals

Effective June 30, 2009, we acquired the 49.9% limited partner interest in a limited partnership which owns a Jillian’s store in the Discover Mills Mall
near Atlanta, Georgia. Prior to our June 30, 2009 acquisition, we owned a 50.1% general partner interest in the limited partnership. Historically, we accounted
for our ownership of the general partnership interest using the equity method due to the substantive participative rights of the limited partner in the
operations of the partnership.

The acquisition date fair value of the consideration given for the limited partner interest was $1,860 and consisted of an agreement to extend the
underlying premises lease by an additional thirty-two months. Under the terms of the extended lease, we also agreed to convert the Jillian’s operations to the
“Dave & Buster’s” trade name by January 30, 2010. The acquisition of the limited partner interest was accounted for in accordance with accounting guidance
for business combinations and, accordingly, resulted in the recognition of the fair value of assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as of June 30, 2009 and
the recognition of a non-cash acquisition gain of approximately $357, which is included as a component of Other store operating expenses.

Overview
We monitor and analyze a number of key performance measures in order to manage our business and evaluate financial and operating performance.

These measures include:

Revenues. Revenues consist of food and beverage revenues as well as amusement and other revenues. Our revenues are primarily influenced by the
number of stores in operation and comparable store revenue. Comparable store revenue growth reflects the change in year-over-year revenue for the
comparable store base. We define the comparable store base to include those stores open for a full 18 months as of the beginning of each fiscal year.
Percentage changes in fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2008 have been calculated based on an equivalent number of weeks in both the current and comparison periods.
Comparable store sales growth can be generated by an increase in guest traffic counts or by increases in average dollars spent per customer. In fiscal 2009, we
derived 35.2 percent of our total revenue from food sales, 16.6 percent from beverage sales, 47.1 percent from amusement sales and 1.1 percent from other
sources.
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We continually monitor the success of current food and beverage items, the availability of new menu offerings, the menu price structure and our ability
to adjust prices where competitively appropriate. With respect to the beverage component, we operate fully-licensed facilities, which means that we offer full
beverage service, including alcoholic beverages throughout each store.

Our stores also offer an extensive array of amusements, including state-of-the-art simulators, high-tech video games, traditional pocket billiards and
shuffleboard, as well as a variety of redemption games, which dispense coupons that can be redeemed for prizes in the “Winner’s Circle.” Our redemption
games include basic games of skill, such as skee-ball and basketball, as well as competitive racing, and individual electronic games of skill. The prizes in the
“Winner’s Circle” range from small-ticket novelty items to high-end electronics, such as flatscreen televisions, MP3 players and game systems. We review the
amount of game play on existing amusements in an effort to match amusements availability with guest preferences. We intend to continue to invest in new
games as they become available and prove to be attractive to guests. Our unique venue allows us to provide our customers with value driven food and
amusement combination offerings such as our “Eat & Play Combo.” The “Eat & Play Combo,” allows customers to purchase a variety of entrée and game card
pairings at various fixed price levels. In the fourth quarter of 2008, we introduced “Half-Price Game Play Wednesdays” which allow guests to play virtually
all of our games for one-half of the regular price on Wednesdays during targeted periods during the year.

We believe that special events business is a very important component of our revenue because a significant percentage of our guests attending a
special event are in a Dave & Buster’s for the first time. This is a very advantageous way to introduce the concept to new guests. Accordingly, a considerable
emphasis is placed on the special events portion of our business.

Cost of products. Cost of products includes the cost of food, beverages and the “Winner’s Circle” redemption items. During fiscal 2009, the cost of
food products averaged 24.2 percent of food revenue and the cost of beverage products averaged 24.1 percent of beverage revenue. The amusement and other
cost of products averaged 15.5 percent of amusement revenues. The cost of products is driven by product mix and pricing movements from third-party
suppliers. We continually strive to gain efficiencies in both the acquisition and use of products while maintaining high standards of product quality.

Operating payroll and benefits. Operating payroll and benefits consist of wages, employer taxes and benefits for store personnel. We continually
review the opportunity for efficiencies principally through scheduling refinements.

Other store operating expenses. Other store operating expenses consist of store-related occupancy, store expenses, utilities, repair and maintenance and
marketing costs.

Store-level variability, quarterly fluctuations, seasonality, and inflation. We have historically operated stores varying in size from 29,000 to 66,000
square feet and have experienced significant variability among stores in volumes, operating results and net investment costs. Our new locations typically
open with sales volumes in excess of their run-rate levels, which we refer to as a “honeymoon” effect. We expect our new store volumes and margins to be
lower in the second full year of operations than in their first full year of operations, and to grow in line with the rest of our comparable store base thereafter. As
a result of the substantial revenues associated with each new store, the timing of new store openings will result in significant fluctuations in quarterly results.
We also expect seasonality to be a factor in the operation or results of the business in the future with anticipated lower third quarter revenues and higher
fourth quarter revenues associated with the year-end holidays. The historically higher revenues during the fourth quarter will continue to be susceptible to
the impact of severe weather on customer traffic and sales during that period.

We expect that volatile economic conditions will continue to exert pressure on both supplier pricing and consumer spending related to entertainment
and dining alternatives. Although, there is no assurance that our cost of products will remain stable or that federal or state minimum wage rates will not
increase beyond amounts currently legislated, the effects of any supplier price increases or minimum wage rate increases are expected to be partially offset by
selected menu price increases where competitively appropriate.
 

20



Table of Contents

Results of Operations
The following table sets forth selected data in thousands of dollars and as a percentage of total revenues (unless otherwise noted) for the periods

indicated. All information is derived from the consolidated statements of operations included in this Report.

We have prepared our discussion of the results of operations for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2010 by comparing the results of operations to the
combined earnings and cash flows for fiscal year ended February 1, 2009.
 

  

Fiscal  Year
Ended

January 31, 2010   

Fiscal  Year
Ended

February 1, 2009   

Fiscal  Year
Ended

February 3, 2008  
Food and beverage revenues  $269,973   51.8%  $284,779   53.4%  $293,097   54.7% 
Amusement and other revenues   250,810   48.2    248,579   46.6    243,175   45.3  
Total revenues   520,783   100.0    533,358   100.0    536,272   100.0  
Cost of food and beverage (as a percentage of food and beverage revenues)   65,349   24.2    70,520   24.8    72,493   24.7  
Cost of amusement and other (as a percentage of amusement and other revenues)   38,788   15.5    34,218   13.8    34,252   14.1  
Total cost of products   104,137   20.0    104,738   19.6    106,745   19.9  
Operating payroll and benefits   132,114   25.4    139,508   26.2    144,920   27.0  
Other store operating expenses   174,685   33.6    174,179   32.6    171,627   32.0  
General and administrative expenses   30,437   5.8    34,546   6.5    38,999   7.3  
Depreciation and amortization expense   53,658   10.3    49,652   9.3    51,898   9.7  
Pre-opening costs   3,881   0.7    2,988   0.6    1,002   0.2  
Total operating costs   498,912   95.8    505,611   94.8    515,191   96.1  
Operating income   21,871   4.2    27,747   5.2    21,081   3.9  
Interest expense, net   22,122   4.2    26,177   4.9    31,183   5.8  
Income (loss) before provisions for income taxes   (251)  (0.0)   1,570   0.3    (10,102)  (1.9) 
Provision (benefit) for income taxes   99   0.0    (45)  (0.0)   (1,261)  (0.2) 
Net income (loss)  $ (350)  (0.0)%  $ 1,615   0.3%  $ (8,841)  (1.7)% 

Cash provided by (used in):       
Operating activities  $ 59,054    $ 52,197    $ 50,573   
Investing activities   (48,406)    (49,084)    (30,899)  
Financing activities   (2,500)    (13,625)    (11,000)  

Change in comparable store sales   (7.8)%    (2.8)%    4.1%  
Stores open at end of period   56     52     49   
Comparable stores open at end of period   47     46     43   
 

“Comparable store sales” (year-over-year comparison of stores open at least 18 months as of the beginning of each of the fiscal years) is a key
performance indicator used within the industry and is indicative of acceptance of our initiatives as well as local economic and consumer trends.
Our new store openings during the last three fiscal years were as follows;

 
Fiscal Year Ended
January 31, 2010   

Fiscal Year Ended
February 1, 2009   

Fiscal Year Ended
February 3, 2008

Location   Opening Date   Location   Opening Date   Location   Opening Date
Richmond, VA   04/20/2009  Plymouth Meeting, PA   07/21/2008  Tempe, AZ   09/17/2007
Indianapolis, IN   06/15/2009  Arlington, TX   11/24/2008    
Columbus, OH   10/12/2009  Tulsa, OK   01/12/2009    
Niagara Falls, ON   06/25/2009        
 

Franchise location.

Fiscal 2009 Compared to Fiscal 2008
Revenues

Total revenues during fiscal 2009 decreased by $12,575, or 2.4 percent, from $533,358 in fiscal 2008 to $520,783 in fiscal 2009.
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The decreased revenues were derived from the following sources:
 

Comparable stores   $(40,359) 
Non comparable stores    26,907  
Other    877  
Total   $(12,575) 

Comparable store revenues were significantly impacted by the unfavorable macro economic environment affecting the restaurant/entertainment
industry in general, and the effects of the global economic environment impacted our store locations as well.

Comparable stores revenue decreased by $40,359, or 7.8 percent, for fiscal 2009 compared to fiscal 2008. Comparable special events revenues which
accounted for 12.0 percent of consolidated comparable stores revenue for fiscal 2009 fell by 24.4 percent compared to fiscal 2008. The walk-in component of
our comparable store sales declined by 5.0 percent for fiscal 2009.

Food sales at comparable stores decreased by $16,136, or 8.8 percent from $183,568 in fiscal 2008 to $167,432 in fiscal 2009. Sales at our comparable
stores continued to show a shift away from the beverage component of our business towards our amusements offerings. Beverage sales of comparable stores
decreased 12.4 percent or $11,247 to $79,621 in fiscal 2009 from $90,868 in fiscal 2008. Our amusement revenues experienced a somewhat softer 4.7 percent
decline to $224,410 in fiscal 2009 from $235,509 in fiscal 2008. Downward pressures on amusement sales were partially mitigated by our Half-Price
Wednesday promotions and Power Card up-sell initiatives which provides greater value to guests in term of chips per dollar.

Our revenue mix was 35.2 percent for food, 16.6 percent for beverage and 48.2 percent for amusement and other for fiscal 2009. This compares to 35.7
percent, 17.7 percent and 46.6 percent, respectively, for fiscal 2008.

Cost of products
Cost of food and beverage revenues decreased from $70,520 in fiscal 2008 to $65,349 in fiscal 2009 principally as a result of lower food and beverage

revenue levels in 2009. Cost of food and beverage products, as a percentage of food and beverage revenues, decreased by 60 basis points to 24.2 percent of
revenue for fiscal 2009 compared to 24.8 percent of revenue for fiscal 2008. A slight increase in beverage cost was offset by reduced costs in our produce and
dairy products.

Costs of amusement and other revenues increased from $34,218 in fiscal 2008 to $38,788 in fiscal 2009. As a percentage of amusement and other
revenues, these costs increased by 170 basis points to 15.5 percent in fiscal 2009 compared to 13.8 percent of revenues in fiscal 2008 primarily as a result of
increased redemption costs driven, in part, by increased game play as a result of the Company’s Half-Price Wednesday promotions.

Operating payroll and benefits
Operating payroll and benefits decreased by $7,394, or 5.3 percent, from $139,508 in fiscal 2008 to $132,114 in fiscal 2009. Operating payroll and

benefits as a percentage of revenues decreased by 80 basis points to 25.4 percent in fiscal 2009 compared to 26.2 percent in fiscal 2008. This decrease was
primarily driven by initiatives designed to reduce hourly labor costs through improved scheduling as well as lower management costs resulting from an
accounting centralization effort.

Other store operating expenses
Other store operating expenses increased by $506, or 0.3 percent, from $174,179 in fiscal 2008 to $174,685 in fiscal 2009. Other store operating

expenses as a percentage of revenues increased 100 basis points from 32.6 percent in fiscal 2008 to 33.6 percent in fiscal 2009.

General and administrative expenses
General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel, facilities, and professional expenses for the various departments of our corporate

headquarters. General and administrative expenses decreased by $4,109, or 11.9 percent, from $34,546 in fiscal 2008 to $30,437 in fiscal 2009. General and
administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues decreased from 6.5 percent in fiscal 2008 to 5.8 percent in fiscal 2009, primarily due to lower labor costs,
and the absence of approximately $2,100 incurred in 2008 related to severance and costs associated with a possible public offering of common stock that was
terminated.

Depreciation and amortization expense
Depreciation and amortization expense includes the depreciation of fixed assets and the amortization of trademarks with finite lives. Depreciation and

amortization expense increased by $4,006, or 8.1 percent, from $49,652 in fiscal 2008 to $53,658 in fiscal 2009. Depreciation expense increased primarily
due to the new stores opened in fiscal 2008 and 2009.
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Pre-opening costs
Pre-opening costs include costs associated with the opening and organizing of new stores or conversion of existing stores, including the cost of

feasibility studies, pre-opening rent, staff training and recruiting, and travel costs for employees engaged in such pre-opening activities. Pre-opening costs
increased from $2,988 in fiscal 2008 to $3,881 in fiscal 2009. The increase of opening costs is primarily attributable to the opening of three new stores in
fiscal 2009 and approximately $1,700 of costs incurred related to the opening of two stores in the first half of 2010.

Interest expense
Interest expense includes the cost of our debt obligations including the amortization of loan fees, adjustments to mark the interest rate swap agreements

to fair value and any interest income earned. Interest expense decreased by $4,055 from $26,177 in fiscal 2008 to $22,122 in fiscal 2009. The decrease in
interest expense is primarily attributed to adjustments to mark the interest rate swap agreements to their fair value and reduced interest costs attributable to
the early retirement of $15,000 of our senior notes in September 2008.

Provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes consisted of an income tax provision of $99 in fiscal 2009 and a tax benefit of $45 in fiscal 2008. Our effective tax rate

differs from the federal corporate statutory rate due to the deduction for FICA tip credits, state income taxes and the impact of certain expenses that are not
deductible for income tax purposes.

In fiscal 2009, we recorded an additional net valuation allowance of $977 against our deferred tax assets. The valuation allowance was recorded in
accordance with accounting guidance for income taxes. As a result of our experiencing cumulative losses before income taxes for the three-year period
ending January 31, 2010, we could not conclude that it is more likely than not that our deferred tax asset will be fully realized. The ultimate realization of our
deferred tax assets is dependent on the generation of future taxable income during periods in which temporary differences become deductible.

We have adopted the accounting guidance for uncertainty in income taxes. This guidance limits the recognition of income tax benefits to those items
that meet the “more likely than not” threshold on the effective date. As of January 31, 2010, we had approximately $2,468 of unrecognized tax benefits,
including approximately $269 in potential interest and penalties, net of related tax benefits. During fiscal 2009, we decreased our unrecognized tax benefit
by $43. This decrease resulted primarily from tax positions taken in prior periods and the expiration of the statute of limitations. During the second quarter,
one state jurisdiction completed its income tax audit. The Company settled and has released the related reserve. We currently anticipate that approximately
$1,395 of unrecognized tax benefits will be settled through federal and state audits or is expected to be recognized as a result of the expiration of statute of
limitations during fiscal 2010. Future recognition of potential interest or penalties, if any, will be recorded as a component of income tax expense. Because of
the impact of deferred tax accounting, $1,809 of unrecognized tax benefits, if recognized, would affect the effective tax rate.

We file income tax returns which are periodically audited by various federal, state and foreign jurisdictions. We are generally no longer subject to
federal, state or foreign income tax examinations for years prior to fiscal 2005.

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007
Revenues

Total revenues during fiscal 2008 decreased by $2,914, or 0.5 percent, from $536,272 in fiscal 2007 to $533,358 fiscal 2008.

The decreased revenues were derived from the following sources:
 

Comparable stores   $(14,818) 
Non comparable stores    12,119  
Other    (215) 
Total   $ (2,914) 

Comparable stores revenue decreased by $14,818, or 2.8 percent, for fiscal 2008 compared to fiscal 2007. Comparable special events revenues
accounted for 14.7 percent of consolidated comparable stores revenue for fiscal 2008 compared to 16.2 percent for fiscal 2007.

Comparable store revenues were significantly impacted by the unfavorable macro economic environment affecting the restaurant/entertainment
industry in general, and the effects of global economic environment impacted our store locations as well. The
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economic deterioration was most apparent in the latter part of our fiscal year. During the first half of fiscal 2008, our comparable store revenue was 2.5 percent
or $6,550 above fiscal 2007 revenue levels during the similar period. In the second half of fiscal 2008, our comparable sales fell by $21,368 or 8.2 percent
from sales levels achieved during the last six months of fiscal 2007.

During fiscal 2008, we maintained advertising on cable television in all of our markets. Food sales at comparable stores decreased by $7,656, or 4.1
percent from $188,278 in fiscal 2007 to $180,622 in fiscal 2008. Beverage sales at comparable stores decreased by $7,310, or 7.6 percent from $96,560 in
fiscal 2007 to $89,250 in fiscal 2008. Comparable store amusement revenue in fiscal 2008 increased by $1,118, or 0.5 percent, from $230,878 in fiscal 2007
to $231,996 in fiscal 2008. Amusement revenue continued to reflect the positive impact of increased points of sale available through the installation of sales
kiosks throughout the system and an expansion of available predenominated Power Card alternatives.

Our revenue mix was 53.4 percent for food and beverage and 46.6 percent for amusement and other for fiscal 2008. This compares to 54.7 percent and
45.3 percent, respectively, for fiscal 2007.

Cost of products
Cost of food and beverage revenues decreased from $72,493 in fiscal 2007 to $70,520 in fiscal 2008 principally as a result of lower food and beverage

revenue levels in 2008. Cost of food and beverage products, as a percentage of food and beverage revenues, increased by 10 basis points to 24.8 percent of
revenue for fiscal 2008 compared to 24.7 percent of revenue for fiscal 2007. Increased food costs resulting from the introduction of certain pre-prepared
products were partially offset by reduced costs in our meat, dairy, produce and beverage products.

Costs of amusement and other revenues remained relatively flat at approximately $34,200 year over year. The cost of amusement and other, as a
percentage of amusement and other revenues, decreased as a percentage of revenues by 30 basis points to 13.8 percent in fiscal 2008 compared to 14.1
percent of revenues in fiscal 2007 primarily as a result of reduced redemption costs.

Operating payroll and benefits
Operating payroll and benefits decreased by $5,412, or 3.7 percent, from $144,920 in fiscal 2007 to $139,508 in fiscal 2008. Operating payroll and

benefits as a percentage of revenues decreased by 80 basis points to 26.2 percent in fiscal 2008 compared to 27.0 percent in fiscal 2007. This decrease was
primarily driven by initiatives designed to reduce labor costs as well as lower management and hourly employee turnover at our stores and reduced incentive
compensation expenses as a result of lower revenues levels.

Other store operating expenses
Other store operating expenses increased by $2,552, or 1.5 percent, from $171,627 in fiscal 2007 to $174,179 in fiscal 2008. Other store operating

expenses as a percentage of revenues increased 60 basis points from 32.0 percent in fiscal 2007 to 32.6 percent in fiscal 2008. This increase was driven
primarily by additional expenditures related to our national marketing program and guest safety initiatives of several locations.

General and administrative expenses
General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel, facilities, and professional expenses for the various departments of our corporate

headquarters. General and administrative expenses decreased by $4,453, or 11.4 percent, from $38,999 in fiscal 2007 to $34,546 in fiscal 2008. General and
administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues decreased by 80 basis points from 7.3 percent in fiscal 2007 to 6.5 percent in fiscal 2008, primarily due
to lower incentive compensation costs, the reduction of severance costs associated with corporate personnel partially offset by increased costs associated with
efforts related to the potential sale of Dave & Buster’s.

Depreciation and amortization expense
Depreciation and amortization expense includes the depreciation of fixed assets and the amortization of trademarks with finite lives. Depreciation and

amortization expense decreased by $2,246, or 4.3 percent, from $51,898 in fiscal 2007 to $49,652 in fiscal 2008. Depreciation and amortization expense
decreased primarily due to certain fixed assets reaching the end of their depreciable life partially offset by depreciation expense on new assets added
subsequent to fiscal 2007.
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Pre-opening costs
Pre-opening costs include costs associated with the opening and organizing of new stores or conversion of existing stores, including the cost of

feasibility studies, staff training and recruiting, and travel costs for employees engaged in such pre-opening activities. Pre-opening costs increased from
$1,002 in fiscal 2007 to $2,988 in fiscal 2008. Pre-opening costs as a percentage of revenues increased from 0.2 percent in fiscal 2007 to 0.6 percent in fiscal
2008. The increase in pre-opening costs is primarily attributable to the opening of three new stores in fiscal 2008 compared to one new store opening in fiscal
2007.

Interest expense
Interest expense includes the cost of our debt obligations including the amortization of loan fees, adjustments to mark the interest rate swap agreements

to fair value and any interest income earned. Interest expense decreased by $5,006 from $31,183 in fiscal 2007 to $26,177 in fiscal 2008. The decrease in
interest expense is primarily attributed to adjustments to mark the interest rate swap agreements to their fair value and reduced interest costs attributable to
the early retirement of $15,000 of our senior notes in September 2008.

Provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes consisted of an income tax benefit of $45 in fiscal 2008 and a tax benefit of $1,261 in fiscal 2007. Our effective tax rate

differs from the statutory rate due to the deduction for FICA tip credits, state income taxes and the impact of certain expenses that are not deductible for
income tax purposes.

In fiscal 2008, we recorded an additional valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets. The valuation allowance was recorded in accordance with
accounting guidance for income taxes. As a result of our experiencing cumulative losses before income taxes for the three-year period ending February 1,
2009, we could not conclude that it is more likely than not that our deferred tax asset will be fully realized. The ultimate realization of our deferred tax assets
is dependent on the generation of future taxable income during periods in which temporary differences become deductible.

As of February 1, 2009, we had approximately $2,946 of unrecognized tax benefits, including approximately $704 of potential interest and penalties,
net of related tax benefit. During the fifty-two week period ended February 1, 2009, we decreased our unrecognized tax benefit by $96. This decrease resulted
primarily from an uncertain tax position taken on the 2005, 2006, and 2007 federal income tax returns. We also recorded net additional interest and penalties
related to uncertain tax positions taken in prior years. We do not currently anticipate any additional material changes in fiscal 2009. Future recognition of
potential interest or penalties, if any, will be recorded as a component of income tax expense. The entire balance of unrecognized tax benefits, if recognized,
would affect the effective tax rate.

We file income tax returns which are periodically audited by various federal, state and foreign jurisdictions. We are generally no longer subject to
federal, state or foreign income tax examinations for years prior to fiscal 2005.
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Quarterly results of operations and seasonality
The following table sets forth certain unaudited financial and operating data in each fiscal quarter during fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2008. The unaudited

quarterly information includes all normal recurring adjustments that we consider necessary for a fair presentation of the information shown. This information
should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto appearing elsewhere in this report.
 

 

 Fiscal 2009 – Thirteen Week Period Ended   Fiscal 2008 – Thirteen Week Period Ended  

 
Jan 31,

2010   
Nov 1,
2009   

Aug 2,
2009   

May 3,
2009   

Feb 1,
2009   

Nov 2,
2008   

Aug 3,
2008   

May 4,
2008  

Food and beverage revenues  $ 71,833   $ 60,549   $ 66,591   $ 71,000   $ 74,348   $ 63,910   $ 71,856   $ 74,665  
Amusement and other revenues   61,812    56,636    64,936    67,426    60,570    55,829    64,382    67,798  

Total revenues   133,645    117,185    131,527    138,426    134,918    119,739    136,238    142,463  
Cost of food and beverage   17,024    14,768    16,151    17,406    17,876    16,265    17,908    18,471  
Cost of amusement and other   10,316    8,868    10,055    9,549    8,546    8,154    8,894    8,624  

Total costs of products   27,340    23,636    26,206    26,955    26,422    24,419    26,802    27,095  
Operating payroll and benefits   32,502    31,328    33,752    34,532    33,954    33,069    35,613    36,872  
Other store operating expenses   42,110    44,514    45,457    42,604    41,846    43,787    45,367    43,179  
General and administrative expense   8,158    7,202    7,672    7,405    9,742    7,693    8,629    8,482  
Depreciation and amortization expense   13,825    13,932    13,168    12,733    12,866    12,449    11,898    12,439  
Pre-opening costs   700    983    1,052    1,146    1,121    625    960    282  

Total operating costs   124,635    121,595    127,307    125,375    125,951    122,042    129,269    128,349  
Operating income (loss)   9,010    (4,410)   4,220    13,051    8,967    (2,303)   6,969    14,114  
Interest expense, net   5,340    5,598    5,635    5,549    7,224    6,996    5,811    6,146  

Income (loss) before taxes   3,670    (10,008)   (1,415)   7,502    1,743    (9,299)   1,158    7,968  
Income taxes   3,760    (4,518)   (1,478)   2,335    382    (3,573)   188    2,958  

Net income (loss)  $ (90)  $ (5,490)  $ 63   $ 5,167   $ 1,361   $ (5,726)  $ 970   $ 5,010  

Stores open at end of period   56    56    55    53    52    50    50    49  
Quarterly total revenues as a percentage

of annual total revenues   25.7%   22.5%   25.2%   26.6%   25.3%   22.5%   25.5%   26.7% 
Change in comparable store sales   (5.8)%   (7.4)%   (10.1)%   (7.9)%   (10.2)%   (6.0)%   1.2%   3.8% 
 

The number of stores includes 55 company-owned stores and one franchised store in Canada.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
To date, we have financed our activities through cash flow from operations, our 11.25 percent senior notes, and borrowings under our senior credit

facility. As of January 31, 2010, we had cash and cash equivalents of $16,682, a working capital deficit of $28,019 and outstanding debt obligations of
$227,250. We also had $52,359 in borrowing availability under our senior credit facility.

Historical indebtedness
Senior credit facility. In connection with the acquisition of Dave & Buster’s by D&B Holdings, we entered into a senior credit facility providing for a

$100,000 term loan facility with a maturity date of March 8, 2013 and providing for a $60,000 revolving credit facility with a maturity date of March 8,
2011. The $60,000 revolving credit facility includes (i) a $20,000 letter of credit sub-facility, (ii) a $5,000 swingline sub-facility, and (iii) a sub-facility
available to the Canadian subsidiary in the Canadian dollar equivalent to U.S. $5,000. The revolving credit facility is available to provide financing for
working capital and general corporate purposes. As of January 31, 2010, we had no borrowings under the revolving credit facility, $67,250 of borrowings
under the term loan facility and $7,641 in letters of credit outstanding.

Our senior credit facility is secured by all of our assets and is unconditionally guaranteed by D&B Holdings. Borrowings on our senior credit facility
bear interest, at our option, based upon either a base rate (or, in the case of the Canadian revolving credit facility, a Canadian prime rate) or a Eurodollar rate
(or, in the case of the Canadian revolving credit facility, a Canadian cost of funds rate) for one-, two-, three- or six-month (or, in the case of the Canadian
revolving credit facility, 30-, 60-, 90- or 180-day) interest periods chosen by us, in each case, plus an applicable margin percentage. Swingline loans bear
interest at the base rate plus the applicable margin. Effective June 30, 2006, we entered into two interest rate swap agreements that expire in 2011, to change a
substantial portion of the variable rate debt to fixed rate debt. Pursuant to the swap agreements, the interest rate on notional amounts of $57,400 is fixed at
5.31 percent plus applicable margin. The weighted average rate of interest on borrowings under our senior credit facility was 6.82 percent at January 31,
2010.
 

26

(1) (1)

(1)



Table of Contents

Interest rates on borrowings under our senior credit facility vary based on the movement of prescribed indexes and applicable margin percentages. On
the last day of each calendar quarter, we are required to pay a commitment fee of 0.5 percent on any unused commitments under the revolving credit facilities
or the term loan facility. Our senior credit facility requires scheduled quarterly payments of principal on the term loans at the end of each of the fiscal quarters
in aggregate annual amounts equal to 1.0 percent of the original aggregate principal amount of the term loan with the balance payable ratably over the final
four quarters.

Senior notes. In connection with the acquisition of Dave & Buster’s by D&B Holdings, on March 8, 2006, we closed a placement of $175,000
aggregate principal amount of 11.25 percent senior notes. On September 22, 2006, we completed an exchange with the holders of the senior notes pursuant to
which the existing notes sold in March 2006 pursuant to Rule 144A and Regulation S of the Securities Act, were exchanged for an equal amount of newly
issued senior notes, which have been registered under the Securities Act. The notes are general unsecured, unsubordinated obligations of ours and mature on
March 15, 2014. Interest on the notes compounds semi-annually and accrues at the rate of 11.25 percent per annum. On or after March 15, 2010, we may
redeem all, or from time-to-time, a part of the senior notes upon not less than 30 nor more than 60 days notice, at redemption prices (expressed as a percentage
of principal amount) plus accrued and unpaid interest on the senior notes. Our senior credit facility allows us to repurchase our notes in an aggregate amount
not to exceed $15,000. In September 2008, we retired notes with a principal amount of $15,000. The retirement resulted in an $88 gain on the early
extinguishment of debt and an additional expense of $429 related to the write off of a prorata portion of the of the transaction costs associated with note
issuance.

Our senior credit facility and the indenture governing the senior notes contain restrictive covenants that, among other things, limit our ability and the
ability of our subsidiaries to, among other things: incur additional indebtedness, make loans or advances to subsidiaries and other entities, make capital
expenditures, declare dividends, acquire other businesses or sell assets. In addition, under our senior credit facility, we are required to meet certain financial
covenants, ratios and tests, including a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio and a maximum leverage ratio. The indenture under which the senior notes were
issued also contains customary covenants and events of defaults.

We believe the cash flow from operations, together with borrowings under the senior credit facility, will be sufficient to cover working capital, capital
expenditures, and debt service needs in the foreseeable future. Our ability to make scheduled payments of principal or interest on, or to refinance, the
indebtedness, or to fund planned capital expenditures, will depend on future performance, which is subject to general economic conditions, competitive
environment and other factors as described in Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” in this Report.

Historical Cash Flows
The following table presents a summary of our net cash provided by (used in) operating, investing and financing activities:

 

  

Fiscal Year
Ended

January 31, 2010  

Fiscal Year
Ended

February 1, 2009  

Fiscal Year
Ended

February 3, 2008 
Net cash provided by (used in):    
Operating activities  $ 59,054   $ 52,197   $ 50,573  
Investing activities   (48,406)   (49,084)   (30,899) 
Financing activities   (2,500)   (13,625)   (11,000) 

Fiscal 2009 Compared to Fiscal 2008
Net cash provided by operating activities was $59,054 for fiscal 2009 compared to cash provided by operating activities of $52,197 for fiscal 2008.

The increase in cash flow from operations is primarily due to the implementation of cash saving measures such as labor initiatives designed to reduce hourly
labor cost and management costs in the stores and reduced labor costs in the corporate headquarters.

Net cash used in investing activities was $48,406 for fiscal 2009 compared to $49,084 for fiscal 2008. The investing activities for fiscal 2009 primarily
include $48,423 in capital expenditures. During the 2009 fiscal year, the Company spent approximately $33,827 ($25,484 net of cash contributions from
landlords) for new store construction and operating improvement initiatives, $3,894 for games and $10,702 for maintenance capital. The investing activities
for fiscal 2008 primarily include $49,254 in capital expenditures.

Net cash used in financing activities was $2,500 for fiscal 2009 compared to $13,625 in fiscal 2008. The financing activities for fiscal 2009 include
required principal payments on the term loan facility of $500 and net paydowns under our revolving credit facility of $2,000. The financing activities for
fiscal 2008 include required paydowns under our term loan facility of $625, net borrowings under our revolving credit facility of $2,000, and retirement of
$15,000 of our senior notes.
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We plan on financing future growth through operating cash flows, debt facilities and tenant improvement allowances from landlords. We expect to
spend approximately $48,000 to $53,000 ($45,000 to $50,000 net of cash contributions from landlords) in capital expenditures during fiscal 2010. The fiscal
2010 expenditures are expected to include approximately $29,000 to $34,000 ($26,000 to $31,000 net of cash contributions from landlords) for new store
construction and operating improvement initiatives, $8,000 for games (excluding games for new stores) and $11,000 for maintenance capital.

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007
Net cash provided by operating activities was $52,197 for fiscal 2008 compared to cash provided by operating activities of $50,573 for fiscal 2007.

The increase in cash flow from operations is primarily due to a net income increase of $10,456 from fiscal 2007 to fiscal 2008 and in the year-over-year
changes in the use of accrued liabilities and other working capital of approximately $9,000 over fiscal 2007. Cash flow from operations in fiscal 2007 was
also negatively impacted by the payment of employment agreement costs triggered by the Merger.

Net cash used in investing activities was $49,084 for fiscal 2008 compared to $30,899 for fiscal 2007. The investing activities for fiscal 2008 primarily
include $49,254 in capital expenditures. The investing activities for fiscal 2007 primarily include $31,355 in capital expenditures. The increase in fiscal
2008 capital expenditures over fiscal 2007 expenditure levels is primarily a result of costs associated with the opening of three new stores in fiscal 2008
compared to one new store opening in fiscal 2007. Additionally, fiscal 2008 capital expenditures reflect progress spending related to a new store scheduled
to open in early 2009.

Net cash used in financing activities was $13,625 for fiscal 2008 compared to $11,000 in fiscal 2007. The financing activities for fiscal 2008 include
required paydowns under our term loan facility of $625, net borrowings under our revolving credit facility of $2,000, and retirement of $15,000 of our senior
notes. The financing activities for fiscal 2007 include required paydowns under our term loan facility of $1,000 and an optional pay down of $10,000 on one
tranche of the term loan facility.

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments
The following tables set forth the contractual obligations and commercial commitments as of January 31, 2010 (excluding interest):

Payment due by period
 

   Total   
1 Year
or Less   2-3 Years   4-5 Years   After 5 Years

Senior credit facility   $ 67,250  $ 836  $ 50,117  $ 16,297  $ —  
Senior notes    160,000   —     —     160,000   —  
Interest requirements    87,858   21,757   39,101   27,000   —  
Operating leases    468,350   45,950   90,345   87,962   244,093
Total   $783,458  $68,543  $179,563  $291,259  $ 244,093
 

Our senior credit facility includes a $100,000 term loan facility and $60,000 revolving credit facility, with a $20,000 letter of credit sub-facility and a
$5,000 revolving sub-facility. As of January 31, 2010, we had no borrowings under the revolving credit facility, borrowings of approximately $67,250
under the term loan facility and $7,641 in letters of credit outstanding.
The cash obligations for interest requirements consist of (1) interest requirements on our fixed rate debt obligations at their contractual rates,
(2) interest requirements on variable rate debt obligations not subject to interest rate swaps at rates in effect at January 31, 2010 and (3) interest
requirements on variable rate debt obligations subject to interest rate swaps at the fixed rates provided through the swap agreements. See “—
Quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk.”
Our operating leases generally provide for one or more renewal options. These renewal options allow us to extend the term of the lease for a specified
time at an established annual lease payment. Future obligations related to lease renewal options that have not been exercised are excluded from the
table above.

Critical accounting policies and estimates
The above discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our consolidated financial statements. The

preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and
expenses, and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. Our significant accounting policies are described in Note 1 to the accompanying consolidated
financial statements. Critical accounting policies are those that we believe are most important to portraying our financial condition and results of operations
and also require the greatest amount of subjective or store judgments by management. Judgments or uncertainties regarding the application of these policies
may result in materially different amounts being reported under different conditions or using different assumptions. We consider the following policies to be
the most critical in understanding the judgments that are involved in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
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Goodwill and intangible assets. We account for our goodwill and intangible assets in accordance with accounting guidance for business combinations
and accounting guidance for goodwill and other intangible assets. In accordance with accounting guidance for business combinations, goodwill of
approximately $65,857 and intangible assets of $63,000 representing trade names were recognized in connection with the acquisition of Dave & Buster’s by
D&B Holdings that occurred on March 8, 2006. In accordance with accounting guidance for goodwill and other intangible assets, goodwill and trade names,
which have an indefinite useful life, are not being amortized. However, both goodwill and trade names are subject to annual impairment testing.

The evaluation of the carrying amount of other intangible assets with indefinite lives is made at least annually by comparing the carrying amount of
these assets to their estimated fair value. The estimated fair value is generally determined on the basis of discounted future cash flows. If the estimated fair
value is less than the carrying amount of the other intangible assets with indefinite lives, then an impairment charge is recorded to reduce the asset to its
estimated fair value.

The annual impairment tests were most recently performed in fiscal 2009. No impairment of assets was determined as a result of these tests for fiscal
2009, 2008 or 2007.

Property and equipment. Expenditures that substantially increase the useful lives of the property and equipment are capitalized, whereas costs incurred
to maintain the appearance and functionality of such assets are charged to repair and maintenance expense. Interest costs incurred during construction are
capitalized and depreciated based on the estimated useful life of the underlying asset. These costs are depreciated over various methods based on an estimate
of the depreciable life, resulting in a charge to the operating results. Our actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or
conditions.

Reviews are performed regularly to determine whether facts or circumstances exist that indicate the carrying values of property and equipment are
impaired. We assess the recoverability of property and equipment by comparing the projected future undiscounted net cash flows associated with these assets
to their respective carrying amounts. Impairment, if any, is based on the excess of the carrying amount over the estimated fair market value of the assets.
Changes in the estimated future cash flows could have a material impact on the assessment of impairment. We did not recognize any impairment losses
related to property and equipment for fiscal 2009, 2008 or 2007, nor do we presently forsee any such impairment losses.

Income taxes. We use the liability method for recording income taxes, which recognizes the amount of current and deferred taxes payable or
refundable at the date of the financial statements as a result of all events that are recognized in the financial statements and as measured by the provisions of
enacted tax laws. We have adopted accounting guidance for uncertainty in income taxes. This guidance limits the recognition of income tax benefits to those
items that meet the “more likely than not” threshold on the effective date.

The calculation of tax liabilities involves significant judgment and evaluation of uncertainties in the interpretation of store tax regulations. As a result,
we have established reserves for taxes that may become payable in future years as a result of audits by tax authorities. Tax reserves are reviewed regularly
pursuant to accounting guidance for uncertainty in income taxes. Tax reserves are adjusted as events occur that affect the potential liability for additional
taxes, such as the expiration of statutes of limitations, conclusion of tax audits, identification of additional exposure based on current calculations,
identification of new issues, or the issuance of statutory or administrative guidance or rendering of a court decision affecting a particular issue. Accordingly,
we may experience significant changes in tax reserves in the future, if or when such events occur.

Deferred tax assets. A deferred income tax asset or liability is established for the expected future consequences resulting from temporary differences in
the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities. As of January 31, 2010, we have recorded a valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets.
The valuation allowance was established in accordance with accounting guidance for income taxes. If we generate taxable income in future periods or if the
facts and circumstances on which our estimates and assumptions are based were to change, thereby impacting the likelihood of realizing the deferred tax
assets, judgment would have to be applied in determining the amount of valuation allowance no longer required.

Accounting for amusement operations. The majority of our amusement revenue is derived from customer purchases of game play credits which allow
our guests to play the video and redemption games in our midways. We have recognized a liability for the estimated amount of unused game play credits,
which we believe our guests will utilize in the future based on credits remaining on Power Cards, historic utilization patterns and revenue per game credit
sold. Certain midway games allow guests to earn coupons, which may be redeemed for prizes. The cost of these prizes is included in the cost of amusement
products and is generally recorded when coupons are utilized by the customer by either redeeming the coupons for a prize in our “Winner’s Circle” or storing
the coupon value on a Power Card for future redemption. We have accrued a liability for the estimated amount of outstanding coupons that will be redeemed
in subsequent periods based on tickets outstanding, historic redemption patterns and the estimated redemption cost of products per ticket.
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Insurance reserves. We use a combination of insurance and self-insurance mechanisms to provide for potential liabilities for workers’ compensation,
healthcare benefits, general liability, property insurance, director and officers’ liability insurance and vehicle liability. Liabilities associated with the risks
that are retained by us are estimated, in part, by considering historical claims experience, demographic factors, severity factors and other actuarial
assumptions. The estimated accruals for these liabilities, portions of which are calculated by third-party actuarial firms, could be significantly affected if
future occurrences and claims differ from these assumptions and historical trends.

Loss contingencies. We maintain accrued liabilities and reserves relating to the resolution of certain contingent obligations. Significant contingencies
include those related to litigation. We account for contingent obligations in accordance with accounting guidance for contingencies. This guidance requires
that we assess each contingency to determine estimates of the degree of probability and range of possible settlement. Contingencies which are deemed
probable and where the amount of such settlement is reasonably estimable are accrued in our financial statements. If only a range of loss can be determined,
we accrue to the best estimate within that range; if none of the estimates within that range is better than another, we accrue to the low end of the range. The
assessment of loss contingencies is a highly subjective process that requires judgments about future events. Contingencies are reviewed at least quarterly to
determine the adequacy of the accruals and related financial statement disclosure. The ultimate settlement of loss contingencies may differ significantly from
amounts we have accrued in the financial statements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued new accounting guidance on business combinations which expands the

use of the acquisition method of accounting used in business combinations to all transactions and other events in which one entity obtains control over one
or more other businesses or assets. This new accounting guidance requires measurement at the acquisition date of the fair value of assets acquired, liabilities
assumed and any non-controlling interest. Additionally, the guidance requires that acquisition-related costs, including restructuring costs, be recognized as
expense separately from the acquisition. We adopted the new accounting guidance on February 2, 2009.

In December 2007, the FASB issued new accounting guidance on non-controlling interests in consolidated financial statements. This new guidance
applies to the accounting for non-controlling interests (previously referred to as minority interest) in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary.
We adopted the new accounting guidance on February 2, 2009.

In September 2006, the FASB issued new accounting guidance, which establishes a framework for measuring fair value and requires enhanced
disclosures about fair value measurements. The new accounting guidance requires companies to disclose the fair value of their financial instruments
according to a three-level fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value. This guidance requires companies to provide additional
disclosures based on that hierarchy. The three-levels of inputs used to measure fair value are as follows: 1) defined as observable inputs such as quoted prices
in active markets for identical assets or liabilities as of the reporting date, 2) defined as pricing inputs other than quoted prices in active markets included in
level 1, which are either directly or indirectly observable as of the reporting date, 3) defined as pricing inputs that are generally less observable from
objective sources. In February 2008, the FASB issued new accounting guidance, which delayed the effective date of previously issued accounting guidance
on fair value measurements for all non-financial assets and liabilities, except those that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on
a recurring basis, until January 1, 2009. Effective February 2, 2009, we adopted this guidance.

In February 2007, the FASB issued accounting guidance that permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items
at fair value. If the fair value option is elected, unrealized gains and losses will be recognized in earnings at each subsequent reporting date. Effective
February 4, 2008, we adopted this guidance. We did not elect to measure any additional financial assets or liabilities at fair value that were not already
measured at fair value under existing standards. Therefore, the adoption of this standard did not have an impact on our consolidated financial statements or
results of operations.

In March 2008, the FASB issued new accounting guidance regarding disclosures about derivative instruments and hedging activities. Entities with
instruments subject to this accounting guidance are required to provide qualitative disclosures including (a) how and why derivative instruments are used,
(b) how derivative instruments and related hedge items are accounted for under this accounting guidance, and its related interpretations, and (c) how
derivative instruments and related hedged items affect an entity’s financial position, financial performance, and cash flows. Additionally, under this
accounting guidance, entities must disclose the fair values of derivative instruments and their gains and losses in a tabular format that identifies the location
of derivative positions and the effect of their use in an entity’s financial statements. Effective February 2, 2009, we adopted the new guidance.

In April 2009, the FASB issued new accounting guidance on interim disclosures about fair value of financial instruments. This new accounting
guidance was effective for our reporting periods beginning with our August 2, 2009 interim financial statements. The new accounting guidance expanded the
previous disclosure requirements to require disclosure of the fair value of financial instruments in interim reporting periods. We implemented this guidance
during the second quarter of fiscal 2009.

In May 2009, the FASB issued new accounting guidance on subsequent events. This new guidance establishes general standards of accounting for, and
disclosure of, events that occur after the balance sheet date but before financial statements are issued or are available to be issued. This new accounting
guidance is effective for interim or annual periods ending after June 15, 2009 and was implemented by the Company during the second quarter of fiscal 2009.
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In June 2009, the FASB issued new accounting guidance on the FASB Accounting Standards Codification (“Codification”) and the hierarchy of
generally accepted accounting principles, which establishes the Codification as the source of authoritative accounting principles recognized by the FASB to
be applied in the preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). This new guidance explicitly
recognized rules and interpretive releases of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) under federal securities laws as authoritative GAAP for SEC
registrants. The new accounting guidance is effective for financial statements issued for interim and annual reporting periods ending after September 15,
2009. The adoption of this new guidance did not have an impact on our consolidated financial statements.
 
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We face market risk relating to changes in the general level of interest rates. Earnings are affected by changes in interest rates due to the impact of those
changes on interest expense from variable rate debt. Agreements to fix a portion of the variable rate debt mitigate the interest rate risk. Effective June 30,
2006, we entered into two interest rate swap agreements that expire in 2011, to change a substantial portion of our variable rate debt to fixed rate debt.
Pursuant to the swap agreements, the interest rate on notional amounts of $57,400 is fixed at 5.31 percent plus applicable margin. Because a substantial
portion of our debt is at a fixed rate, a 1 percent increase or decrease in the interest rate of our variable rate debt at January 31, 2010 would not have a
significant impact on our annual interest rate requirements.
 
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The consolidated financial statements of the Company and supplementary data are included as pages F-1 through F-20 in this Report.
 
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.
 
ITEM 9A (T). CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Internal control over financial
reporting refers to a process designed by, or under the supervision of, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, including those policies and procedures that (a) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect transactions involving and dispositions of our assets; (b) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation
of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and (c) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a material affect on our consolidated financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting cannot provide absolute assurance of the prevention or detection of
misstatements. In addition, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In connection with the preparation of this Report, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have evaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure of controls and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this Report, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective. In making this
evaluation, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) in Internal
Control-Integrated Framework.

This Annual Report does not include an attestation report of the Company’s registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial
reporting. Management’s report was not subject to attestation by the Company’s registered public accounting firm pursuant to temporary rules of the
Securities and Exchange Commission that permit the Company to provide only management’s report in this Annual Report.
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There were no significant changes in our internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended January 31, 2010.
 
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Not applicable.
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PART III
 
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Directors and Executive Officers
Each of our directors and officers holds office until a successor is elected or qualified or until his earlier death, resignation, or removal. Pursuant to a

shareholder’s agreement, Wellspring has the right to designate all but one of the directors, and HBK has the right to designate, at its option, one observer or
one director, in each case reasonably acceptable to Wellspring, to observe or serve, as applicable, on our board of directors for so long as HBK owns 50
percent of the common stock of D&B Holdings to which it initially subscribed. In addition, Wellspring and HBK have the right to remove any or all of the
directors that they appointed. As two of the members of the Board of Directors (Mr. King and Ms. Johnson) are employees of the Company and as the
remaining members of the Board of Directors are employees of an affiliate of Wellspring, none of the directors are “independent” as such term is defined by
the listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange and the rules of the SEC.

We have not developed a specific policy regarding diversity. However, as part of its periodic self-assessment process, the Board of Directors determines
the diversity of special skills and characteristics necessary for the optimal functioning of the Board of Directors in its oversight role over both the short-term
and long-term periods.

We do not have any specific, minimum qualifications for service on the Board of Directors. As all of our Common Stock is owned by D&B Holdings,
the Board of Directors has determined that it is not necessary for us to have a Nominating Committee or committee performing similar functions. However, we
seek to have directors with sound business judgment and knowledge in his or her field of expertise. Identified and described below are additional key
experiences, qualifications and skills that are important to our business and that are considered in the selection of directors, which factors may change from
time to time.
 

 •  Business experience. We believe that we benefit from having directors with a substantial degree of recent business experience.
 

 
•  Leadership experience. We believe that directors with experience in significant leadership positions provide us with strategic insights. These

directors generally possess a practical understanding of organizations, long-term strategy, risk management and the methods to drive change and
growth, as well as the ability to identify and develop these qualities in others.

 

 
•  Finance experience. An understanding of finance and financial reporting processes is an important characteristic for our directors. We use financial

measures to evaluate our performance as well as our attainment of financial performance targets. In addition, the Board of Directors and the Audit
Committee oversee the public disclosures required of us that include financial statements and related information.

 

 •  Educational and Industry experience. We seek to have directors with relevant education, business expertise and experience as executives, directors,
investors, or in other leadership positions in the restaurant and retail sectors.

The Board of Directors believes that each of the directors listed below possess the necessary professional experience and qualifications to contribute to
our success.

The following table sets forth information regarding our directors and executive officers as of the date of this Report.
 

Name   Age  Position

Stephen M. King   52   Chief Executive Officer and Director

Starlette B. Johnson   46   President, Chief Operating Officer and Director

Brian A. Jenkins   48   Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Sean Gleason   45   Senior Vice President and Chief Marketing Officer

Margo L. Manning   45   Senior Vice President of Training and Special Events

Michael J. Metzinger   53   Vice President—Accounting and Controller

J. Michael Plunkett   59   Senior Vice President of Purchasing and International Operations

Jay L. Tobin   52   Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary

Jeffrey C. Wood   47   Senior Vice President and Chief Development Officer

Greg S. Feldman   53   Chairman of the Board

Daniel Y. Han   31   Director

Carl M. Stanton   41   Director
 

 

 (1) Chairman of the Compensation Committee
 (2) Member of the Audit Committee
 (3) Chairman of the Audit Committee
 (4) Member of the Compensation Committee
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Set forth below is biographical information regarding our directors and executive officers:

Stephen M. King, has served as our Chief Executive Officer and director since September 2006. From March 2006 until September 2006, Mr. King
served as our Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. From 1984 to 2006, he served in various capacities for Carlson Restaurants Worldwide, a
company that owns and operates casual dining restaurants worldwide, including Chief Financial Officer, Chief Administrative Officer, Chief Operating
Officer and, most recently, as President and Chief Operating Officer of International.

Starlette B. Johnson, has served as our President, Chief Operating Officer and director since April 2007. Since May 2008, Ms. Johnson has served as a
director of the Tuesday Morning Corporation and is a member of its Audit Committee. From June 2006 until April 2007, Ms. Johnson served as our Senior
Vice President and Chief Strategic Officer. From 2004 until June 2006, she was an independent consultant to restaurant, retail and retail services companies.
From 1995 to 2004, she served in various capacities (most recently as Executive Vice President and Chief Strategic Officer) of Brinker International, Inc., a
company that owns and operates casual dining restaurants worldwide.

Brian A. Jenkins, joined as our Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer in December 2006. From 1996 until August 2006, he served in
various capacities (most recently as Senior Vice President – Finance) of Six Flags, Inc., an amusement park operator.

Sean Gleason, has served as our Senior Vice President and Chief Marketing Officer since August 2009. From June 2005 until October 2008,
Mr. Gleason was the Senior Vice President of Marketing Communications at Cadbury Schweppes where he led initiatives for brands such as Dr Pepper, 7UP
and Snapple. From May 1995 until May 2005, he served in various capacities (most recently as Vice President, Advertising/Media/Brand Identity) of Pizza
Hut, the largest restaurant chain in the world specializing in the sale of ready-to-eat pizza products.

Margo L. Manning, has served as our Senior Vice President of Training and Special Events since September 2006. Prior to that, she served as our Vice
President of Training and Sales from June 2005 until September 2006 and as Vice President of Management Development from September 2001 until June
2005. From December 1999 until September 2001, she served as our Assistant Vice President of Team Development and from 1991 until December 1999 she
served in various positions of increasing responsibility for us and our predecessors.

Michael J. Metzinger, has served as our Vice President—Accounting and Controller since January 2005. From 1986 until January 2005, Mr. Metzinger
served in various capacities (most recently as Executive Director—Financial Reporting) of Carlson Restaurants Worldwide, Inc.

J. Michael Plunkett, has served as our Senior Vice President of Purchasing and International Operations since September 2006. Previously, he served
as our Senior Vice President—Food, Beverage and Purchasing/Operations Strategy from June 2003 until June 2004 and from January 2006 until September
2006. Mr. Plunkett also served as Senior Vice President of Operations for Jillian’s from June 2004 to January 2006, as Vice President of Kitchen Operations
from November 2000 until June 2003, as Vice President of Information Systems from November 1996 until November 2000 and as Vice President and
Director of Training from November 1994 until November 1996. From 1982 until November 1994, he served in operating positions of increasing
responsibility for us and our predecessors.

Jay L. Tobin, has served as our Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary since May 2006. From 1988 to 2005, he served in various
capacities (most recently as Senior Vice President and Deputy General Counsel) of Brinker International, Inc.

Jeffrey C. Wood, has served as our Senior Vice President and Chief Development Officer since June 2006. Mr. Wood previously served as Vice
President of Restaurant Leasing for Simon Property Group, a shopping mall owner and real estate company from April 2005 until June 2006 and in various
capacities (including Vice President of Development—Emerging Concepts and Vice President of Real Estate and Property Development) with Brinker
International, Inc. from 1993 until November 2004.

Greg S. Feldman, became a Director and Chairman of our board of directors upon consummation of the Merger in March 2006. Mr. Feldman is a
Managing Partner of Wellspring, which he co-founded in January 1995.

Daniel Y. Han, became a Director in November 2006. He has served as a Principal of Wellspring since December 2008 and prior to that date he served
in various other capacities with Wellspring since joining in September 2002.

Carl M. Stanton, became a Director upon consummation of the Merger in March 2006. Mr. Stanton is a Managing Partner at Wellspring, which he
joined in 1998.
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Corporate Governance
The Board of Directors met four times in fiscal 2009, including regular and special meetings. During this period, no individual director attended fewer

than 75 percent of the aggregate of (1) the total number of meetings of the Board of Directors and (2) the total number of meetings held by all committees on
which such director served. Members of the Board of Directors are not compensated for service on the Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors has an Audit Committee and Compensation Committee. The charters for each of these committees are posted on our website at
www.daveandbusters.com/about/corporategovernance.aspx. As all of our Common Stock is owned by D&B Holdings, the Board of Directors has determined
that it is not necessary for us to have a Nominating Committee or committee performing similar functions. The Board of Directors does not have a policy with
regard to the consideration of any director candidates recommended by our debt holders or other parties.

The Audit Committee, comprised of Messrs. Feldman, Han and Stanton, and chaired by Mr. Han, recommends to the Board of Directors the
appointment of the Company’s independent auditors, reviews and approves the scope of the annual audits of the Company’s financial statements, reviews our
internal control over financial reporting, reviews and approves any non-audit services performed by the independent auditors, reviews the findings and
recommendations of the internal and independent auditors and periodically reviews major accounting policies. It operates pursuant to a charter that was
amended and restated in December 2006. The Audit Committee met four times during fiscal 2009. In addition, the Board of Directors has determined that
each of the members of the Audit Committee is qualified as a “financial expert” under the provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the rules and
regulations of the SEC.

The Compensation Committee comprised of Messrs. Feldman, Han and Stanton and chaired by Mr. Feldman, reviews the Company’s compensation
philosophy and strategy, administers incentive compensation and stock option plans, reviews the CEO’s performance and compensation, reviews
recommendations on compensation of other executive officers, and reviews other special compensation matters, such as executive employment agreements. It
operates pursuant to a charter that was amended and restated in December 2006. The Compensation Committee did not meet during fiscal 2009.

The entire Board of Directors is engaged in risk management oversight. At the present time, the Board of Directors has not established a separate
committee to facilitate its risk oversight responsibilities. The Board of Directors will continue to monitor and assess whether such a committee would be
appropriate. The Audit Committee assists the Board of Directors in its oversight of our risk management and the process established to identify, measure,
monitor, and manage risks, in particular major financial risks. The Board of Directors receives regular reports from management, as well as from the Audit
Committee, regarding relevant risks and the actions taken by management to adequately address those risks.

Our board leadership structure separates the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer roles into two positions. We established this leadership structure
based on our ownership structure and other relevant factors. The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for our strategic direction and our day-to-day
leadership and performance, while the Chairman of the Board provides guidance to the Chief Executive Officer and presides over meetings of the Board of
the Directors. We believe that this structure is appropriate under current circumstances, because it allows management to make the operating decisions
necessary to manage the business, while helping to keep a measure of independence between the oversight function of our Board of Directors and operating
decisions.

Limitation of Liability of Directors
Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, or the DGCL, authorizes and empowers a Delaware corporation to indemnify its directors,

officers, employees and agents against liabilities incurred in connection with, and related expenses resulting from, any claim, action or suit brought against
any such person as a result of his or her relationship with the corporation, provided that such persons acted in good faith and in a manner such person
reasonably believed to be in, and not opposed to, the best interests of the corporation in connection with the acts or events on which such claim, action or
suit is based. The finding of either civil or criminal liability on the part of such person in connection with such acts or events is not necessarily determinative
of the question of whether such person has met the required standard of conduct and is, accordingly, entitled to be indemnified.

In addition, our certificate of incorporation and by-laws will provide that we indemnify each director and the officers, employees and agents
determined by our board of directors to the fullest extent provided by the laws of the State of Delaware. See “Description of capital stock—Directors’
liability; indemnification of directors and officers.”

Section 102(b)(7) of the DGCL permits a corporation to provide in its certificate of incorporation that a director of the corporation shall not be
personally liable to the corporation or its stockholder for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director, except for liability: (1) for any breach
of the director’s duty of loyalty to the company or its stockholders; (2) for acts or omissions not in good faith or which include intentional misconduct or a
knowing violation of law; (3) under Section 174 of the DGCL (certain unlawful payments of dividend or unlawful stock purchases or redemptions); or (4) for
any transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation includes such a
provision.
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Section 145(g) of the DGCL provides that a corporation shall have the power to purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was
a director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of
another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise against any liability asserted against the person in any such capacity, or arising out of
the person’s status as such, whether or not the corporation would have the power to indemnify such person against such liability under the provisions of the
law. We maintain standard policies of insurance under which coverage is provided, subject to the terms and conditions of such policies: (1) to our directors
and officers against loss arising from claims made by reason of breach of duty or other wrongful act; and (2) to us with respect to payments that may be made
by the registrant to such officers and directors pursuant to the above indemnification provisions or otherwise as a matter of law.

There is currently no pending litigation or proceeding involving any of our directors, officers, employees or agents in which indemnification by us is
sought, and we are not aware of any threatened litigation or proceeding that may result in a claim for indemnification.

Code of Business Ethics and Whistle Blower Policy
In April 2006, the Board of Directors adopted a Code of Business Ethics that applies to its directors, officers (including its chief executive officer, chief

financial officer, controller and other persons performing similar functions), and management employees. The Code of Business Ethics is available on our
website at www.daveandbusters.com/about/codeofbusinessethics.aspx. We intend to post any material amendments or waivers of, our Code of Business
Ethics that apply to our executive officers, on this website. In addition, our Whistle Blower Policy is available on our website at
www.daveandbusters.com/about/whistleblowerpolicy.aspx.

Communications with the Board of Directors
If security holders wish to communicate with the Board of Directors or with an individual director, they may direct such communications in care of the

General Counsel, 2481 Mañana Drive, Dallas, Texas 75220. The communication must be clearly addressed to the Board of Directors or to a specific director.
The Board of Directors has instructed the General Counsel to review and forward any such correspondence to the appropriate person or persons for response.
 
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Compensation Discussion and Analysis

This section describes our compensation program for our named executive officers (“NEOs”). The following discussion focuses on our compensation
program and compensation-related decisions for fiscal 2009 and also addresses why we believe our compensation program is right for us.

Compensation philosophy and overall objectives of executive compensation programs
It is our philosophy to link executive compensation to corporate performance and to create incentives for management to enhance our value. The

following objectives have been adopted by the Compensation Committee as guidelines for compensation decisions:
 

 •  provide a competitive total executive compensation package that enables us to attract, motivate and retain key executives;
 

 •  integrate the compensation arrangements with our annual and long-term business objectives and strategy, and focus executives on the fulfillment
of these objectives; and

 

 •  provide variable compensation opportunities that are directly linked with our financial and strategic performance.

Procedures for determining compensation
Our Compensation Committee has the overall responsibility for designing and evaluating the salaries, incentive plan compensation, policies and

programs for our NEOs. The Compensation Committee relies on input from our Chief Executive Officer and the President regarding the NEOs (other than
themselves) and an analysis of our corporate performance. With respect to the compensation for the Chief Executive Officer and the President, the
Compensation Committee evaluates the Chief Executive Officer’s and the President’s respective performance and sets their compensation. With respect to
our corporate performance as a factor for compensation decisions, the Compensation Committee considers, among other aspects, our long-term and short-term
strategic goals, revenue goals and profitability.
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Our Chief Executive Officer and President play significant roles in the compensation-setting process of the other NEOs. Mr. King and Ms. Johnson
evaluate the performance of the other NEOs and make recommendations to the Compensation Committee concerning performance objectives and salary and
bonus levels for the other NEOs. The Compensation Committee then discusses the recommendations with each of the Chief Executive Officer and the
President at least annually. The Compensation Committee may, in its sole discretion, approve, in whole or in part, the recommendations of the Chief
Executive Officer and the President. By a delegation of authority from the board of directors, the Compensation Committee has final authority regarding the
overall compensation structure for the NEOs (other than stock option awards). In fiscal 2009, the Compensation Committee approved Mr. King’s and
Ms. Johnson’s recommendations for salary and bonus with respect to each of the other NEOs.

In determining the adjustments to the compensation of our NEOs, we did not conduct a peer group study, perform a benchmarking survey for fiscal
2009 or rely on a compensation consultant. Our Compensation Committee relies on Wellspring’s experience in managing other portfolio companies, and
those experiences informed and guided our compensation decisions for fiscal 2009.

Elements of compensation
The compensation of our NEOs consists primarily of four major components:

 

 •  base salary;
 

 •  annual incentive awards;
 

 •  long-term incentive awards; and
 

 •  other benefits.

Base salary
The base salary of each of our NEOs is determined based on an evaluation of the responsibilities of that position, each NEO’s historical salary earned in

similar management positions and Wellspring’s experience in managing other portfolio companies. A significant portion of each NEO’s total compensation
is in the form of base salary. The salary component was designed to provide the NEOs with consistent income and to attract and retain talented and
experienced executives capable of managing our operations and strategic growth. Annually, the performance of each NEO is reviewed by the Compensation
Committee using information and evaluations provided by the Chief Executive Officer and the President with respect to the other NEOs and its own
assessment of the Chief Executive Officer and the President, taking into account our operating and financial results for the year, a subjective assessment of
the contribution of each NEO to such results, the achievement of our strategic growth and any changes in our NEOs’ roles and responsibilities. During fiscal
2009, none of the NEOs received a merit-based increase in base salary.

Annual incentive plan
The Dave & Buster’s, Inc. Executive Incentive Plan (the “Incentive Plan”) is designed to recognize and reward our employees for contributing towards

the achievement of our annual business plan. The Compensation Committee believes the Incentive Plan serves as a valuable short-term incentive program for
providing cash bonus opportunities for our employees upon achievement of targeted operating results as determined by the Compensation Committee and
the board of directors. The fiscal 2009 Incentive Plan for most employees was based on our targeted EBITDA for fiscal 2009. However, substantially all of the
NEOs received a bonus based on an achievement of various corporate objectives (including items such as EBITDA, total revenues, comparable store sales and
similar measures) as determined by the Compensation Committee prior to the beginning of fiscal 2009. Generally, bonus payouts are based 75 percent on the
achievement of a target based on EBITDA and 25 percent on the achievement of total revenue targets. The Compensation Committee reviews and modifies
the performance goals for the Incentive Plan as necessary to ensure reasonableness, achievability and consistency with our overall objectives. In fiscal 2009,
incentive compensation awards for all of the NEOs were approved by the Compensation Committee and reported to the board of directors. The Compensation
Committee and the board of directors believe the fiscal 2009 performance targets were challenging to achieve in our current economic environment and yet
provided an appropriate incentive for performance, in that it required the achievement of a significant increase in revenues and slightly reduced EBITDA
compared to our prior year performance.

Under each NEO’s employment agreement and the Incentive Plan, a target bonus opportunity is expressed as 50 percent of an NEO’s annualized base
salary as of the end of the fiscal year. Bonuses in excess or below the target level may be paid subject to a prescribed maximum or minimum. Below a
minimum threshold level of performance, no awards will be granted under the Incentive Plan.
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At the close of the performance period, the Compensation Committee determined the bonuses for the NEOs following the annual audit and reporting of
financial results for fiscal 2009 and reported the awards to the board of directors. The Compensation Committee authorized bonuses to the NEOs in amounts
that were commensurate with the results achieved at the end of fiscal 2009. In reviewing fiscal 2009 Incentive Plan results, the Compensation Committee
recognized that we exceeded the threshold (but were less than the target) for both EBIDTA and total revenue targets for financial performance, which resulted
in an award below target level performance for all employees, including the NEOs. Overall, our NEOs were paid between 68 percent and 74 percent of their
target bonus opportunity for fiscal 2009 based on the achievement of between minimum and target EBITDA and total revenue performance.

The Compensation Committee believes the incentive awards were warranted and consistent with the performance of such executives during fiscal 2009
based on the Compensation Committee’s evaluation of each individual’s overall contribution to accomplishing our fiscal 2009 corporate goals and of each
individual’s achievement of strategic and individual performance goals during the year.

Long-term incentives
The Compensation Committee believes that it is essential to align the interests of the executives and other key management personnel responsible for

our growth with the interests of our stockholders. The Compensation Committee has also identified the need to retain tenured, high performing executives.
The Compensation Committee believes that these objectives are accomplished through the provision of stock-based incentives that align the interests of
management personnel with the objectives of enhancing our value, as set forth in the WS Midway Holdings, Inc. Stock Option Plan (the “Stock Option
Plan”).

The board of directors of D&B Holdings awarded stock options to the NEOs during fiscal 2006 and made additional awards of stock options only to
certain NEOs in fiscal 2007 in order to equalize the equity compensation among the NEOs as additional shares became available for grants under the Stock
Option Plan following certain forfeitures. Our Chief Marketing Officer received a grant of stock options upon joining Dave & Buster’s during fiscal 2009.
The Stock Option Plan was established, generally, to compensate option recipients for working to increase our value.

There have been three separate stock option grants to our NEOs. The date of grant and the exercise price of the stock option awards were established on
the date of the board of directors’ meeting. The exercise price was established by the board of directors of D&B Holdings and supported by an independent
valuation.

In general, we provide our NEOs with a combination of service-based stock options with gradual vesting schedules and performance-based stock
options that vest upon the attainment of a pre-established performance target. The mix of service-vested and performance-vested stock options varies among
the NEOs. A greater number of stock options were granted to our more senior officers who have more strategic responsibilities. A majority of the stock options
granted have a performance-based vesting feature. With respect to service-based options granted on October 30, 2009, the options vest ratably over a five-
year period commencing on August 3, 2010. With respect to service-based options granted on May 11, 2007, the options vest ratably over a five-year period
commencing on May 11, 2008. The options with service-based vesting typically vest ratably over a five-year period with 20 percent vesting on the first
anniversary of the grant date. With respect to service-based options granted on December 11, 2006, the options vest ratably over a five-year period
commencing on March 8, 2007. The options with performance-based vesting generally do not have any value to the recipient unless and until (1) there is a
sale of D&B Holdings (or other defined liquidity event) and (2) Wellspring achieves a stipulated internal rate of return (15 percent or 25 percent depending
on the applicable option grant) on its initial investment.

There are 570.52 shares available for issuance under the Stock Option Plan. All other shares have previously been granted. The only other option
grants that could be made in the future would be the re-allocation of options that may be forfeited by a participant.

The Compensation Committee will review long-term incentives to assure that our executive officers and other key employees are appropriately
motivated and rewarded based on our long-term financial success.

Other benefits
Retirement Benefits. Our employees, including our NEOs, are eligible to participate in the 401(k) retirement plan on the same basis as other employees.

However, tax regulations impose a limit on the amount of compensation that may be deferred for purposes of retirement savings. As a result, we established
the Select Executive Retirement Plan (the “SERP”). See “—2008 Nonqualified deferred compensation” for a discussion of the SERP.

Perquisites and Other Benefits. We offer our NEOs modest perquisites and other personal benefits that we believe are reasonable and in our best
interest, including car allowances, country club memberships, company-paid financial counseling and tax preparation services and supplemental medical
benefits. See “—2008 Summary compensation table.”
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Severance Benefits. We have entered into employment agreements with each of our NEOs. These agreements provide our NEOs with certain severance
benefits in the event of involuntary termination or adverse job changes. See “—Employment agreements.”

Deductibility of executive compensation
Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code under the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1993 limits the deductibility of compensation over

$1 million paid by a company to an executive officer. The Compensation Committee will take action to qualify most compensation approaches to ensure
deductibility, except in those limited cases in which the Compensation Committee believes stockholder interests are best served by retaining flexibility. In
such cases, the Compensation Committee will consider various alternatives to preserving the deductibility of compensation payments and benefits to the
extent reasonably practicable and to the extent consistent with its compensation objectives.

Risk Assessment Disclosure
Our Vice President of Human Resources, President, and Chief Executive Officer assessed the risk associated with our compensation practices and

policies for employees, including a consideration of the balance between risk-taking incentives and risk-mitigating factors in our practices and policies. The
assessment determined that any risks arising from our compensation practices and policies are not reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on our
business or financial condition.

Compensation Committee Report
The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors has furnished the following report:

The Committee has reviewed and discussed the Compensation Discussion and Analysis (“CD&A”) with the management of the Company. Based on
that review and discussion, the Committee has recommended to the Board of Directors that the CD&A be included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 
Greg S. Feldman, Chair   Daniel Y. Han   Carl M. Stanton
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2009 SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE
The following table sets forth information concerning all compensation paid or accrued by the Company during fiscal 2009 to or for each person

serving as our NEOs at the end of 2009.
 

Name and Principal Position  Year  
Salary
($)  

Option
Awards

($)  

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan
Compensation

($)  

All Other
Compensation

($)  
Total

($)
Stephen M. King

(CEO)
 2009 600,000 —   223,050 43,543 866,593
 2008 600,000 —   146,250 39,556 785,806
 2007 600,000 —   422,250 43,703 1,065,953

Brian A. Jenkins
(SVP and CFO)

 2009 300,000 —   111,525 36,575 448,100
 2008 300,000 —   73,125 39,225 412,350
 2007 278,777 193,681 196,190 25,320 693,968

Sean Gleason
(Chief Marketing Officer)  

2009
 

130,000
 

499,273
 

44,554
 

6,560
 

680,387

Starlette Johnson
(President and COO)

 2009 400,000 —   148,700 18,275 566,975
 2008 400,000 —   97,500 18,318 515,818
 2007 396,154 —   281,500 21,666 699,320

Jay L. Tobin
(SVP, General Counsel and Secretary)

 2009 309,000 —   114,871 33,068 456,939
 2008 306,819 —   75,319 39,201 421,339
 2007 292,308 138,876 211,125 37,048 679,357

 
(1) Mr. Gleason jointed the Company on August 3, 2009.
(2) The following salary deferrals were made under the SERP in 2009: Mr. King, $36,000; Mr. Jenkins, $18,000; and Mr. Tobin, $18,540.
(3) Amounts in this column reflect the aggregate grant date fair value of options calculated in accordance with ASC 718. The discussion of the

assumptions used for purposes of valuation of options granted in 2009 and 2007 appear in the Financial Statements contained in Item 15(a)(i), Note 1,
Pages F-7 and F-8.

(4) The following table sets forth the components of “All Other Compensation:”
 

Name  Year  
Car

Allowance($) 

Financial
Planning/

Legal
Fees($)  

Club
Dues($) 

Supplemental
Medical($)  

Company
Contributions
to Retirement

& 401(K)
Plans($)  

Total
($)

Stephen M. King  2009 10,000 —   3,120 12,423 18,000 43,543
 2008 10,000 1,265 3,120 7,171 18,000 39,556
 2007 10,000 1,215 3,120 11,599 17,769 43,703

Brian A. Jenkins  2009 10,000 1,096 3,120 13,359 9,000 36,575
 2008 10,000 1,650 3,120 15,343 9,112 39,225
 2007 10,000 —   3,120 3,950 8,250 25,320

Sean Gleason  2009 5,000 —   1,560 —   —   6,560

Starlette Johnson  2009 10,000 —   3,120 3,930 1,225 18,275
 2008 10,000 —   3,120 4,048 1,150 18,318
 2007 10,000 5,470 3,120 1,937 1,139 21,666

Jay L. Tobin  2009 10,000 5,000 3,120 4,261 10,687 33,068
 2008 10,000 5,000 3,120 10,647 10,434 39,201
 2007 10,000 5,000 3,120 9,063 9,865 37,048
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GRANTS OF PLAN-BASED AWARDS IN FISCAL 2009
The following table shows the grants of plan-based awards to the named executive officers in fiscal 2009.

 

    
Estimated Future Payouts Under

Non-Equity Incentive Plan Awards   All Other Option  Awards;
Number of Securities

Underlying Options

  
Exercise or
Base Price
of Option

Awards ($/SH)

  
Grand Date

Fair Value of
Option

Awards ($)Name   Threshold ($)  Target ($)   Maximum ($)      
Stephen M. King   150,000  300,000  450,000      

Brian A. Jenkins   75,000  150,000  225,000      

Sean Gleason   32,500  65,000  97,500  953.83  1,758  499,273

Starlette Johnson   100,000  200,000  300,000      

Jay L. Tobin   77,250  154,500  231,750      
 
(1) These amounts are prorated for Mr. Gleason who joined the Company on August 3, 2009.
(2) All such payouts are pursuant to our fiscal 2009 Incentive Plan, as more particularly described under “—Annual incentive plan” above and actual

payouts are recorded under “Non-equity incentive plan compensation” in the “—2009 summary compensation table.”

OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT FISCAL YEAR-END 2009
 

Name

  

Number of Securities
Underlying Unexercised

Options (#)   

Number of
Securities

Underlying
Unexercised
Unearned

Options

  Option
Exercise

Price
($)

  
Option

Expiration
Date  Exercisable   Unexercisable      

Stephen M. King   630.58  420.39  3,523.83  1,000  3/08/2016

Brian A. Jenkins   270.25  180.17  803.69  1,000  3/08/2016
  120.11  180.17  300.28  1,045  5/11/2017

Sean Gleason   0.00  300.28  653.55  1,758  10/30/2019

Starlette Johnson   540.50  360.33  3,020.44  1,000  3/08/2016

Jay L. Tobin   180.17  120.11  300.28  1,000  3/08/2016
  60.06  90.08  503.40  1,045  5/11/2017

 
(1) The listed options were granted under the Stock Option Plan. Of the service-based portions of such options, the options vest ratably over a five-year

period commencing on the first anniversary of the date of grant. With respect to service-based options granted on December 11, 2006, the options vest
ratably over a five-year period commencing on March 8, 2007. With respect to service-based options granted on May 11, 2007, the options vest ratably
over a five-year period commencing on May 11, 2008. With respect to service-based options granted on October 30, 2009, the options vest ratably
over a five-year period commencing on August 3, 2010.

(2) The performance-based portion of such options shall vest only upon a “sale” of D&B Holdings or upon certain other liquidity events, and then if and
only if, Wellspring achieves a designated internal rate of return on its initial investment.

2009 NONQUALIFIED DEFERRED COMPENSATION
The SERP is an unfunded defined contribution plan designed to permit a select group of management or highly compensated employees to set aside

additional retirement benefits on a pre-tax basis. The SERP has a variety of investment options similar in type to our 401(k) plan. Any employer
contributions to a participant’s account vest in equal portions over a five-year period, and become immediately vested upon termination of a participant’s
employment on or after age 65 or by reason of the participant’s death or disability, and upon a change of control (as defined in the plan). Pursuant to
Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code, however, such distribution cannot be made to certain employees of a publicly traded corporation before the
earlier of six months following the employee’s termination date or the death of the employee. Withdrawals from the SERP may be permitted in the event of an
unforeseeable emergency.
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The following table shows contributions to each NEO’s deferred compensation account in 2009 and the aggregate amount of such officer’s deferred
compensation as of January 31, 2010.
 

Name   

Executive Contributions
in Last Fiscal Year

($)   

Registrant
Contributions in 

Last
Fiscal Year

($)   

Aggregate Earnings
in Last Fiscal Year

($)   

Aggregate
Withdrawals 

/
Distributions

($)   

Aggregate Balance at
Last Fiscal Year-

End
($)

Stephen M. King   36,000  18,000  32,368  —    176,990

Brian A. Jenkins   18,000  9,000  —    —    82,882

Sean Gleason   —    —    —    —    —  

Starlette Johnson   —    —    1,421  —    7,946

Jay L. Tobin   18,540  9,270  16,093  —    103,813
 
(1) Amounts are included in the “Salary” column of the “—2009 Summary compensation table.”
(2) Amounts shown are matching contributions pursuant to the deferred compensation plan. These amounts are included in the “All other compensation”

column of the “—2009 Summary compensation table.”

Employment Agreements
During fiscal 2008, we entered into amended and restated employment agreements with our NEOs to reflect the current compensation arrangements of

each of the NEOs and to update such agreements for regulatory compliance. The employment agreement for each NEO provides for an initial term of one year,
subject to automatic one-year renewals unless terminated earlier by the NEO or us. Under the terms of the employment agreements, each NEO is entitled to a
minimum base salary and shall receive an annual salary increase commensurate with such officer’s performance during the year, as determined by annual
performance evaluations. Our NEOs are also entitled to participate in our Incentive Plan and in any profit sharing, qualified and nonqualified retirement plans
and any health, life, accident, disability insurance, sick leave, supplemental medical reimbursement insurance, or benefit plans or programs as we may choose
to make available now or in the future. Officers are entitled to receive an annual automobile allowance, an allowance for club membership and paid vacation.
In addition, the employment agreements contain provisions providing for severance payments and continuation of benefits under certain circumstances
including termination by us without cause, upon execution of a general release of claims in favor of us. Each employment agreement contains a standard
confidentiality covenant.

Potential Payments Upon Termination Or Change In Control
The following is a discussion of the rights of the NEOs under the Stock Option Plan and the employment agreements following a termination of

employment or change in control.

Stock option plan
Pursuant to the Stock Option Plan, with respect to all options granted prior to August 3, 2009, an executive officer who dies, becomes disabled, or

leaves us for any reason will be eligible to retain all vested stock options (or such options shall be passed to such employee’s estate or personal
representative) and such options shall terminate on the tenth anniversary of the date of grant. Any unvested stock options shall be terminated. With respect to
all stock options granted on or after August 3, 2009, all vested stock options shall terminate on the earliest of (a) the day on which the executive officer is no
longer employed by us due to the termination of such employment for cause, (b) the thirty-first day following the date the executive officer is no longer
employed by us due to the termination of such employment upon notice to us by the executive officer without good reason having been shown, (c) the 366
day following the date the executive officer is no longer employed by us by reason of death, disability, or due to the termination of such employment (i) by
the executive officer for good reason having been shown or (ii) by us for reason other than for cause, or (d) the tenth anniversary of the date of grant. Upon a
sale or liquidity event as more particularly described in the Stock Option Plan, all service-based stock options shall become vested and immediately
exercisable and all performance-based stock options shall become vested and, subject to certain other performance requirements set forth in the Stock Option
Plan, immediately exercisable.
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Employment agreements
Deferred compensation. All contributions made by an executive officer to a deferred compensation account, and all vested portions of our

contributions to such deferred compensation account, shall be disbursed to the executive officer upon termination of employment for any reason. See “—
2009 Nonqualified deferred compensation.”

Resignation. If an executive officer resigns from employment with us, such officer is not eligible for any further payments of salary, bonus, or benefits
and such officer shall only be entitled to receive that compensation which has been earned by the officer through the date of termination.

Involuntary Termination Not for Cause. In the event of involuntary termination of employment other than for Cause (as defined in the employment
agreements), an executive officer would be entitled to 12 months of severance pay at such officer’s then-current base salary, the pro rata portion of the annual
bonus, if any, earned by the officer for the then-current fiscal year, 12 months continuation of such officer’s automobile allowance, and monthly payments for
a period of six months equal to the monthly premium required by such officers to maintain health insurance benefits provided by our group health insurance
plan, in accordance with the requirements of the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985.

Termination for Cause. In the event of termination for Cause, the officer is not eligible for any further payments of salary, bonus, or benefits and shall
be only entitled to receive that compensation which has been earned by the officer through the date of termination.

Termination for good reason. In the event the employee chooses to terminate his or her employment for reasons such as material breach of the
employment agreement by us, relocation of the office where the officer performs his or her duties, assignment to the officer of any duties, authority, or
responsibilities that are materially inconsistent with such officer’s position, authority, duties or responsibilities or other similar actions, such officer shall be
entitled to the same benefits described above under “—Involuntary Termination Not for Cause.”

Death or disability. The benefits to which an officer (or such officer’s estate or representative) would be entitled in the event of death or disability are
as described above under “—Involuntary Termination Not for Cause.” However, the amount of salary paid to any such disabled officer shall be reduced by
any income replacement benefits received from the disability insurance we provide.

Information concerning the potential payments upon a termination of employment or change in control is set forth in tabular form below for each NEO.
Information is provided as if the termination, death, disability or change in control (which includes a “sale” of D&B Holdings (as defined in the Stock Option
Plan) and certain other liquidity events) had occurred as of January 31, 2010 (the last day of fiscal 2009).
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Name   Benefit   Resignation($)  

Termination
W/Out

Cause($)   

Termination
With

Cause($)   

Termination
With Good
Reason($)   

Death/
Disability($)  

Change in
Control ($)

Stephen M. King   Salary   —    600,000  —    600,000  600,000  —  
  Bonus   —    300,000  —    300,000  300,000  —  
  Car   —    10,000  —    10,000  10,000  —  
  H & W Benefits   —    7,248  —    7,248  7,248  —  
  Vacation   —    46,154  —    46,154  46,154  —  
  Deferred Compensation   165,191  165,191  165,191  165,191  176,990  176,990

Brian A. Jenkins   Salary   —    300,000  —    300,000  300,000  —  
  Bonus   —    150,000  —    150,000  150,000  —  
  Car   —    10,000  —    10,000  10,000  —  
  H & W Benefits   —    7,248  —    7,248  7,248  —  
  Vacation   —    23,077  —    23,077  23,077  —  
  Deferred Compensation   71,831  71,831  71,831  71,831  82,882  82,882

Sean Gleason   Salary   —    260,000  —    260,000  260,000  
  Bonus   —    130,000  —    130,000  130,000  
  Car   —    10,000  —    10,000  10,000  
  H & W Benefits   —    7,248  —    7,248  7,248  
  Vacation   —    20,000  —    20,000  20,000  
  Deferred Compensation   —    —    —    —    —    —  

Starlette Johnson   Salary   —    400,000  —    400,000  400,000  —  
  Bonus   —    200,000  —    200,000  200,000  —  
  Car   —    10,000  —    10,000  10,000  —  
  H & W Benefits   —    2,268  —    2,268  2,268  —  
  Vacation   —    30,769  —    30,769  30,769  —  
  Deferred Compensation   6,887  6,887  6,887  6,887  7,946  7,946

Jay L. Tobin   Salary   —    309,000  —    309,000  309,000  —  
  Bonus   —    154,500  —    154,500  154,500  —  
  Car   —    10,000  —    10,000  10,000  —  
  H & W Benefits   —    7,248  —    7,248  7,248  —  
  Vacation   —    23,769  —    23,769  23,769  —  
  Deferred Compensation   97,021  97,021  97,021  97,021  103,813  103,813

 
(1) Accrued and unpaid non-equity incentive compensation payable pursuant to our 2009 Incentive Plan.
 
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER

MATTERS
As of January 31, 2010, 100 shares of our common stock were outstanding. All of our common stock is owned by D&B Holdings. Affiliates of

Wellspring and HBK control approximately 82 percent and 18 percent, respectively, of the outstanding stock of WS Midway.

Equity Compensation Plan Information
The following table sets forth information concerning the shares of common stock that may be issued upon exercise of options under the WS Midway

Stock Option Plan as of January 31, 2010:
 

Plan Category   

Number of
Securities to

be Issued
Upon

Exercise of
Outstanding

Options,
Warrants

and Rights   

Weighted-
Average
Exercise
Price of

Outstanding
Options,
Warrants

and Rights   

Number of
Securities

Remaining
Available for

Future
Issuance

Under Equity
Compensation

Plans
Equity Compensation Plans Approved by Security Holders   18,505.94  $1,059.73  570.52

Equity Compensation Plans Not Approved by Security Holders   —     —    —  

Total   18,505.94  $1,059.73  570.52
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ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
We have entered into an expense reimbursement agreement with an affiliate of Wellspring, pursuant to which the Wellspring affiliate provides general

advice to us in connection with long-term strategic plans, financial management, strategic transactions, and other business matters. The expense
reimbursement agreement provides for an annual expense reimbursement of up to $750 to the Wellspring affiliate. The initial term of the expense
reimbursement agreement will expire in March 2011, and after that date, such agreement will renew automatically on a year-to-year basis unless one party
gives at least 30 days’ prior notice of its intention not to renew. During fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2008, we paid the Wellspring affiliate $750 under the terms of
the expense reimbursement agreement. During fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2008, we expensed approximately $155 and $1,184, respectively, for the third-party
expenses arranged by Wellspring in connection with the potential sale of Dave & Buster’s or the initial public offering of D&B Holdings.

Information about the independence of our non-management directors and the composition of the Audit Committee and Compensation Committee is
set forth in Item 10, “Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance” herein.
 
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Ernst & Young has no direct or indirect interest in the Company. Ernst & Young has been the Company’s independent registered public accounting
firm since 1995. The following table sets forth the fees for professional audit services provided by Ernst & Young for the fiscal years ended January 31, 2010
and February 1, 2009
 

   
Fiscal
2009   

Fiscal
2008

Audit Fees   $643  $ 972
Audit-Related Fees    16   6
Tax Fees    19   36
All Other Fees    —     —  

Total   $678  $1,014
 

Includes fees for services for the audit of our annual financial statements, the reviews of our interim financial statements, implementation of accounting
pronouncements and assistance with SEC filings. In fiscal year 2008, we incurred $320 in fees associated with SEC filings for a potential initial public
offering of equity.
Includes fees for services related to various accounting consultations, including consultations related to the Company’s implementation of Sarbanes-
Oxley Section 404.
Includes fees for services related to tax compliance, preparation and planning services (including U.S. federal, state, local, and foreign returns) and tax
examination assistance.

The Audit Committee has established a policy whereby the outside auditors are required to seek pre-approval on an annual basis of all audit, audit-
related, tax and other services by providing a prior description of the services to be performed and a specific fee estimate for each such service. Individual
engagements anticipated to exceed the pre-approved thresholds must be separately approved by the Audit Committee. For Fiscal 2009, 100 percent of all
audit-related services, tax services and other services were pre-approved by the Audit Committee, which concluded that the provision of such services by
Ernst & Young were compatible with the firm’s independence and the conduct of its auditing function.
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

We have reviewed and discussed with management and Ernst & Young, the independent registered public accounting firm, our audited financial
statements as of and for the year ended January 31, 2010. We have also discussed with Ernst & Young the matters required to be discussed by Statement on
Auditing Standards 61, Communications with Audit Committees, as amended, by the Auditing Standards Board of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accounts.

We have received and reviewed the written disclosures and the letter from Ernst & Young required by applicable requirements of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board regarding Ernst & Young’s communications with the Audit Committee concerning independence, have considered the
compatibility of non-audit services with the firm’s independence, and have discussed with the auditors the firm’s independence.

Based on the reviews and discussions referred to above, we have recommended to the Board of Directors that the financial statements referred to above
be included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 
Daniel Y. Han, Chairman  Greg S. Feldman  Carl M. Stanton
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PART IV
 
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
 

(a) (1) Financial Statements
 See Pages F-1 to F-19 of this Report.

(a) (2) Financial Statement Schedules

 None.

(a) (3) See the Index to Exhibits attached hereto on Page E-1 for a list of all exhibits filed as part of this document.
 

47



Table of Contents

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 

 DAVE & BUSTER’S, INC.,
 a Missouri Corporation

Date: April 14, 2010  By: /s/ Brian A. Jenkins
  Brian A. Jenkins
  Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, we have signed in our indicated capacities on April 14, 2010.
 
   Signature   Title

By: /s/ Stephen M. King   Chief Executive Officer and Director
 Stephen M. King   (Principal Executive Officer)

By: /s/ Brian A. Jenkins   Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
 Brian A. Jenkins   (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

By: /s/ Starlette Johnson   President, Chief Operating Officer and Director
 Starlette Johnson   

By: /s/ Greg S. Feldman   Chairman of the Board
 Greg S. Feldman   

By: /s/ Daniel Y. Han   Director
 Daniel Y. Han   

By: /s/ Carl M. Stanton   Director
 Carl M. Stanton   
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors
Dave & Buster’s, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Dave & Buster’s, Inc. and subsidiaries as of January 31, 2010 and February 1, 2009, and
the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three fiscal years in the period ended January 31,
2010. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged
to perform an audit of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting
as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Dave &
Buster’s, Inc. and subsidiaries at January 31, 2010 and February 1, 2009, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the
three fiscal years in the period ended January 31, 2010, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Dallas Texas
April 15, 2010
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DAVE & BUSTER’S, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share amounts)

 

   
January 31,

2010   
February 1,

2009  
ASSETS    

Current assets:    
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 16,682   $ 8,534  
Inventories    13,782    15,105  
Prepaid expenses    8,347    7,750  
Deferred income taxes    5,308    5,304  
Income tax receivable    51    2,254  
Other current assets    2,616    206  
Total current assets    46,786    39,153  

Property and equipment, net    294,151    296,805  
Tradename    63,000    63,000  
Goodwill    65,857    65,857  
Other assets and deferred charges    13,846    16,121  

Total assets   $483,640   $480,936  

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY    
Current liabilities:    

Current installments of long-term debt (Note 6)   $ 836   $ 500  
Accounts payable    21,414    18,886  
Accrued liabilities    51,239    54,497  
Income taxes payable    1,136    466  
Deferred income taxes    180    —    
Total current liabilities    74,805    74,349  

Deferred income taxes    11,493    17,915  
Deferred occupancy costs    66,615    56,572  
Other liabilities    11,667    10,827  
Long-term debt, less current installments (Note 6)    226,414    229,250  
Commitment and contingencies (Note 11)    
Stockholders’ equity (Note 1):    

Common stock, $0.01 par value, 1,000 authorized; 100 issued and outstanding as of January 31, 2010 and February 1,
2009    —      —    

Preferred stock, 10,000,000 authorized; none issued    —      —    
Paid-in capital    112,069    111,346  
Accumulated comprehensive income (loss)    216    (34) 
Retained earnings (deficit)    (19,639)   (19,289) 
Total stockholders’ equity    92,646    92,023  
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $483,640   $480,936  

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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DAVE & BUSTER’S, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands)

 

   

Fiscal Year
Ended

January 31,
2010   

Fiscal Year
Ended

February 1,
2009   

Fiscal Year
Ended

February 3,
2008  

Food and beverage revenues   $269,973   $284,779   $293,097  
Amusement and other revenues    250,810    248,579    243,175  

Total revenues    520,783    533,358    536,272  
Cost of food and beverage    65,349    70,520    72,493  
Cost of amusement and other    38,788    34,218    34,252  

Total cost of products    104,137    104,738    106,745  
Operating payroll and benefits    132,114    139,508    144,920  
Other store operating expenses    174,685    174,179    171,627  
General and administrative expenses    30,437    34,546    38,999  
Depreciation and amortization expense    53,658    49,652    51,898  
Pre-opening costs    3,881    2,988    1,002  

Total operating costs    498,912    505,611    515,191  
Operating income    21,871    27,747    21,081  

Interest expense, net    22,122    26,177    31,183  
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes    (251)   1,570    (10,102) 

(Benefit) provision for income taxes    99    (45)   (1,261) 
Net income (loss)   $ (350)  $ 1,615   $ (8,841) 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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DAVE & BUSTER’S, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in thousands, except share amounts)

 
   Common Stock   

Paid-In
Capital

  Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income  

 
Retained
Earnings
(Deficit)  

 

Total     Shares  Amount      
Balance, February 4, 2007   100  —    $108,952  $ (184)  $(12,063)  $96,705  
Net loss   —    —     —     —      (8,841)   (8,841) 
Unrealized foreign currency translation gain (net of tax)   —    —     —     1,378    —      1,378  
Comprehensive loss   —    —     —     —      —      (7,463) 
Stock-based compensation   —    —     1,514   —      —      1,514  
Balance, February 3, 2008   100  —     110,466   1,194    (20,904)   90,756  
Net earnings   —    —     —     —      1,615    1,615  
Unrealized foreign currency translation loss (net of tax)   —    —     —     (1,228)   —      (1,228) 
Comprehensive income   —    —     —     —      —      387  
Stock-based compensation   —    —     880   —      —      880  
Balance, February 1, 2009   100  —     111,346   (34)   (19,289)   92,023  
Net loss   —    —     —     —      (350)   (350) 
Unrealized foreign currency Translation gain (net of tax)   —    —     —     250    —      250  
Comprehensive loss   —    —     —     —      —      (100) 
Stock-based compensation   —    —     723   —      —      723  
Balance, January 31, 2009   100  —    $112,069  $ 216   $(19,639)  $92,646  

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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DAVE & BUSTER’S, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

 

   

Fiscal Year
Ended

January 31,
2010   

Fiscal Year
Ended

February 1,
2009   

Fiscal Year
Ended

February 3,
2008  

Cash flows from operating activities:     
Net income (loss)   $ (350)  $ 1,615   $ (8,841) 
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:     
Depreciation and amortization expense    53,658    49,652    51,898  
Deferred income tax    (6,246)   (3,344)   (5,996) 
Stock-based compensation charges    723    880    1,514  
Other, net    1,646    1,180    1,847  
Changes in assets and liabilities:     

Inventories    1,486    (103)   (1,854) 
Prepaid expenses    (570)   333    (1,277) 
Income tax receivable    2,203    (2,254)   —    
Other current assets    (2,167)   5,949    230  
Other assets and deferred charges    675    2,111    974  
Accounts payable    2,524    (3,103)   2,823  
Accrued liabilities    (3,620)   (769)   8,136  
Income taxes payable    671    (3,692)   107  
Deferred occupancy costs    7,683    2,569    502  
Acquisition of minority interest    (102)   —      —    
Other liabilities    840    1,173    510  

Net cash provided by operating activities    59,054    52,197    50,573  
Cash flows from investing activities:     

Capital expenditures    (48,423)   (49,254)   (31,355) 
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment    17    170    456  
Net cash used in investing activities    (48,406)   (49,084)   (30,899) 

Cash flows from financing activities:     
Borrowings under senior credit facility    36,600    24,000    13,000  
Repayments under senior credit facility    (39,100)   (22,625)   (24,000) 
Repayments under senior notes    —      (15,000)   —    
Net cash used in financing activities    (2,500)   (13,625)   (11,000) 

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    8,148    (10,512)   8,674  
Beginning cash and cash equivalents    8,534    19,046    10,372  
Ending cash and cash equivalents   $ 16,682   $ 8,534   $ 19,046  

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:     
Cash paid for income taxes, net of refunds    3,599   $ 9,005   $ 4,388  
Cash paid for interest, net of amounts capitalized    22,932   $ 25,650   $ 26,399  

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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DAVE & BUSTER’S, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of presentation—Dave & Buster’s, Inc., a Missouri corporation, was acquired on March 8, 2006, by Dave & Buster’s Holdings, Inc. (“D&B

Holdings”), formerly known as WS Midway Holdings, Inc., a newly-formed Delaware corporation, through the merger (the “Merger”) of WS Midway
Acquisition Sub, Inc., a newly-formed Missouri corporation and a direct, wholly-owned subsidiary of D&B Holdings, with and into Dave & Buster’s, Inc. with
Dave & Buster’s, Inc. as the surviving corporation. Affiliates of Wellspring Capital Management LLC (“Wellspring”) and HBK Investments L.P. (“HBK”)
control approximately 82 percent and 18 percent, respectively, of the outstanding capital stock of D&B Holdings. D&B Holdings owns no other significant
assets or operations other than all of the common stock of Dave & Buster’s, Inc. Dave & Buster’s, Inc. continues as the same legal entity after the Merger. The
accompanying consolidated statements of operations and cash flows present the results of operations and cash flows of Dave & Buster’s, Inc., and all wholly-
owned subsidiaries. The Merger transactions resulted in a change in ownership of 100 percent of Dave & Buster’s, Inc. outstanding common stock and have
been accounted for in accordance with accounting guidance for business combinations. The purchase price paid in the Merger is allocated to record the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed based on their fair value. References to “Dave & Buster’s,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” are references to Dave &
Buster’s, Inc. and its subsidiaries. All material intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Our one industry segment is the ownership, operation and licensing of high-volume entertainment and dining venues under the names “Dave &
Buster’s,” and “Dave & Buster’s Grand Sports Café.” As of January 31, 2010, there were 55 company-owned locations in the United States and Canada and
one franchise location in Canada.

Our fiscal year ends on the Sunday after the Saturday closest to January 31. All references to Fiscal 2009 relate to the 52-week period ending on
January 31, 2010. All references to Fiscal 2008 relate to the 52-week period ending on February 1, 2009. All references to Fiscal 2007 relate to the 52-week
period ending on February 3, 2008. In the opinion of management, these financial statements contain all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring entries)
necessary to present fairly the financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the periods indicated. All dollar amounts are presented in thousands,
unless otherwise noted, except share amounts.

Use of estimates—The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires us to make certain
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

Cash and cash equivalents—We consider amounts receivable from credit card companies and all highly liquid temporary investments with original
maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Inventories—Inventories are reported at the lower of cost or market determined on a first-in, first-out method. Amusement inventory includes electronic
equipment, stuffed animals and small novelty items used as redemption prizes for certain midway games, as well as supplies needed for midway operations.
Inventories consist of the following:
 

   
January 31,

2010   

February 
1,

2009
Operating store - food and beverage   $ 2,793  $ 2,877
Operating store - amusement    6,821   6,785
Corporate supplies, warehouse and other    4,168   5,443

  $ 13,782  $15,105

Property and equipment—Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Expenditures that substantially increase the useful lives of the property and
equipment are capitalized, whereas costs incurred to maintain the appearance and functionality of such assets are charged to repair and maintenance expense.
Interest costs incurred during construction are capitalized and depreciated based on the estimated useful life of the underlying asset. Interest costs capitalized
during the construction of facilities in fiscal years 2009, 2008, and 2007 were $640, $522, and $151, respectively.

Property and equipment, excluding most games, are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the assets. Games are
generally depreciated on the 150 percent declining-balance method over the estimated useful life of the assets. Depreciation expense totaled $52,058,
$48,052, and $50,298 in fiscal 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively. Reviews are performed regularly to determine whether facts or circumstances exist that
indicate the carrying values of the property and equipment are impaired. We assess the recoverability of property and equipment by comparing the projected
future undiscounted net cash flows associated with these assets to their respective carrying amounts. Impairment, if any, is based on the excess of the carrying
amount over the estimated fair market value of the assets.
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Goodwill and other intangible assets—In accordance with accounting guidance for goodwill and other intangible assets, goodwill and indefinite lived
intangibles, such as tradenames, are not amortized, but are reviewed for impairment at least annually. Indefinite lived intangibles include goodwill in the
amount of $65,857 and tradenames in the amount of $63,000.

We have developed and acquired certain trademarks that are utilized in our business and have been determined to have finite lives. These trademarks
in the amount of $8,000 are amortized over their estimated life of five years. As of January 31, 2010 and February 1, 2009, we had trademarks of $1,723 and
$3,323, respectively, included in other assets and deferred charges. Amortization expense related to trademarks totaled $1,600 each year for fiscal years 2009,
2008, and 2007, respectively. Total estimated amortization expense for future years is currently estimated at $1,600 for 2010 and $123 in 2011.

Deferred financing costs—The Company capitalizes costs incurred in connection with borrowings or establishment of credit facilities. These costs are
included in other assets and deferred charges and are amortized as an adjustment to interest expense over the life of the borrowing or life of the credit facility.
In the case of early debt principal repayments, the Company adjusts the value of the corresponding deferred financing costs with a charge to interest expense,
and similarly adjusts the future amortization expense. The following table details amounts relating to those assets:
 

   
January 31,

2010   
February 1,

2009  
Balance at beginning of year   $ 6,132   $ 8,066  
Write-off during period due to prepayments of principal    —      (429) 
Amortization during period    (1,464)   (1,505) 
Balance at end of year   $ 4,668   $ 6,132  

Scheduled amortization for future years, assuming no further prepayment of principal is as follows:
 

2010   $1,464
2011    1,151
2012    1,139
2013    850
2014    64
Total amortization   $4,668

Income taxes. We use the liability method for recording income taxes, which recognizes the amount of current and deferred taxes payable or refundable
at the date of the financial statements as a result of all events that are recognized in the financial statements and as measured by the provisions of enacted tax
laws. We have adopted accounting guidance for uncertainty in income taxes. This guidance limits the recognition of income tax benefits to those items that
meet the “more likely than not” threshold on the effective date. Initial derecognition amounts are reported as adjustments to retained earnings on the
effective date. We analyzed our tax positions as of February 5, 2007 and determined that the implementation of this guidance had no material impact on our
financial statements.

The calculation of tax liabilities involves significant judgment and evaluation of uncertainties in the interpretation of store tax regulations. As a result,
we have established reserves for taxes that may become payable in future years as a result of audits by tax authorities. Tax reserves are reviewed regularly
pursuant to accounting guidance for uncertainty in income taxes. Tax reserves are adjusted as events occur that affect the potential liability for additional
taxes, such as the expiration of statutes of limitations, conclusion of tax audits, identification of additional exposure based on current calculations,
identification of new issues, or the issuance of statutory or administrative guidance or rendering of a court decision affecting a particular issue. Accordingly,
we may experience significant changes in tax reserves in the future, if or when such events occur.

Deferred tax assets. A deferred income tax asset or liability is established for the expected future consequences resulting from temporary differences in
the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities. As of January 31, 2010, we have recorded a $10,787 valuation allowance against our deferred
tax assets. The valuation allowance was established in accordance with accounting guidance for income taxes. If we generate taxable income in future
periods or if the facts and circumstances on which our estimates and assumptions are based were to change, thereby impacting the likelihood of realizing the
deferred tax assets, judgment would have to be applied in determining the amount of valuation allowance no longer required.

Share-based expense—In December 2006, the members of the board of directors of D&B Holdings approved the adoption of D&B Holdings stock
option plan (the “Stock Option Plan”). The Stock Option Plan allows for the granting to certain of our employees and consultants options to acquire stock in
D&B Holdings. The expense associated with share-based equity awards granted as more fully described in Note 9 have been calculated as required by current
accounting standards related to stock
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compensation. The grant date fair values of the options granted in 2009 have been determined based on a Black-Scholes option pricing model. We
determined that this model yields materially similar values to option pricing models previously used and allows for the application of a uniform set of criteria
across all grants. The expected term of the options is based on the weighted average of anticipated exercise dates. Since we do not have publicly traded
equity securities, the volatility of our options has been estimated using peer group volatility information. The risk-free interest rate is based on the implied
yield on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with a remaining term equivalent to the expected term. We have not paid dividends in the past and do not plan to
pay any dividends in the near future. No options were granted in 2008. The significant assumptions used in determining the underlying fair value of the
weighted-average options granted in fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2007 were as follows:
 
   Fiscal Year 2009 Grants   Fiscal Year 2007 Grants  

   

Series A
Service-
Based

Options   

Series A
Performance

Based
Options   

Series B
Performance-

Based
Options   

Series A
Service
Based

Options   

Series A
Performance-

Based
Options   

Series B
Performance-

Based
Options  

Valuation Model   Black-Scholes  Black-Scholes  Black-Scholes  Black-Scholes   
Monte Carlo
Simulation   

Monte Carlo
Simulation  

Volatility    55.0%   55.0%   55.0%       38.1%   38.1%   38.1% 
Risk free interest rate    1.5%   1.5%   1.4%   4.7%   4.7%   4.7% 
Expected dividend yield    0%   0%   0%   0%   0%   0% 
Expected term    2.7 years    2.7 years    2.8 years    5.25 years    5.25 years    5.25 years  
Calculated value   $ 495.40   $ 495.40   $ 489.40   $ 409.00   $ 236.00   $ 119.00  

Foreign currency translation—The financial statements related to the operations of our Toronto store are prepared in Canadian dollars. Income
statement amounts are translated at average exchange rates for each period, while the assets and liabilities are translated at year-end exchange rates.
Translation adjustments for assets and liabilities are included in shareholders’ equity as a component of comprehensive income.

Revenue recognition—Food and beverage revenues are recorded at point of service. Amusement revenues consist primarily of credits on Power Cards
purchased and used by customers to activate most of the video and redemption games in our midway. Amusement revenues are primarily recognized upon
utilization of these game play credits. We have recognized a liability for the estimated amount of unused game play credits, which we believe our guests will
utilize in the future.

Food and beverage cost of products—Our dependence on a small number of suppliers subjects us to the possible risks of shortages, interruptions and
price fluctuations. We have entered into a long-term contract with U.S. Foodservice, Inc. which provides for the purchasing, warehousing and distributing of a
substantial majority of our food, non-alcoholic beverage and chemical supplies. The unplanned loss of this distributor could adversely affect our business by
disrupting our operations as we seek out and negotiate a new distribution contract. We also have multiple short-term supply contracts with a limited number
of suppliers. If any of these suppliers do not perform adequately or otherwise fail to distribute products or supplies to our stores, we may be unable to replace
the suppliers in a short period of time on acceptable terms, which could increase our costs, cause shortages of food and other items at our stores and cause us
to remove certain items from our menu. We currently do not engage in futures contracts or other financial risk management strategies with respect to potential
price fluctuations in the cost of food and other supplies, which we purchase at prevailing market or contracted prices.

Amusement costs of products—Certain midway games allow guests to earn coupons, which may be redeemed for prizes. The cost of these prizes is
included in the cost of amusement products and is generally recorded when coupons are utilized by the customer by redeeming the coupons for a prize in our
“Winner’s Circle.” Customers may also store the coupon value on a Power Card for future redemption. We have accrued a liability for the estimated amount
of outstanding coupons that will be redeemed in subsequent periods based on tickets outstanding, historic redemption patterns and the estimated redemption
cost of products per ticket.

Related party transaction—We have entered into an expense reimbursement agreement with an affiliate of Wellspring, pursuant to which the
Wellspring affiliate provides general advice to us in connection with long-term strategic plans, financial management, strategic transactions and other
business matters. The expense reimbursement agreement provides for an annual expense reimbursement of up to $750 to the Wellspring affiliate. The
agreement also provides for the dollar-for-dollar reimbursement of certain third-party expenses paid by Wellspring on behalf of the Company. The initial term
of the expense reimbursement agreement will expire in March 2011, and after that date, such agreement will renew automatically on a year-to-year basis
unless one party gives at least 30 days’ prior notice of its intention not to renew. In each fiscal year 2009, 2008 and 2007, we paid the Wellspring affiliate
$750 under the terms of the expense reimbursement agreement. During fiscal 2009, and fiscal 2008, we expensed approximately $155 and $1,184,
respectively, for third-party expenses arranged by Wellspring in connection with the potential sale of Dave & Buster’s or the initial public offering of D&B
Holdings.

Advertising costs—Advertising costs are recorded as an expense in the period in which we incur the costs or the first time the advertising takes place.
Advertising expenses were $26,588, $26,605, and $25,309 for 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively.
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Pre-opening costs—Pre-opening costs include costs associated with the opening and organizing of new stores or conversion of existing stores,
including the cost of feasibility studies, pre-opening rent, training and recruiting and travel costs for employees engaged in such pre-opening activities. All
pre-opening costs are expensed as incurred.

Lease accounting—Rent expense is recorded on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The lease term commences on the date when we take
possession and have the right to control the use of the leased premises. The lease term includes the initial non-cancelable lease term plus any periods covered
by renewal options that we consider reasonably assured of exercising. Construction allowances we receive from the lessor to reimburse us for the cost of
leasehold improvements are recorded as deferred occupancy costs and amortized as a reduction of rent over the term of the lease.

Comprehensive income—Comprehensive income is defined as the change in equity of a business enterprise during a period from transactions and other
events and circumstances from non-owner sources. In addition to net income (loss), unrealized foreign currency translation gain (loss) is included in
comprehensive income. Unrealized translation gains (losses) for fiscal years 2009, 2008, and 2007 were $250, $(1,228), and $1,378, respectively.

Recent accounting pronouncements—In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued new accounting guidance on
business combinations which expands the use of the acquisition method of accounting used in business combinations to all transactions and other events in
which one entity obtains control over one or more other businesses or assets. This new accounting guidance requires measurement at the acquisition date of
the fair value of assets acquired, liabilities assumed and any non-controlling interest. Additionally, the guidance requires that acquisition-related costs,
including restructuring costs, be recognized as expense separately from the acquisition. We adopted the new accounting guidance on February 2, 2009. Refer
to Note 2 for additional discussion.

In December 2007, the FASB issued new accounting guidance on non-controlling interests in consolidated financial statements. This new guidance
applies to the accounting for non-controlling interests (previously referred to as minority interest) in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary.
We adopted the new accounting guidance on February 2, 2009.

In March 2008, the FASB issued new accounting guidance regarding disclosures about derivative instruments and hedging activities. Entities with
instruments subject to this accounting guidance are required to provide qualitative disclosures including (a) how and why derivative instruments are used,
(b) how derivative instruments and related hedge items are accounted for under this accounting guidance, and its related interpretations, and (c) how
derivative instruments and related hedged items affect an entity’s financial position, financial performance, and cash flows. Additionally, under this
accounting guidance, entities must disclose the fair values of derivative instruments and their gains and losses in a tabular format that identifies the location
of derivative positions and the effect of their use in an entity’s financial statements. Effective February 2, 2009, we adopted the new guidance. The new
disclosure requirements are presented in Note 6.

In April 2009, the FASB issued new accounting guidance on interim disclosures about fair value of financial instruments. This new accounting
guidance was effective for our reporting periods beginning with our August 2, 2009 interim financial statements. The new accounting guidance expanded the
previous disclosure requirements to require disclosure of the fair value of financial instruments in interim reporting periods. We implemented this guidance
during the second quarter of fiscal 2009 and have included the required disclosures within these financial statements. See additional discussion related to
recent prounouncements on fair value and derivative instruments in Note 3 and Note 6, respectively.

In May 2009, the FASB issued new accounting guidance on subsequent events. This new guidance establishes general standards of accounting for, and
disclosure of, events that occur after the balance sheet date but before financial statements are issued or are available to be issued. This new accounting
guidance is effective for interim or annual periods ending after June 15, 2009 and was implemented by the Company during the second quarter of fiscal
2009. We performed a review for subsequent events through the date of this report. No recognized or non-recognized subsequent events were noted.

In June 2009, the FASB issued new accounting guidance on the FASB Accounting Standards Codification (“Codification”) and the hierarchy of
generally accepted accounting principles, which establishes the Codification as the source of authoritative accounting principles recognized by the FASB to
be applied in the preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). This new guidance explicitly
recognized rules and interpretive releases of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) under federal securities laws as authoritative GAAP for SEC
registrants. The new accounting guidance is effective for financial statements issued for interim and annual reporting periods ending after September 15,
2009. The adoption of this new guidance did not have an impact on our consolidated financial statements.
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Note 2: Acquisition of Limited Partnership
Effective June 30, 2009, we acquired the 49.9% limited partner interest in a limited partnership which owns a Jillian’s store in the Discover Mills Mall

near Atlanta, Georgia. Prior to our June 30, 2009 acquisition, we owned a 50.1% general partner interest in the limited partnership. Historically, we accounted
for our ownership of the general partnership interest using the equity method due to the substantive participative rights of the limited partner in the
operations of the partnership.

The acquisition date fair value of the consideration given for the limited partner interest was $1,860 and consisted of an agreement to extend the
underlying premises lease by an additional thirty-two months. Under the terms of the extended lease we also agreed to convert the Jillian’s operations to the
“Dave & Buster’s” trade name by January 30, 2010. The Company completed the conversion of the store operations to Dave & Buster’s on November 12,
2009.

The acquisition of the limited partner interest was accounted for in accordance with accounting guidance for business combinations and, accordingly,
resulted in the recognition of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed at the June 30, 2009 fair values as summarized below:
 

   Fair Value
Assets:   
Current asset   $ 1,030
Property and equipment, net    2,185
Total assets   $ 3,215
Liabilities:   
Current liabilities   $ 498
Deferred occupancy costs    2,360
Total liabilities   $ 2,858

The acquisition resulted in a gain of approximately $357, which is included as a component of Other store operating expenses in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations.

Note 3: Fair Value
In September 2006, the FASB issued new accounting guidance, which establishes a framework for measuring fair value and requires enhanced

disclosures about fair value measurements. The new accounting guidance, which we adopted February 4, 2008, requires companies to disclose the fair value
of their financial instruments according to a three-level fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value. This guidance requires
companies to provide additional disclosures based on that hierarchy. The three-levels of inputs used to measure fair value are as follows: 1) defined as
observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities as of the reporting date, 2) defined as pricing inputs other than
quoted prices in active markets included in level 1, which are either directly or indirectly observable as of the reporting date, 3) defined as pricing inputs that
are generally less observable from objective sources. In February 2008, the FASB issued new accounting guidance, which delayed the effective date of
previously issued accounting guidance on fair value measurements for all non-financial assets and liabilities, except those that are recognized or disclosed at
fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis until January 1, 2009. Effective February 2, 2009, we adopted this guidance and the required
disclosure relating to our interest rate swap contracts is presented below.

In February 2007, the FASB issued accounting guidance that permits entities to report many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value.
If the fair value option is elected, unrealized gains and losses will be recognized in earnings at each subsequent reporting date. Effective February 4, 2008, we
adopted this guidance. We did not elect to measure any additional financial assets or liabilities at fair value that were not already measured at fair value under
existing standards. Therefore, the adoption of this standard did not have an impact on our consolidated financial statements or results of operations.

As discussed more fully in Note 6, the fair value of our interest rate swap contracts is determined by third parties by means of a mathematical model that
calculates the present value of the anticipated cash flows from the transaction using mid-market prices and other economic data and assumptions, or by means
of pricing indications from one or more other dealers selected at their discretion.
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The following table presents our financial assets and liabilities as of January 31, 2010 that were measured at fair value on a recurring basis:
 

   Fair Value Measurements
   Level 1  Level 2   Level 3
Liabilities:       

Interest rate swap contracts   —    $2,114  —  

Note 4: Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consist of the following:

 

   
Estimated Depreciable

Lives (In Years)   
January 31,

2010   
February 1,

2009  
Land   —    $ 385   $ 385  
Buildings

  
Shorter of 40

or ground lease term   
 16,356  

 
 16,114  

Leasehold and building improvements
  

Shorter of 20 or lease
term    280,629    260,240  

Furniture, fixtures and equipment   5-10    100,519    87,806  
Games   5    68,391    62,307  
Construction in progress   —     16,552    8,806  

Total cost      482,832    435,658  
Less accumulated depreciation      (188,681)   (138,853) 

Property and equipment, net     $ 294,151   $ 296,805  

Note 5: Accrued Liabilities
Accrued liabilities consist of the following:

 

   
January 31,

2010   
February 1,

2009
Compensation and benefits   $ 11,698  $ 10,271
Interest    9,305   11,279
Deferred amusement revenue    8,076   7,609
Amusement redemption liability    4,175   3,627
Deferred gift card revenue    3,729   3,930
Sales and use taxes    2,767   4,103
Accrued severance    344   2,104
Customer deposits    1,434   1,706
Property taxes    2,683   1,758
Other    7,028   8,110

Total accrued liabilities   $ 51,239  $ 54,497

Note 6: Long-Term Debt
Long-term debt consisted of the following:

 

   
January 31,

2010   
February 1,

2009
Senior credit facility—revolving   $ —    $ 2,000
Senior credit facility—term    67,250   67,750
Senior notes    160,000   160,000

   227,250   229,750
Less current installments    836   500
Long-term debt, less current installments   $226,414  $229,250

Senior Credit Facility—In connection with the Merger, we terminated our previous credit facility and entered into a new senior secured credit facility
(“senior credit facility”) that (a) provides a $100,000 term loan facility ($50,000 of the term loan facility was available as of the date of the Merger, and
$50,000 was available on a delayed draw basis and was borrowed on August 15, 2006)
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with a maturity of seven years from the closing date of the Merger and (b) provides a $60,000 revolving credit facility with a maturity of five years from the
closing date of the Merger. The $60,000 revolving credit facility includes (i) a $20,000 letter of credit sub-facility, (ii) a $5,000 swingline sub-facility and
(iii) a $5,000 (in U.S. Dollar equivalent) sub-facility available in Canadian dollars to our Canadian subsidiary. The revolving credit facility is used to provide
financing for working capital and general corporate purposes. As of January 31, 2010, in addition to the borrowings indicated above, we had $7,641 in letters
of credit outstanding.

The interest rates per annum applicable to loans, other than swingline loans, under the senior credit facility are, at our option, equal to, either a base
rate (or, in the case of the Canadian revolving credit facility, a Canadian prime rate) or a Eurodollar rate (or, in the case of the Canadian revolving credit
facility, a Canadian cost of funds rate) for one-, two-, three- or six-month (or, in the case of the Canadian revolving credit facility, 30, 60, 90 or 180-day)
interest periods chosen by us, in each case, plus an applicable margin percentage. Swingline loans bear interest at the base rate plus the applicable margin.
The weighted average rate of interest on borrowings under our senior credit facility was 6.82 percent at January 31, 2010.

Our senior credit facility requires compliance with financial covenants including a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio test and a maximum leverage
ratio test. We are required to maintain a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.20:1.00 and a maximum leverage ratio of 3.75:1.00 until the fourth quarter
of fiscal year 2010, at which time the maximum leverage ratio decreases to 3.50:1.00. In addition, our senior credit facility includes negative covenants
restricting or limiting the ability of D&B Holdings and its subsidiaries to, among other things, incur additional indebtedness, make capital expenditures,
make distributions or payments to affiliates outside the normal course of business and sell or acquire assets. Virtually all of our assets are pledged as collateral
for the senior credit facility.

The senior credit facility also contains certain customary representations and warranties, affirmative covenants and events of default, including
payment defaults, breaches of representations and warranties, covenant defaults, cross-defaults and cross-acceleration to certain indebtedness, certain events
of bankruptcy, certain events under ERISA, material judgments, actual or asserted failures of any guarantee or security document supporting the senior credit
facility to be in full force and effect and a change of control. If an event of default occurs, the lenders under the senior credit facility would be entitled to take
various actions, including acceleration of amounts due under the senior credit facility and all actions permitted to be taken by a secured creditor.

Derivative instrument—In March 2008, the FASB issued new accounting guidance regarding disclosures about derivative instruments and hedging
activities. Entities with instruments subject to this accounting guidance are required to provide qualitative disclosures including (a) how and why derivative
instruments are used, (b) how derivative instruments and related hedge items are accounted for under this accounting guidance, and its related interpretations,
and (c) how derivative instruments and related hedged items affect an entity’s financial position, financial performance, and cash flows. Additionally, under
this accounting guidance, entities must disclose the fair values of derivative instruments and their gains and losses in a tabular format that identifies the
location of derivative positions and the effect of their use in an entity’s financial statements. Effective February 2, 2009, we adopted the new guidance. The
new disclosure requirements are presented in Note 6.

At January 31, 2010, we held two interest rate swap contracts that expire in 2011. The interest rate swaps are utilized to change a portion of the variable
rate debt on our senior credit facility to fixed rate debt. Pursuant to the swap contracts, the interest rate on notional amounts aggregating $57,400 at
January 31, 2010 is fixed at 5.31 percent plus applicable margin. The notional amounts decline ratably over the term of the contracts. The contracts have not
been designated as hedges and adjustments to mark the instruments to their fair value are recorded as interest income/expense.

The fair value and balance sheet location of our derivative instrument is as follows:
 

Derivatives not designated
as hedging instruments

  Liability Derivative
  January 31, 2010   February 1, 2009

  
Balance Sheet

Location   Fair Value  
Balance Sheet

Location   Fair Value
Interest rate swap contracts   Accrued liabilities  $ 2,114  Accrued liabilities  $ 3,981

The effect of our derivative instrument on our consolidated statements of operations is as follows:
 

   Location of Gain
(Loss) Recognized In
Income on  Derivative

  
Amount of Gain (Loss) Recognized

In Income on Derivative  
Derivative not designated
as hedging instruments     

Fiscal Year Ended
January 31, 2010   

Fiscal Year Ended
February 1, 2009  

Interest rate swap contracts   Interest expense, net  $ 1,992  $ (171) 
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Senior notes—In connection with the Merger, on March 8, 2006, Dave & Buster’s closed a placement of $175,000 aggregate principal amount of 11.25
percent senior notes (“notes”). On September 22, 2006, Dave & Buster’s completed an exchange with the holders of the senior notes pursuant to which the
previously existing notes (sold in March 2006 pursuant to Rule 144A and Regulation S of the Securities Act, as amended) were exchanged for an equal
amount of newly issued senior notes, which have been registered under the Securities Act. The senior notes are general unsecured, unsubordinated
obligations of ours and mature on March 15, 2014. Interest on the senior notes compounds semi-annually and accrues at the rate of 11.25 percent per annum.
In September 2008, we retired notes with a principal amount of $15,000. On or after March 15, 2010, we may redeem all, or from time-to-time, a part of the
senior notes upon not less than 30 nor more than 60 days notice, at a redemption price of 105.625 percent (expressed as a percentage of principal amount)
plus accrued and unpaid interest on the senior notes. As of January 31, 2010, our $160,000 of senior notes had an approximate fair value of $167,000, based
on quoted market prices.

The senior notes restrict our ability to incur indebtedness, outside of the senior credit facility, unless the consolidated coverage ratio exceeds 2.00:1.00
or other financial and operational requirements are met. The senior notes are guaranteed by the domestic subsidiaries of Dave & Buster’s. The subsidiaries’
guarantee of the senior notes is full and unconditional and joint and several. Additionally, the terms of the senior notes restrict our ability to make certain
payments to affiliated entities.

Debt obligations—The following table sets forth our future debt payment obligations as of January 31, 2010 (excluding repayment obligations under
the revolving portion of our senior credit facility, which expires on March 8, 2011):
 

   

Debt Outstanding
at January 31,

2010
1 year or less   $ 836
2 years    982
3 years    49,135
4 years    16,297
5 years    160,000
Thereafter    —  

Total future payments   $ 227,250

The following table sets forth our recorded interest expense, net:
 

   

Fiscal Year
Ended

January 31,
2010   

Fiscal Year
Ended

February 1,
2009   

Fiscal Year
Ended

February 3,
2008  

Gross interest expense   $ 23,078   $ 27,221   $ 31,830  
Capitalized interest    (640)   (522)   (151) 
Interest income    (316)   (522)   (496) 

Total interest expense, net   $ 22,122   $ 26,177   $ 31,183  

Note 7: Income Taxes
The provision (benefit) for income taxes is as follows:

 

   

Fiscal Year
Ended

January 31,
2010   

Fiscal Year
Ended

February 1,
2009   

Fiscal Year
Ended

February 3,
2008  

Current expense     
Federal   $ 3,219   $ 3,611   $ 2,962  
Foreign    244    (237)   —    
State and local    2,883    305    1,772  

Deferred expense (benefit)    (6,247)   (3,724)   (5,995) 
Total provision (benefit) for income taxes   $ 99   $ (45)  $ (1,261) 

Significant components of the deferred tax liabilities and assets in the consolidated balance sheets are as follows:
 

   
January 31,

2010   
February 1,

2009
Deferred tax liabilities:     
Trademark/trade name   $ 22,236  $ 22,477
Prepaid expenses    552   454
Other    695   —  

Total deferred tax liabilities   $ 23,483  $ 22,931
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January 31,

2010   
February 1,

2009  
Deferred tax assets:    
Property and equipment   $ 4,672   $ 70  
Leasing transactions    5,064    3,423  
Worker’s compensation and general liability insurance    3,223    3,182  
Smallware supplies    745    751  
Amusement redemption liability    4,331    3,870  
Legal    41    351  
Deferred compensation    1,383    1,083  
Interest rate swap expense    822    1,571  
Accruals    1,209    —    
Tax credit carryovers    55    57  
State net operating loss carryovers    4,845    5,134  
Indirect benefit of unrecognized tax benefits    707    —    
Other    808    638  

Total deferred tax assets    27,905    20,130  
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets - US    (10,401)   (9,568) 
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets - Canada    (386)   (242) 

Total deferred tax assets net of valuation allowance    17,118    10,320  
Net deferred tax liability   $ 6,365   $ 12,611  

At January 31, 2010, we had a $10,787 valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets. The valuation allowance was established in accordance
with accounting guidance for income taxes. Primarily as a result of our experiencing cumulative losses before income taxes for the three-year period ending
January 31, 2010, we could not conclude that it is more likely than not that our deferred tax asset will be fully realized. The ultimate realization of our
deferred tax assets is dependent on the generation of future taxable income during periods in which temporary differences become deductible.

As of January 31, 2010, we had no federal tax credit carryforwards for income tax purposes. There is a 20-year carryforward on general business credits.

The State of Texas has enacted legislation which established a tax based on taxable margin. As a result of the legislation and in accordance with
accounting guidance for income taxes, we recorded an income tax expense of $222 for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2010.

We currently anticipate that approximately $1,395 of unrecognized tax benefits will be settled through federal and state audits or will be recognized as
a result of the expiration of statute of limitations during fiscal 2010. Future recognition of potential interest or penalties, if any, will be recorded as a
component of income tax expense. Because of the impact of deferred tax accounting, $1,809 of unrecognized tax benefits, if recognized, would affect the
effective tax rate.

We file income tax returns, which are periodically audited by various federal, state and foreign jurisdictions. We are generally no longer subject to
federal, state, or foreign income tax examinations for years prior to 2005.
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The Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) commenced an examination of the Company’s U.S. income tax returns for 2006 and 2007 in the fourth quarter of
2008 that is anticipated to be completed by the end of 2010. As of January 31, 2010, the IRS has proposed certain adjustments to the Company’s
depreciation and intercompany interest tax positions. Management is currently evaluating those proposed adjustments to determine if it agrees, but if
accepted, the Company does not anticipate the adjustments would result in a material change to its financial position. However, the Company anticipates
that it is reasonably possible that an additional payment of approximately $300 will be made by the end of 2010. The change in unrecognized tax benefits
excluding interest, penalties and related income tax benefits, for the years ended January 31, 2010 and February 1, 2009 were as follows:
 

   

Fiscal  Year
Ended

January 31,
2010   

Fiscal  Year
Ended

February 1,
2009  

Balance at beginning of year   $ 2,242   $ 2,338  
Additions for tax positions of prior years    366    397  
Reductions for statute of limitations lapse    (370)   (471) 
Reductions for tax positions of prior years    —      (22) 
Settlements    (39)   —    
Balance at end of year   $ 2,199   $ 2,242  

As of January 31, 2010, the accrued interest and penalties on the unrecognized tax benefits were $856 and $144, respectively, excluding any related
income tax benefits. As of February 1, 2009, the accrued interest and penalties on the unrecognized tax benefits were $696 and $154, respectively, excluding
any related income tax benefits. The $160 increase in accrued interest is primarily related to the accrual of interest during Fiscal 2009 for uncertain tax
positions established at the beginning of the fiscal year as well as tax positions added in Fiscal 2009. The Company recognizes interest accrued related to the
unrecognized tax benefits and penalties as a component of the provision for income taxes recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The reconciliation of the federal statutory rate to the effective income tax rate follows:
 

   

Fiscal Year
Ended

January 31,
2010   

Fiscal Year
Ended

February 1,
2009   

Fiscal Year
Ended

February 3,
2008  

Federal corporate statutory rate   35.0%  35.0%  35.0% 
State and local income taxes, net of federal income tax benefit   (545.7)%  (13.5)%  (7.8)% 
Foreign taxes   (129.5)%  (8.6)%  (0.8)% 
Nondeductible expenses   (327.4)%  49.7%  4.7% 
Tax credits   941.0%  (141.0)%  19.4% 
Valuation allowance   (331.0)%  67.8%  (33.4)% 
Change in reserve   (100.7)%  13.9%  (10.6)% 
Other   418.9%  (6.2)%  6.0% 

Effective tax rate   (39.4)%  (2.9)%  12.5% 

Note 8: Leases
We lease certain property and equipment under various non-cancelable capital and operating leases. Some of the leases include options for renewal or

extension on various terms. Most of the leases require us to pay property taxes, insurance and maintenance of the leased assets. Certain leases also have
provisions for additional percentage rentals based on revenues. For fiscal 2009, 2008, and 2007, rent expense for operating leases was $44,143, $41,771, and
$40,634, respectively, including contingent rentals of $1,475, $707, and $1,121, respectively. At January 31, 2010 future minimum lease payments,
including any periods covered by renewal options we are reasonably assured of exercising (including the sale/leaseback transactions described below), are:
 

2010   2011   2012   2013   2014   Thereafter   Total

$45,950   $45,588   $44,757   $43,875   $44,087   $244,093   $468,350
During 2000 and 2001, we completed the sale/leaseback of three stores and the corporate headquarters. Cash proceeds of $24,774 were received along

with twenty-year notes aggregating $6,750. The notes bear interest of 7 percent to 7.5 percent. At the end of fiscal years 2009, 2008 and 2007, the aggregate
balance of the notes receivable due from the lessors under the sale/leaseback agreements was $3,908, $4,105, and $4,281, respectively. Future minimum
principal and interest payments due to us under these notes are as follows:
 

2010   2011   2012   2013   2014   Thereafter   Total

$529   $489   $489   $489   $489   $3,380   $5,865

Note 9: Common Stock
In December 2006, the members of the board of directors of D&B Holdings approved the adoption of the D&B Holdings stock option plan (the “Stock

Option Plan”). The Stock Option Plan allows for the granting to certain of our employees and consultants options to acquire stock in D&B Holdings that are
subject to either time-based vesting or performance-based vesting.
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Options granted under the Stock Option Plan terminate on the ten-year anniversary of the grants. Termination dates for the various grants outstanding as of
January 31, 2010 are a follows:
 

Fiscal Year
of Grant   

Options Outstanding at
January 31, 2010   

Termination
Date

2006   15,262.93  March 8, 2016
2007   1,515.52  May 11, 2017
2009   773.66  April 22, 2019
2009   953.83  October 30, 2019

The various options provided for in the Stock Option Plan are as follows:

Series A Service-based Options
These options contain a service-based (or time-based) vesting provision, whereby the options will vest in five equal amounts. Upon sale of the
Company or completion of the initial public offering, all service-based options will fully vest.

Series A Performance Options
These options contain a performance-based vesting provision, whereby the options will vest if Wellspring earns a 15 percent internal rate of return
(“IRR”) on its investment in the Company at the time it sells such investment. If the 15 percent IRR is not achieved upon sale, then the value of the
interests of the optionees will be reduced by an amount necessary to increase the IRR to 15 percent. In the event that no sale or liquidity event occurs
by March 8, 2011, a third party valuation will take place for purposes of determining whether the 15 percent IRR has been achieved in order to
establish vesting of these options.

Series B Performance Options
These options contain a similar performance-based vesting provision, whereby the options will vest if Wellspring earns a 25 percent IRR on its
investment in the Company at the time it sells such investment. If the 25 percent IRR is not achieved upon sale, the value of the interests of the
optionees will be reduced by an amount necessary to increase the IRR to 25 percent. These options do not contain a provision relating to a third party
valuation, and therefore vest only upon a liquidity event. Upon the completion of the initial public offering, all performance-based options will fully
vest.

Transactions during fiscal years 2009 and 2008 under the Stock Option Plan were as follows:
 
   January 31, 2010

   

Series A
Services-

Based Options  

Weighted
Average
Exercise 

Price   

Series A
Performance

Based Options  

Weighted
Average
Exercise 

Price   

Series B
Performance

Based Options  

Weighted
Average
Exercise 

Price
Options outstanding at beginning of year   5,645.21  $1,004.07  5,404.98  $ 1,004.25  6,712.11  $1,003.32
Granted   510.48   1,613.11  510.47   1,613.11  706.54   1.582.06
Forfeited   180.16   1,000.00  450.42   1,000.00  353.27   1,000.00
Options outstanding at end of year   5,975.52   1,056.22  5,465.05   1,617.36  7,065.38   1,585.37
Options exercisable at end of year   3,381.12  $ 1002.72  —    $ —    —    $ —  

   February 1, 2009

   

Series A
Services-

Based Options  

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price   

Series A
Performance

Based Options  

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price   

Series B
Performance

Based Options  

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price
Options outstanding at beginning of year   6,005.54  $1,003.82  6,005.54  $ 1,003.82  7,065.38  $1,003.15
Granted   —     —    —     —    —     —  
Forfeited   360.33   1,000.00  600.56   1,000.00  353.27   1,000.00
Options outstanding at end of year   5,645.21   1,004.07  5,404.98   1,004.25  6,712.11   1,003.32
Options exercisable at end of year   2,300.12  $1,002.00  —    $ —    —    $ —  

We recorded share-based compensation expense related to our stock option plan of $723, $880, and $1,514 in fiscal 2009, 2008, and 2007,
respectively. The unrecognized expense related to our stock option plan totaled approximately $1,504 as of January 31, 2010 and will be expensed over a
weighted average 1.4 years. The weighted average grant date fair value per option granted in 2009 and 2007 was $493 and $256, respectively. The average
remaining term for all options outstanding at January 31, 2010 is 6.5 years.
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In the event that vesting of the unvested options is accelerated for any reason, the remaining unamortized share-based compensation would be
accelerated. In addition, assumptions made regarding forfeitures in determining the remaining unamortized share-based compensation would be re-evaluated
to determine if additional share-based compensation expense would be required for any changes in the underlying assumptions.

Note 10: Employee Benefit Plan
We sponsor a plan to provide retirement benefits under the provisions of Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code (the “401(k) Plan”) for all

employees who have completed a specified term of service. Our contributions may range from 0 percent to 100 percent of employee contributions, up to a
maximum of 6 percent of eligible employee compensation, as defined. Employees may elect to contribute up to 50 percent of their eligible compensation on
a pretax basis. Benefits under the 401(k) Plan are limited to the assets of the 401(k) Plan. Our contributions to the 401(k) plan were $260, $283, and $269 for
fiscal 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively.

Note 11: Contingencies
We are subject to certain legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of its business. In the opinion of management, based upon

consultation with legal counsel, the amount of ultimate liability with respect to such legal proceedings and claims will not materially affect the consolidated
results of our operations or our financial condition.

Note 12: Condensed Consolidating Financial Information
The senior notes are guaranteed on a senior basis by all domestic subsidiaries of the Company. The subsidiaries’ guarantee of the senior notes are full

and unconditional and joint and several.

The accompanying condensed consolidating financial information have been prepared and presented pursuant to SEC Regulation S-X Rule 3-10
“Financial statements of guarantors and issuers of guaranteed securities registered or being registered.” No other condensed consolidating financial
statements are presented herein. The results of operations and cash flows from operating activities from the non-guarantor subsidiary were $(468) and $701,
respectively, for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2010 and $1,071 and $(3,170), respectively for the fiscal year ended February 1, 2009. There are no
restrictions on cash distributions from the non-guarantor subsidiary.

January 31, 2010:
 

   

Issuer and
Subsidiary
Guarantors   

Subsidiary
Non-Guarantors  

Consolidating
Adjustments   

Dave & Buster’s
Inc.

Assets        
Current assets   $ 44,692  $ 2,094  $ —     $ 46,786
Property and equipment, net    289,817   4,334   —      294,151
Tradename    63,000   —     —      63,000
Goodwill    65,857   —     —      65,857
Investment in sub    3,755   —     (3,755)   —  
Other assets and deferred charges    13,773   73   —      13,846

Total assets   $480,894  $ 6,501  $ (3,755)  $ 483,640
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Issuer and
Subsidiary
Guarantors   

Subsidiary
Non-Guarantors  

Consolidating
Adjustments   

Dave & Buster’s
Inc.

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity        
Current liabilities   $ 72,285  $ 2,520  $ —     $ 74,805
Deferred income taxes    11,493   —     —      11,493
Deferred occupancy costs    66,389   226   —      66,615
Other liabilities    11,667   —     —      11,667
Long-term debt, less current installments (Note 6)    226,414   —     —      226,414
Stockholders’ equity    92,646   3,755   (3,755)   92,646
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $480,894  $ 6,501  $ (3,755)  $ 483,640

February 1, 2009:
 

   

Issuer and
Subsidiary
Guarantors   

Subsidiary
Non-Guarantors  

Consolidating
Adjustments   

Dave & Buster’s
Inc.

Assets        
Current assets   $ 38,086  $ 1,067  $ —     $ 39,153
Property and equipment, net    292,207   4,598   —      296,805
Tradename    63,000   —     —      63,000
Goodwill    65,857   —     —      65,857
Investment in sub    3,454   —     (3,454)   —  
Other assets and deferred charges    16,045   76   —      16,121

Total assets   $478,649  $ 5,741  $ (3,454)  $ 480,936

   

Issuer and
Subsidiary
Guarantors   

Subsidiary
Non-Guarantors  

Consolidating
Adjustments   

Dave & Buster’s
Inc.

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity        
Current liabilities   $ 72,212  $ 2,137  $ —     $ 74,349
Deferred income taxes    17,915   —     —      17,915
Deferred occupancy costs    56,422   150   —      56,572
Other liabilities    10,827   —     —      10,827
Long-term debt, less current installments (Note 6)    229,250   —     —      229,250
Stockholders’ equity    92,023   3,454   (3,454)   92,023
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $478,649  $ 5,741  $ (3,454)  $ 480,936

Note 13: Quarterly Financial Information (unaudited)
 

   Fiscal Year Ended January 31, 2010  

   
First Quarter

5/3/2009   
Second Quarter

8/2/2009   
Third Quarter

11/1/2009   
Fourth Quarter

1/31/2010  
Total revenues   $ 138,426  $ 131,527   $ 117,185   $ 133,645  
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes    7,502   (1,415)   (10,008)   3,670  
Net income (loss)    5,167   63    (5,490)   (90) 

   Fiscal Year Ended February 1, 2009  

   
First Quarter

5/4/2008   
Second Quarter

8/3/2008   
Third Quarter

11/2/2008   
Fourth Quarter

2/1/2009  
              
Total revenues   $ 142,463  $ 136,238   $ 119,739   $ 134,918  
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes    7,968   1,158    (9,299)   1,743  
Net income (loss)    5,010   970    (5,726)   1,361  
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During 2009, we opened three locations: Richmond, Virginia in the first quarter, Indianapolis, Indiana in the second quarter and Columbus, Ohio in the
third quarter. In 2008, we opened three locations: Plymouth Meeting, Pennsylvania in the second quarter and Arlington, Texas and Tulsa, Oklahoma in the
fourth quarter. Pre-opening costs incurred in fiscal 2009 were $1,146, $1,052, $983, and $700 in the first, second, third and fourth quarters, respectively. Pre-
opening costs incurred in fiscal 2008 were $282, $960, $625, and $1,121 in the first, second, third and fourth quarters, respectively.
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Exhibit 10.3

WS MIDWAY HOLDINGS, INC.
STOCK OPTION PLAN

Section 1. Purpose

The Plan authorizes the Committee to provide persons or entities that are providing, or have agreed to provide, services to the Company or its
Affiliates, who are in a position to contribute to the long-term success of the Company or its Affiliates, with Options to acquire Shares. The Company believes
that this incentive program will cause those persons to increase their interest in the welfare of the Company and its Affiliates, and aid in attracting, retaining
and motivating persons of outstanding ability.

Section 2. Definitions

Capitalized terms used herein shall have the meanings set forth in this Section.

(a) “Affiliate” shall mean any person or entity that, either directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, (i) controls the Company, or (ii) is
controlled by the Company or a person described in clause (i).

(b) “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

(c) “Committee” shall mean the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company.

(d) “Company” shall mean WS Midway Holdings, Inc., a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Delaware.

(e) “Employee” shall mean any person or entity that is providing, or has agreed to provide, services to the Company or an Affiliate of the Company,
whether as an employee, director or independent contractor.

(f) “Fair Market Value” of a Share on any given date shall be determined by the Committee, in its discretion, provided, that such value shall not be less
than the fair market value within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code.

(g) “Grantee” shall mean an Employee granted an Option under the Plan.

(h) “ISO” shall mean any Option or portion thereof that meets the requirements of an incentive stock option under Section 422 of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended.

(i) “Nonqualified Option” shall mean any Option or portion thereof that is not an ISO.

(j) “Option Agreement” shall mean a written agreement between the Company and the Grantee, evidencing the grant of an Option hereunder and
containing such terms and conditions, not inconsistent with the express provisions of the Plan, as the Committee shall approve.

(k) “Options” shall refer to Series A Options and Series B Options issued under and subject to the Plan.

(l) “Performance-Based Vesting” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.

(m) “Plan” shall mean this Option Plan as set forth herein and as amended from time to time.

(n) “Sale of the Company” means the sale of the Company (whether by merger, consolidation, recapitalization, reorganization, sale of securities, sale of
assets or otherwise) in one transaction or a series of related transactions to a person or entity not an affiliate, directly or indirectly, of Wellspring Capital,
pursuant to which such person or entity (together with its affiliates) acquires (i) securities representing at least a majority of the voting power of all securities
of the Company, assuming the conversion, exchange or exercise of all securities convertible, exchangeable or exercisable for or into voting securities, or
(ii) all or substantially all of the Company’s assets on a consolidated basis.

(o) “Series A Options” shall be options issued under and subject to the Plan. One-half of the Series A Options shall be subject to Time-Based Vesting
and one-half of the Series A Options shall be subject to Performance-Based Vesting, as set forth in Section 5.



(p) “Series B Options” shall be options issued under and subject to the Plan. All Series B Options shall be subject to Performance-Based Vesting, as set
forth in Section 5.

(q) “Share” shall mean a share of common stock of the Company.

(r) “Stockholders Agreement” shall mean the Stockholders Agreement, dated as of March 8, 2006, among the Company and its stockholders, as the
same may thereafter be amended from time to time.

(s) “Time-Based Vesting” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.

(t) “Wellspring Capital” means Wellspring Capital Partners III, LP.

(u) “Wellspring IRR” shall equal the discount rate (compounded annually) which causes (i) the present value as of March 8, 2006 of all amounts
received by Wellspring Capital and its affiliates in respect of the sale, exchange or redemption of their Shares, plus any dividends, to equal (ii) the present
value as of March 8, 2006 of all equity investments in the Company made by Wellspring Capital and its affiliates.

(v) “Wellspring Liquidity Event” means a sale, exchange or redemption of substantially all Shares held by Wellspring Capital and its affiliates
pursuant to which Wellspring Capital and its affiliates receive cash in respect of such Shares.

Section 3. Shares Available under the Plan

Subject to the provisions of Section 7, the total number of Shares with respect to which Options may be granted under the Plan shall not exceed
19,076.47, inclusive of both Series A Options and Series B Options. If, prior to exercise, any Options are forfeited, lapse or terminate for any reason, the
Shares covered thereby may again be available for Option grants under the Plan.

Section 4. Administration of the Plan

(a) Authority of the Committee. The Plan shall be administered by the Committee. The Committee shall have full and final authority to take the
following actions, in each case subject to and consistent with the provisions of the Plan:

(i) to select the Employees to whom Options may be granted;
(ii) to determine the number of Shares subject to each such Option;
(iii) to determine the terms and conditions of any Option granted under the Plan, including the exercise price, conditions relating to exercise, and

termination of the right to exercise;
(iv) to determine the restrictions or conditions related to the delivery, holding and disposition of Shares acquired upon exercise of an Option;
(v) to prescribe the form of each Option Agreement;
(vi) to adopt, amend, suspend, waive and rescind such rules and regulations and appoint such agents as the Committee may deem necessary or

advisable to administer the Plan;
(vii) to correct any defect or supply any omission or reconcile any inconsistency in the Plan and to construe and interpret the Plan and any

Option, Option Agreement or other instrument hereunder; and
(viii) to make all other decisions and determinations as may be required under the terms of the Plan or as the Committee may deem necessary or

advisable for the administration of the Plan.

(b) Manner of Exercise of Committee Authority. Any action of the Committee with respect to the Plan shall be final, conclusive and binding on all
persons, including the Company, its Affiliates, Grantees, and any person claiming any rights under the Plan from or through any Grantee, except to the extent
the Committee may subsequently modify, or take further action not inconsistent with, its prior action. If not specified in the Plan, the time at which the
Committee must or may make any determination shall be determined by the Committee, and any such determination may thereafter be modified by the
Committee (subject to Section 10). The express grant of any specific power to the Committee, and the taking of any action by the Committee, shall not be
construed as limiting any power or authority of the Committee. The Committee may delegate to officers or managers of the Company or any Affiliate of the
Company the authority, subject to such terms as the Committee shall determine, to perform such functions as the Committee may determine, to the extent
permitted under applicable law.



(c) Limitation of Liability. Each member of the Committee shall be entitled to, in good faith, rely or act upon any report or other information furnished
to him by any officer or other employee of the Company or any of its Affiliates, the Company’s independent certified public accountants or any executive
compensation consultant, legal counsel or other professional retained by the Company to assist in the administration of the Plan. To the fullest extent
permitted by applicable law, no member of the Committee, nor any officer or employee of the Company acting on behalf of the Committee, shall be
personally liable for any action, determination or interpretation taken or made in good faith with respect to the Plan, and all members of the Committee and
any officer or employee of the Company acting on its behalf shall, to the extent permitted by law, be fully indemnified and protected by the Company with
respect to any such action, determination or interpretation.

Section 5. Option Terms.

Unless otherwise determined by the Committee and set forth in an Option Agreement, Options granted under the Plan shall contain the following terms
and conditions:

(a) Exercise Price. The exercise price per Share subject to an Option granted to an Employee shall be not less than the Fair Market Value per Share as of
the date the Option is granted.

(b) Vesting. Each Series A Option that is designated as subject to Time-Based Vesting (which shall equal one-half of the total Series A Options) shall
vest ratably over a period of five years, commencing on the date of the Series A Option grant. Vesting as of any vesting date shall be conditional on
continued employment through the vesting date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, upon a Sale of the Company or a Wellspring Liquidity Event, all Series A
Options then outstanding that are subject to Time-Based Vesting shall become fully vested.

As to the portion of each Series A Option that is designated as subject to Performance-Based Vesting (which shall equal one-half of the total Series A
Options), each option shall vest only upon a Sale of the Company or a Wellspring Liquidity Event, to the extent that (i) the Series A Option Grantee is
employed through the date of such Sale of the Company or Wellspring Liquidity Event, and (ii) the Wellspring IRR associated with such Sale of the
Company or Wellspring Liquidity Event exceeds 15%. Series A Options then outstanding shall vest ratably only up to the point that any further vesting (and
assumed exercise) would cause the Wellspring IRR to fall below 15%. In the event that no Sale of the Company or Wellspring Liquidity Event occurs within
five years of the date of this Plan, the Company will be valued by a third party, at the discretion of the Committee, for purposes of determining the implied
Wellspring IRR, which shall then be used to determine vesting of Performance-Based Vesting Series A Options in accordance with this paragraph, as if a
Wellspring Liquidity Event had occurred on the fifth anniversary of the date of this Plan.

Each Series B Option shall vest only upon a Sale of the Company or a Wellspring Liquidity Event, to the extent that (i) the Series B Option Grantee is
employed through the date of such Sale of the Company or Wellspring Liquidity Event, (ii) all Series A Options have or will concurrently become vested,
and (iii) the Wellspring IRR associated with such Sale of the Company or Wellspring Liquidity Event exceeds 25%. Series B Options then outstanding shall
vest ratably only up to the point that any further vesting (and assumed exercise) would cause the Wellspring IRR to fall below 25%.

(c) Termination. Unless otherwise determined by the Committee at the time of grant of such Option, each Option shall terminate on the tenth
anniversary of the date of grant

(d) Tax Status. Each Option granted under the Plan shall be treated as a Nonqualified Option.

Section 6. Exercise of Options

(a) Only the vested portion of any Option may be exercised. A Grantee shall exercise an Option by delivery of written notice to the Company setting
forth the number of Shares with respect to which the Option is to be exercised, together with a check payable to the order of the Company for an amount
equal to the exercise price for such Shares; provided, however, that in lieu of providing such check, the Grantee may utilize a cashless exercise in which the
Grantee will be issued a number of Shares equal to N(FMV-EP)/FMV, where N is the number of Shares issuable upon exercise, FMV is the Fair Market Value
of one Share on the date of exercise and EP is the exercise price of the Option being exercised.

(b) Before the Company issues any Shares to a Grantee pursuant to the exercise of an Option, the Company shall have the right to require that the
Grantee make such provision, or furnish the Company such authorization, necessary or desirable so that the Company may satisfy its obligation under
applicable income tax laws to withhold for income or other taxes due upon or incident to such exercise. The Committee, may, in its discretion, permit such
withholding obligation to be satisfied through the withholding of Shares that would otherwise be delivered upon exercise of the Option.



(c) If a Grantee dies or becomes disabled prior to the termination of an Option without having exercised the Option as to all of the then vested portion
thereof, the Option may be exercised with respect to such vested portion all or a portion by (i) the Grantee’s estate or a person who acquired the right to
exercise the Option by bequest or inheritance or by reason of the death of the Grantee in the event of the Grantee’s death, or (ii) the Grantee or his personal
representative or attorney-in-fact in the event of the Grantee’s disability, subject to the other terms of the Option Agreement and applicable laws, rules and
regulations.

(d) As a condition to the grant of an Option or delivery of any Shares upon exercise of an Option, the Company shall have the right to require that the
Grantee become party to the Stockholders Agreement, or any similar or successor agreement.

Section 7. Adjustment Upon Changes in Capitalization

In the event any recapitalization, forward or reverse split, reorganization, merger, consolidation, spin-off, combination, repurchase, or exchange of
Shares or other securities, any stock dividend or other special and nonrecurring dividend or distribution (whether in the form of cash, securities or other
property), liquidation, dissolution, or other similar transactions or events, affects the Shares such that an adjustment is appropriate in order to prevent dilution
or enlargement of the rights of Grantees under the Plan, then the Committee shall make equitable adjustment in (i) the number and kind of Shares deemed to
be available thereafter for grants of Options under Section 3, (ii) the number and kind of Shares that may be delivered or deliverable in respect of outstanding
Options, or (iii) the exercise price. In addition, the Committee is authorized to make adjustments in the terms and conditions of, and the criteria included in,
Options (including, without limitation, cancellation of Options in exchange for the in-the-money value, if any, of the vested portion thereof, cancellation of
unvested and/or out-of-the-money options, substitution of Options using securities of a successor or other entity, or acceleration of the time that Options
expire) in recognition of unusual or nonrecurring events (including, without limitation, a Sale of the Company, a Wellspring Liquidity Event, or an event
described in the preceding sentence) affecting the Company or any Affiliate of the Company or the financial statements of the Company or any Affiliate of
the Company, or in response to changes in applicable laws, regulations or accounting principles.

Section 8. Restrictions on Issuing Shares.

No Shares shall be issued or transferred to a Grantee under the Plan unless and until all applicable legal requirements have been complied with to the
satisfaction of the Committee. The Committee shall have the right to condition the exercise of any Option on the Grantee’s undertaking in writing to comply
with such restrictions on any subsequent disposition of the Shares issued or transferred thereunder as the Committee shall deem necessary or advisable as a
result of any applicable law, regulation, official interpretation thereof, or any underwriting agreement.

Section 9. General Provisions

(a) Each Option shall be evidenced by an Option Agreement. The terms and provisions of such certificates may vary among Grantees and among
different Options granted to the same Grantee.

(b) The grant of an Option in any year shall not give the Grantee any right to similar grants in future years, any right to continue such Grantee’s
employment relationship with the Company or its Affiliates, or, until such Option is exercised and Shares are issued, any rights as a stockholder of the
Company. All Grantees shall remain subject to discharge to the same extent as if the Plan were not in effect. For purposes of the Plan, a sale of any Affiliate of
the Company that employs or engages a Grantee shall be treated as the termination of such Grantee’s employment or engagement.

(c) No Grantee, and no beneficiary or other persons claiming under or through the Grantee, shall have any right, title or interest by reason of any Option
to any particular assets of the Company or Affiliates of the Company, or any Shares allocated or reserved for the purposes of the Plan or subject to any Option
except as set forth herein. The Company shall not be required to establish any fund or make any other segregation of assets to assure satisfaction of the
Company’s obligations under the Plan.

(d) No Option may be sold, transferred, assigned, pledged or otherwise encumbered, except by will or the laws of descent and distribution, and an
Option shall be exercisable during the Grantee’s lifetime only by the Grantee. Upon a Grantee’s death, the estate or other beneficiary of such deceased
Grantee shall be subject to all the terms and conditions of the Plan and Option Agreement, including the provisions relating to the termination of the right to
exercise the Option.

Section 10. Amendment or Termination

The Committee may, at any time, alter, amend, suspend, discontinue or terminate this Plan; provided, however, that, except as provided in Section 7,
no such action shall adversely affect the rights of Grantees with respect to Options previously granted hereunder.



Section 11. Section 409A.

To the extent this Plan provides for nonqualified deferred compensation, it is intended to satisfy the provisions of Section 409A of the Code and
related regulations. If any provision herein results in the imposition of an excise tax on any Grantee under Section 409A of the Code, any such provision will
be reformed to avoid any such imposition in such manner as the Committee determines is appropriate to comply with Section 409A of the Code.

Section 12. Date of Plan.

This Plan shall be dated as of December 11, 2006.



FIRST AMENDMENT TO STOCK OPTION PLAN

1. Section 5(c) of the Dave & Buster’s Holdings, Inc. Stock Option Plan (the “Plan”) shall be modified in its entirety to provide as follows:
(c) Termination. Unless otherwise determined by the Committee at the time of grant of an Option, each (x) non-vested Option shall terminate on the
earlier of (A) the 10  anniversary of the date of grant or (B) the day on which Grantee is no longer employed or engaged by the Company and (y) each
vested Option shall terminate on the earliest of:

(i) the day on which the Grantee is no longer employed or engaged by the Company or an Affiliate due to the termination of such employment or
engagement for cause.
(ii) the 31  day following the date the Grantee is no longer employed or engaged by the Company or an Affiliate due to the termination of such
employment or engagement upon notice to the Company by the Grantee without good reason having been shown.
(iii) the 366  day following the date the Grantee is no longer employed or engaged by the Company or an Affiliate by reason of death, disability,
or due to the termination of such employment or engagement (x) by the Grantee for good reason having been shown or (y) by the Company for a
reason other than for cause.
(iv) the 10  anniversary of the date of grant.

2. Pursuant to the provisions of Section 10 of the Plan, the modifications contained herein shall not adversely affect the rights of Grantees with respect to
Options previously granted pursuant to the Plan.

3. This First Amendment to Stock Option Plan is entered into as of August 3, 2009.
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Exhibit 12.1

DAVE & BUSTER’S, INC.
COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS

TO FIXED CHARGES
(dollars in thousands, except ratios)

 

   

Fiscal  Year
Ended

January 31, 2010  

Fiscal  Year
Ended

February 1, 2009  

Fiscal  Year
Ended

February 3, 2008 
Income before provision for income taxes   $ (251)  $ 1,570  $ (10,102) 
Add: Total fixed charges (per below)    37,645    40,888   44,932  
Less: Capitalized interest    640    522   151  
Total income before provision for income taxes, plus fixed charges, less capitalized

interest    36,754    41,936   34,679  

Fixed charges:      
Interest expense    22,438    26,787   31,681  
Capitalized interest    640    522   151  
Estimate of interest included in rental expense    14,567    13,579   13,100  
Total fixed charges   $ 37,645   $ 40,888  $ 44,932  

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges    0.98x    1.03x   0.77x  
 

 Interest expense includes interest in association with debt and amortization of debt issuance costs.
 

 Fixed charges include our estimate of interest included in rental payments (one-third of rent expense under operating leases).
 

 Earnings for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2010 and February 3, 2008 were insufficient to cover the fixed charges by $891 and $10,253,
respectively.

(1)

(2)

(3)

(1)

(2)

(3)



Exhibit 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

The Company and its subsidiaries operate large-format, high-volume restaurant/entertainment stores in the United States and Canada under the names
Dave & Buster’s, and Dave & Buster’s Grand Sports Café.
 

Name   

State or Other
Jurisdiction of Incorporation

Or Organization
6131646 Canada, Inc.   Canada

DANB Texas, Inc.   Texas

D&B Leasing, Inc.   Texas

D&B Marketing Company, LLC   Virginia

D&B Realty Holding, Inc.   Missouri

Dave & Buster’s I, L.P.   Texas

Dave & Buster’s Management Corporation, Inc.   Delaware

Dave & Buster’s of California, Inc.   California

Dave & Buster’s of Colorado, Inc.   Colorado

Dave & Buster’s of Florida, Inc.   Florida

Dave & Buster’s of Georgia, Inc.   Georgia

Dave & Buster’s of Hawaii, Inc.   Hawaii

Dave & Buster’s of Illinois, Inc.   Illinois

Dave & Buster’s of Indiana, Inc.   Indiana

Dave & Buster’s of Kansas, Inc.   Kansas

Dave & Buster’s of Maryland, Inc.   Maryland

Dave & Buster’s of Massachusetts, Inc.   Massachusetts

Dave & Buster’s of Nebraska, Inc.   Nebraska

Dave & Buster’s of New York, Inc.   New York

Dave & Buster’s of Oklahoma, Inc.   Oklahoma

Dave & Buster’s of Oregon, Inc.   Oregon

Dave & Buster’s of Pennsylvania, Inc.   Pennsylvania

Dave & Buster’s of Pittsburgh, Inc.   Pennsylvania

Dave & Buster’s of Virginia, Inc.   Virginia

Dave & Buster’s of Washington, Inc.   Washington

Dave & Buster’s of Wisconsin, Inc.   Wisconsin

Tango Acquisition, Inc.   Delaware

Tango of Arizona, Inc.   Delaware

Tango of Arundel, Inc.   Delaware

Tango of Farmingdale, Inc.   Delaware

Tango of Franklin, Inc.   Delaware

Tango of Houston, Inc.   Delaware

Tango of North Carolina, Inc.   Delaware

Tango of Sugarloaf, Inc.   Delaware

Tango of Tennessee, Inc.   Delaware

Tango of Westbury, Inc.   Delaware

Tango License Corporation   Delaware



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Stephen M. King, Chief Executive Officer of Dave & Buster’s, Inc., certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Dave & Buster’s, Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

 

 
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s fourth fiscal
quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

 a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

 b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: April 14, 2010   /s/ Stephen M. King

  
Stephen M. King
Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Brian A. Jenkins, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Dave & Buster’s, Inc., certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Dave & Buster’s, Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

 

 
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s fourth fiscal
quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

 a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

 b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: April 14, 2010   /s/ Brian A. Jenkins

  
Brian A. Jenkins
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION

In connection with the Annual Report of Dave & Buster’s, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended January 31, 2010 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Stephen M. King, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, that:
 
 (1) The Report fully complies with the applicable requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

 (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: April 14, 2010

/s/ Stephen M. King
Stephen M. King
Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION

In connection with the Annual Report of Dave & Buster’s, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended January 31, 2010 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Brian A. Jenkins, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that:
 
 (1) The Report fully complies with the applicable requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

 (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: April 14, 2010

/s/ Brian A. Jenkins
Brian A. Jenkins
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer


	10-K (DAVE & BUSTERS INC) (April 15, 2010)
	10-K - FORM 10-K
	PART I
	ITEM 1. 3

	PART I
	ITEM 1. BUSINESS
	ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
	ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
	ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
	ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
	ITEM 4. RESERVED

	PART II
	ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
	ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
	ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
	ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
	ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
	ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
	ITEM 9A (T). CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
	ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

	PART III
	ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
	ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
	ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
	ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
	ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

	PART IV
	ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

	SIGNATURES

	EX-10.3 (WS MIDWAY HOLDINGS STOCK OPTION PLAN)
	EX-12.1 (STATEMENT RE COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES)
	EX-21.1 (SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT)
	EX-31.1 (CERTIFICATION - CEO)
	EX-31.2 (CERTIFICATION - CFO)
	EX-32.1 (SECTION 1350 CERTIFICATION - CEO)
	EX-32.2 (SECTION 1350 CERTIFICATION - CFO)


